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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Revenue and other (losses)/gains Uz R B fb (E18), 2 527.2 308.5 70.9%
Gross profit EF 46.8 36.3 28.9%
Profit before income tax expense B P15 54 59 2 A 2.6 3.9 (32.1)%

Profit attributable to the owners of ~ ZAN2Q B8 B A FE1h & N5 5
the Company for the year 0.4 2.8 (87.5)%

Basic and diluted earnings per share & B% E A K 58 21 7
(HK cents) () 0.0 0.3 87.5%

Total assets BEERE 420.9 322.7 30.4%
Total bank borrowings IRITIERMERR 78.0 80.8 (3.5)%
Shareholders’ equity fi% B HE 25 164.1 164.0 0.1%
Current ratio and quick ratio (times) R Eh L R K RSN R (£5) 1.5 1.9 21.1)%
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Neil David Howard (chairman and chief executive officer)

Mr. Steven Paul Smithers

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Robert Peter Andrews

Mr. David John Kennedy

Mr. Christopher John Brooke

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Yun Wah Man ACG, ACS, MCG

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. David John Kennedy (chairman)
Mr. Robert Peter Andrews
Mr. Christopher John Brooke

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Neil David Howard (chairman)
Mr. Steven Paul Smithers

Mr. David John Kennedy

Mr. Robert Peter Andrews

Mr. Christopher John Brooke

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Robert Peter Andrews (chairman)
Mr. David John Kennedy

Mr. Christopher John Brooke

Mr. Neil David Howard

Mr. Steven Paul Smithers

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Neil David Howard
Mr. Steven Paul Smithers

AUDITORS

BDO Limited
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
REEH
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am pleased to present the
audited financial results of 1Bl Group Holdings Limited together with
its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2024.

GROUP PROFILE

IBI Group Holdings Limited is a publicly listed holding company on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Group focuses on
investments in the built environment and the Group’s subsidiaries
include a building contractor, a high tech building solutions
provider, a strategic investment division and a property investment
division.

Contracting

Through its contracting subsidiaries, the Group provides world
class interior fitting out and building refurbishment services in Hong
Kong and Macau.

Whilst acting predominantly as a main contractor, the Group
secures and completes projects for clients across many industry
sectors including but not limited to banking, legal, hospitality and
property development.

The Group’s competitive strengths have contributed to its success
in contracting and distinguished it from our competitors. We believe
our competitive strengths lie in three key specific areas of the
business, namely,

1. an established reputation and proven track record;
2. implementation, management and execution expertise; and

3. commitment to the management of risk, cash flow and
financial security.

Building Solutions

Building Solutions Limited (“BSL”) provides products and services
that enhance the performance and well-being of the built
environment in order to provide modern, healthy and high
performing spaces for the occupants. Whether improving the air
quality of work spaces or reducing the energy consumption of an
end user, BSL strives to identify and implement cutting edge
technology to improve the built environment for both building
owners and end users.

10 IBI Group Holdings Limited
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERBE

Strategic Investments

The strategic investments division of the Group was established to
make efficient use of its available capital to enter new market
sectors and to expand the Group’s reach within the built
environment.

With a continuing focus on the “Built Environment”, the Group is
looking in detail at a wide range of investment opportunities from
property development, asset management and new start-ups in the
field of building management and technology.

Property Investments

Through its property investment subsidiary, the Group aims to
make direct investments into physical property.

Through the purchase of physical real estate, the Group looks to its
property investments to provide additional income to the Group
and an expansion of its geographical reach.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recorded profit
attributable to the owners of the Company after tax of
approximately HK$0.4 million (2023: HK$2.8 million) from revenue
and other (losses)/gains totalling approximately HK$527.2 million
(2023: HK$308.5 million).

1. Contracting

During the year ended 31 March 2024 the Group recorded
profit from contracting of approximately HK$15.2 million.

The Group benefitted from a significant increase in revenue
during the period, a direct result of the improvement in the
market generally and also, as a result of Hong Kong slowly
making it's way out of the post COVID-19 slump.

During the period, the Group completed 17 projects and was
awarded 16 projects, of which 15 are fitting-out projects and
one is an A&A project.

The number of tendering opportunities available to the Group
increased significantly within the period and despite
continuing high levels of competition, the Group had
considerable success in securing good quality projects with
good quality clients.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEHRE
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With regards to Macau, which for some time now has not
provided any serious opportunities, we continue to monitor
the overall situation. Reports of a significant increase in
gambling revenues are encouraging and we are hopeful that
this will encourage the hotel and casino groups to kick start
more capital projects.

Building Solutions

For the year ended 31 March 2024, BSL has registered a
segment loss of approximately HK$0.3 million.

This period marked a continuing and significant improvement
in the performance of BSL. Revenue from sales increased
20.7% year on year. The company has now entered into
profitable territory.

New products are constantly being sourced and with our
current pipeline of projects, we believe BSL will continue to
show growth. We look forward to reporting further success in
the coming months.

Strategic Investments

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the strategic investments
division of the Group has registered a segment loss of
approximately HK$3.2 million.

The segment loss is realised from an unrealised fair value loss
of our investment in a large Real Estate Investment Trust, a
Hong Kong listed company which owns and manages a
diversified and high-quality portfolio including retail facilities,
car parks, offices and logistics assets across Asia.

This investment continues to suffer from the overall negative
pressure on real estate which with the combination of high
interest rates and falling valuations set to continue into 2025.
Whilst we do appear to be at the top of interest rate cycle,
the recovery in the sector will take time. Ultimately however,
as a result of the formulaic nature of the manner in which this
asset is priced, we should see a significant turnaround in this
investment as interest rates start to fall towards more
historical norms.

IBI Group Holdings Limited
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERBE

With regards to the Group’s assets in Japan, namely the two
adjacent plots of land in Kutchan, Hokkaido, the Group
continues to analyse an optimum strategy for the site. The
Group continues to look at expanding this project as the
analysis shows that a larger scale development could provide
significant economies of scale and a far greater return on
investment.

Moving forward, the Group will continue to look at potential
investment opportunities and we look forward to announcing
further successes in this regard.

Property Investments

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the property investment
division of the Group has registered a segment loss of
approximately HK$8.1 million.

Despite a successful and profitable year from an operational
point of view, the property has suffered from an unrealised
loss stemming from a negative valuation report.

Excluding the change in fair value of HK$10.1 million, the
segment generated profit of approximately HK$2.1 million. In
addition, the property remained cash flow positive for the
entire year as a result of maintaining minimal vacancy. The
property is currently running at over 90% occupancy and is
expected to move to 100% occupancy within the next one to
two months.

Valuations across the board have suffered significantly
throughout most of the developed world as a result of
sustained high levels of interest rates, increased levels of
vacancies and the knock on effects of COVID-19 which has
challenged the whole concept of physical office space.

During the period, the Group has continued to add value to
the property executing a number of projects including
completing the upgrade to the elevator, installing new exterior
lighting and installing a new intercom system. New work has
been planned for this current period with a focus on
improving the energy efficiency of the building through
reduced air loss and improved heating equipment.

Lease negotiations with one of the building’s key tenants has
now been concluded and the tenant has relocated to a larger
space within the same building. The weighted average
unexpired lease term has been significantly increased with the
conclusion of this new lease and this will be viewed favourably
by lending institutions moving forward.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEHRE

MOVING FORWARD

Re-building Hong Kong from the ravages of COVID-19 and the
subsequent travel restrictions is taking time. We are however
seeing significant increases in the levels of visitors entering Hong
Kong and very clear signs of an improving economy. The
punishment currently being endured by the real estate market
worldwide is unprecedented and unless interest rates fall, any
recovery in this sector will be muted. We do appear to be at the top
of the current rate cycle and the recent lowering of the interest
rates by one quarter percent by the European Central bank is
encouraging. Unfortunately, until such time that the Federal Reserve
follows suit, Hong Kong real estate will continue to struggle.

The Group continues to actively seek out new investment
opportunities and to allocate its capital efficiently and effectively.
We look forward to advising our shareholders of these opportunities
as we move forward.

APPRECIATION

We would like to thank our colleagues, our clients and the myriad
of organisations and individuals that help us achieve success in our
chosen fields. We look forward to continuing our association with
these talented people and achieving great success through 2024
and on.

On behalf of the Board

Neil David Howard
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEF W R DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue, gross profit and gross profit margin
Contracting

The Group is a building contractor focusing on providing renovation
services as a main contractor for property projects in the private

sector in Hong Kong and Macau. Our two main types of projects
are (j) fitting-out projects; and (i) A&A projects.

Revenue by geographical location of projects

5 % [ B8

i ERRERE

R
AEBEREINBUBNRBOREREY BEE

BRRFLERBYRIER WAFRRD - RMMMA
BIEARNEEIER + MHASAIER -

BB 1R 7 R

Hong Kong a5 516,808 100.0% 297,363 100.0%
Macau JEFY - 0.0% - 0.0%
Total st 516,808 100.0% 297,363 100.0%
Revenue by type of projects ZIEEBEHE 5 K=

Fitting-out projects KE1EE 410,549 79.4% 265,113 89.2%
A&A projects ARAIE H 106,259 20.6% 32,250 10.8%
Total st 516,808 100.0% 297,363 100.0%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Revenue, gross profit and gross profit margin (Continued)

The Group’s revenue from contracting for the year ended 31 March
2024 was approximately HK$516.8 million, which represented an
increase of approximately HK$219.4 million or approximately
73.8% over the last financial year. The increase in the Group’s
contracting revenue was mainly due to the improvement in the
market, which resulted in an increased number of sizable projects
secured by the Group. No revenue was recorded from Macau for
the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Group’s gross profit from contracting increased by
approximately HK$11.0 million or 38.8% from approximately
HK$28.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
approximately HK$39.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2024,
Yet, the Group’s gross profit margin from contracting for the year
ended 31 March 2024 decreased to approximately 7.6% from
approximately 9.5% for the year ended 31 March 2023. The
decrease in gross profit margin was mainly attributable to the more
competitive market in general.

Building Solutions

Our business segment, BSL reported revenue of approximately
HK$5.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2024 as compared to
approximately HK$4.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2023,
which represented an increase of approximately HK$1.0 million or
20.7%. Gross profit has also increased by approximately HK$1.0
million or 57.2% from approximately HK$1.8 million for the year
ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$2.8 million for the year
ended 31 March 2024. The gross profit margin from BSL for the
year ended 31 March 2024 was approximately 50.3% as compared
to approximately 38.6% for the year ended 31 March 2023. The
increase in revenue of BSL was mainly due to the increased sales
of energy efficient lighting products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER W& DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Revenue, gross profit and gross profit margin (Continued)
Strategic Investments

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group received
dividends from financial assets at FVTPL of approximately HK$0.5
million (2023: HK$0.2 million) and recognised net fair value losses
on financial assets at FVTPL of approximately HK$3.3 million as
compared to net fair value gains of approximately HK$0.7 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023. For details, please see section
headed “Significant investments held” in this report.

Property Investments

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has received
gross rental income of approximately HK$7.7 million from its
property in Dublin, Ireland. For details, please see section headed
“Significant investments held” in this report.

Administrative and other operating expenses

The Group’s administrative and other operating expenses for the
year ended 31 March 2024 were approximately HK$30.7 million,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$0.1 million or 0.3%
from approximately HK$30.8 million for the year ended 31 March
2023. The level of administrative and other operating expenses has
remained constant as a result of effective cost control.

Income tax expense

The Group’s operations are based in Hong Kong, Macau and
Ireland, and are subject to (i) Hong Kong profits tax calculated at
8.25% for the first HK$2 million and 16.5% on the remaining
balance of estimated assessable profits during the reporting period;
(i) Macau complementary tax calculated at 12.0% on the taxable
profits over the relevant tax threshold during the reporting period;
and (jii) Ireland corporation tax of 25%. For the year ended 31
March 2024, the Group recorded income tax expense of
approximately HK$2.3 million (2023: HK$1.4 million) representing
an effective tax rate of approximately 88.5% (2023: 36.4%). The
increase in the Group’s effective tax rate during the year ended 31
March 2024 was mainly due to the fair value change recognised for
the investment property which was non-deductible for tax purpose.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Profit for the year

The Group’s profit attributable to the owners of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2024 amounted to approximately HK$0.4
million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$2.5 million or
87.5% from approximately HK$2.8 million for the year ended 31
March 2023. Such decrease was mainly attributable to the change
in fair value for the investment property.

Bank borrowings

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had bank borrowings of
approximately HK$78.0 million (as at 31 March 2023: HK$80.8
million). No financial instruments were used for hedging purposes,
nor were there any foreign currency net investments hedged by
current borrowings and/or other hedging instruments.

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had current assets of
approximately HK$294.0 million (2023: HK$185.9 million) which
comprised cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$21.1
million (2023: HK$58.9 million), mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollars. As at 31 March 2024, the Group had non-current liabilities
of approximately HK$56.2 million (2023: HK$61.5 million) consisting
mainly of bank borrowings, and its current liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$201.9 million (2023: HK$98.4 million), consisting
mainly of payables arising in the normal course of business
operation. Accordingly, the current ratio, being the ratio of current
assets to current liabilities, was approximately 1.5 times as at 31
March 2024 (2023: 1.9 times). The Group’s working capital
requirements were mainly financed by internal resources.

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio of the Group is defined as a percentage of total
debts at the end of the reporting period divided by total equity at
the end of the reporting period. As at 31 March 2024, the gearing
ratio of the Group was approximately 50.6% (2023: 50.8%). Total
debts include lease liabilities and bank borrowings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Treasury policies

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the period under review. The Group strives to
reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit
assessments and evaluations of the financial status of its
customers. To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the
Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the
Group’s assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet its
funding requirements from time to time.

Foreign exchange exposure

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s exposure to currency risks is
mainly attributable to cash and cash equivalents and bank
borrowings, which are denominated in Euro. The Group was
exposed to certain foreign currency exchange risks but it does not
anticipate future currency fluctuations to cause material operational
difficulties or liquidity problems.

Save as disclosed above, the Group’s monetary assets and
transactions are principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars, it
did not have any significant exposure to risk resulting from changes
in foreign currency exchange rates during the year ended 31 March
2024.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group did not engage
in any derivatives activities and did not commit to any financial
instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk.

Capital structure

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 14 October 2016 (the “Listing Date”). There
has been no change in the capital structure of the Company since
the Listing Date and up to the date of this report. The capital of the
Company comprises ordinary shares and capital reserves.

Capital commitments

As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any significant capital
commitments (2023: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Share Option Scheme

The Company conditionally approved and adopted the Share
Option Scheme on 20 September 2016 by passing of a written
resolution of the then shareholders of the Company. The Share
Option Scheme became effective on the Listing Date and will
remain in force until the tenth anniversary of the Listing Date.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide the
Company a flexible means of giving incentive to, rewarding,
remunerating, compensating and providing benefits to eligible
participants and for such other purposes as the Board approves
from time to time.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up to the date
of this report, no option was granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme.

Significant investments held

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had listed equity investments
included in financial assets at FVTPL of approximately HK$6.7
million (as at 31 March 2023: HK$10.0 million).

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group received
dividends of approximately HK$0.5 million. The Group had also
recognised a net unrealised loss on financial assets at FVTPL of
approximately HK$3.3 million. The listed equity investments mainly
comprised a high quality blue chip real estate investment trust listed
in Hong Kong. The Group expects to benefit from the receipt of
dividends and capital gains in the long term. The Group will
continue to monitor and assess the performance of these
investments and make timely and appropriate investment
adjustments to enhance the returns on investment for the Group
and ultimately benefit the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) as a whole.

As at 31 March 2024, the fair value of the listed equity investments
held by the Group represented less than 5% of the total assets of
the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Significant investments held (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group acquired a
property located at Dublin, Ireland (the “Property”). The Property
is held by the Group to earn rentals and hence is classified as
investment property. The Property has generated gross rental
income of approximately HK$7.7 million during the year ended 31
March 2024. A fair value loss of approximately HK$10.1 million was
also recognised for the year. The Property is stated at fair value
based on a valuation performed by an independent professional
valuer. We expect that the Property will generate stable rental
income in the future with a potential for capital appreciation.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other significant investment
held by the Group.

Future plans for material investments and capital assets

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have other plans
for material investments and capital assets as at 31 March 2024.

Material acquisitions and disposals

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any
material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 March 2024, pledged deposits in the sum of
approximately HK$13.4 million (2023: HK$6.5 million) were placed
with a bank or an insurer as securities for the performance bonds
issued by the bank and insurer to certain customers on their
projects. The pledged deposits will be released when the bank or
insurer is satisfied that no claims will arise from the projects under
the performance bonds.

In addition, the Group’s assets pledged for securing bank
borrowings comprised an investment property and listed equity
investments included in financial assets at FVTPL, which amounted
to approximately HK$113.2 million and HK$6.7 million respectively
as at 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$124.6 million and HK$10.0 million
respectively).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Contingent liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 March
2024 (2023: nil).

Information on employees

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 99 employees (2023: 90),
including the executive Directors. The gender ratio of the Group’s
workforce (including senior management) was approximately 75%
male to approximately 25% female. The Group shall continue to
take into account diversity perspectives including gender diversity
in its hiring of employees from time to time. Total staff costs
(including Directors’ emoluments) were approximately HK$72.5
million for the year ended 31 March 2024, as compared with
approximately HK$56.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2023.
Remuneration is determined with reference to market norms and
individual employee’s performance, qualification and experience.

On top of basic salaries, bonuses may be paid by reference to the
Group’s performance as well as individual’s performance. Other
staff benefits include contributions to Mandatory Provident Fund
scheme in Hong Kong and various welfare plans including the
provision of pension funds, medical insurance, unemployment
insurance and other relevant insurance for employees of the Group.

The salaries and benefits of the Group’s employees are kept at a
competitive level and employees are rewarded on a performance-
related basis within the general framework of the Group’s salary
and bonus system, which is reviewed by management annually.
The Group also operates the Share Option Scheme, pursuant to
which options to subscribe for shares of the Company may be
granted to the Directors and employees of the Group.

The Group encourages self-development of its employees and
provides on-the-job training where appropriate.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

There were no significant events after the year ended 31 March
2024 and up to the date of this report.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2024, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company confirms that, other than the deviation from code
provision C.2.1, the Company has complied with all the code
provisions (“Code Provisions”) set out in the Corporate
Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
throughout the year ended 31 March 2024.

Our Company complies with all the Code Provisions with the
exception for Code Provision C.2.1, which requires the roles of
chairman and chief executive be different individuals. Under Code
Provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. Mr. Neil David Howard holds
both positions. Mr. Howard has been primarily responsible for
overseeing our Group’s general management and business
development and for formulating business strategies and policies
for our business management and operations since he joined our
Group in 2006. Taking into account the continuation of
management and the implementation of our business strategies,
our Directors (including our independent non-executive Directors)
consider it is most suitable for Mr. Howard to hold both the
positions of chief executive officer and the chairman of our Board
and the present arrangements are beneficial to and in the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. Our Company
will continue to review and consider splitting the roles of chairman
of the Board and chief executive officer of our Company at a time
when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into account the
circumstances of our Group as a whole.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. Neil David Howard

Mr. Howard, aged 53, was appointed as a Director on 13 April
2016 and redesignated as an executive Director, the chairman of
our Board and chief executive officer on 11 June 2016. Mr. Howard
is a director of each of our subsidiaries. He is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee. He is responsible for corporate strategic planning and
overall business development of our Group. Mr. Howard’s interests
in the Shares are set out in the section headed “Directors’ and the
Chief Executive’s Interests or Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” of the directors’ report in this annual
report.

Mr. Howard has been with our Group for over 17 years since
joining our Group as a director of IBI Limited in November 2006
and a managing director of IBI Macau since August 2007.

Prior to joining our Group in November 2006, Mr. Howard was the
regional operations director at a company currently known as
Global Beauty International Management Limited (principally
engaged in health and lifestyle services) from July 2002 to March
2005 where he was primarily responsible for upgrading the
company’s portfolio of treatment centres throughout the Asia
region.

Mr. Howard graduated from University of the West of England,
Bristol in the United Kingdom with a bachelor’'s degree of science
in quantity surveying in July 1993. Mr. Howard then completed a
course in advanced insolvency law and practice 1 from The
University of Southern Queensland in Australia in July 2000. He also
obtained a diploma in insolvency from the Hong Kong Society of
Accountants (currently known as Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants) in Hong Kong in November 2001.
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Mr. Steven Paul Smithers

Mr. Smithers, aged 56, was appointed as a Director on 13 April
2016 and redesignated as an executive Director and the chief
operations officer on 11 June 2016. Mr. Smithers is a director of
each of our subsidiaries. He is a member of the Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. He is responsible for
corporate strategic planning, overall business development,
management and operations of our Group. Mr. Smithers’ interest in
the Shares are set out in the section headed “Directors’ and the
Chief Executive’s Interests or Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” of the Directors’ Report in this annual
report.

Mr. Smithers has over 29 years of work experience in the
construction industry in Hong Kong. Prior to joining our Group in
May 2006 as a senior project manager, he was last employed as a
compliance and co-ordination manager at group companies under
Paul Y. group (which was principally engaged in construction
services) from March 1996 to April 2006 and he was primarily
responsible for managing the tender and pre-qualification process
and general management activities. From October 1994 to
February 1996, Mr. Smithers worked as a quality assurance
consultant at Construction Quality Management Ltd. (principally
engaged in ISO accredited management systems), where he was
seconded to Paul Y. group.

Mr. Smithers graduated from Brighton Polytechnic (currently known
as the University of Brighton) in the United Kingdom with a
bachelor’s degree of science in building engineering and
management in July 1991. Mr. Smithers then obtained a master’s
degree of business administration from University of Leicester in the
United Kingdom in July 1998. Mr. Smithers was admitted as a
member and a fellow of the Chartered Institute of Building in the
United Kingdom in August 1997 and June 2014, respectively.
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Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Robert Peter Andrews

Mr. Andrews, aged 66, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 20 September 2016. He is responsible for
providing independent advice to our Board. He is the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee, and a member of the Nomination
Committee and Audit Committee. Mr. Andrews has over 33 years
of experience in the construction industry. Mr. Andrews is the
director of Andrews Commercial Services Limited (principally
engaged in consultancy services in the construction industry) since
April 2013.

Mr. Andrews worked at Leighton Contractors (Asia) Limited
(principally engaged in construction) from January 1990 to March
2013, with his last position as the divisional commercial manager of
Hong Kong and Macau, where he was primarily responsible for
overseeing contractual and commercial aspect of the business unit.

Mr. Andrews obtained his diploma in quantity surveying from
Cauldon College (currently known as Stoke On Trent College) in the
United Kingdom in June 1979. He then obtained a certificate of
commercial mediation conducted by The Accord Group Australia in
association with the Mediation Council of the Hong Kong
International Arbitration Centre in Hong Kong in December 1998.

Mr. David John Kennedy

Mr. Kennedy, aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 30 June 2019. He is responsible for providing
independent advice to our Board. He is the chairman of the Audit
Committee, and a member of the Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee. Mr. Kennedy was the chief financial officer
and the chief operating officer of M.S. Asia Group from 2012 until
2019.

Mr. Kennedy was the chief operating officer and the chief executive
officer of Equititrust Limited between 2009 and 2011, the chief
operating officer of Octaviar Limited (formerly known as MFS
Limited) between 2007 and 2008, a senior manager, a partner and
the chief operating officer of RSM Hong Kong between 1997 and
2005, and a part-time lecturer in bankruptcy of Griffith University in
Australia between 1995 and 1996. He also worked for KPMG
between 1988 and 1996 with his last position being a manager.
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Mr. Kennedy obtained a degree of Master of Laws, a Bachelor’'s
Degree in Laws and a Bachelor’'s Degree in Business Accounting
from Queensland University of Technology in 2009, 2003 and
1989, respectively. He has been admitted as a solicitor in Hong
Kong since 2018, a solicitor in Queensland, Australia since 2006
and a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
(currently known as Chartered Accountants Australia and New
Zealand) since 1994.

Mr. Christopher John Brooke

Mr. Brooke, aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 30 September 2023. He has over 30 years of
experience in various fields of the property industry. He is a global
past president and a fellow member of The Royal Institution of
Chartered Surveyors, a member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors, a member of the Urban Land Institute, and the chairman
of Hong Kong, China Rugby and a member of the College Council
of Malvern College Hong Kong. In addition, he is an independent
non-executive director of Link Asset Management Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 00823) and the manager of Link Real Estate Investment Trust
(since May 2018). He is also a member of the advisory board of
Kerb Holdings Company Pty Limited and a business advisor to
both VationX and Peace, Inc..

From October 2016 and March 2020, Mr. Brooke was a co-
founder and director of Brooke Husband Limited. Prior to this
period, he held a number of senior management positions at
CBRE, relating to both China and Asia, from July 2002 and
December 2015 (including his last position as Executive Managing
Director, Consulting, Asia Pacific). He was also a longstanding
member of the Asia Pacific Strategic Group within CBRE. He held
various positions at Brooke Hillier Parker, Brooke International and
Insignia Brooke from March 1992 and July 2003 before joining
CBRE in 2008 via the acquisition of Insignia Brooke by CBRE.

Mr. Brooke obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree in Land Economy
from the University of Cambridge in United Kingdom.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Kwan John Lau

Mr. Lau, aged 56, first joined our Group in June 2001, and is
currently the tendering director of our Group. He is responsible for
overseeing tenders and recruitment of project-related staff.

Mr. Lau has over 29 years of work experience in the areas of
property development and fitting-out. Prior to joining our Group, he
worked as a project manager for L.P. Contractors & Construction
Co., (H.K)) Ltd. (principally engaged in interior decoration business)
from July 1998 to June 2001 where he was primarily responsible
for the overall management of the company. From July 1996 to
July 1998, he worked as a project manager at Global Top Design &
Engineering Ltd. (principally engaged in interior fitting-out business)
where he was primarily responsible for fitting-out project
management. From August 1992 to April 1994, Mr. Lau worked as
the site supervisor at Interior Contract International Limited
(principally engaged in fitting-out, decoration and contracting)
where he was primarily responsible for fitting-out project
management.

Mr. Lau graduated with a bachelor’s degree of engineering in
industrial and civil engineering from Hunan University in the PRC in
July 1990. He then graduated with a master’s degree of science in
facility management from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
Hong Kong in December 2005.
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Mr. Siu Hong Lui

Mr. Lui, aged 49, first joined our Group in September 2005, and is
currently the regional director of our Group. He is responsible for
overseeing the Macau operations of our Group.

Mr. Lui has over 23 years of work experience in the construction
industry. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Lui worked as a quantity
surveyor for Paul Y. Construction Company, Limited from May
2001 to February 2005. He worked as an assistant quantity
surveyor in Gammon Construction Limited and Kier Hong Kong
Limited (both principally engaged in civil construction works) from
June 2000 to November 2000 and from August 1998 to July 1999,
respectively. Mr. Lui worked at Universal Dockyard, Limited with his
last position as the assistant quantity surveyor (principally engaged
in marine and civil construction works) from October 1994 to May
1996 where he was primarily responsible for project budget
planning and project subcontracting.

Mr. Lui was awarded a certificate in building studies from the
Vocational Training Council for completing a course at Morrison Hill
Technical Institute (currently known as the Hong Kong Institute of
Vocational Education (Morrison Hill)) in Hong Kong in July 1997. He
then obtained a higher diploma in building and construction from
City University of Hong Kong in Hong Kong in November 2000.
Subsequently, Mr. Lui graduated with a bachelor’s degree of
science in construction management from University of
Wolverhampton in the United Kingdom in October 2005, before
attaining a master’s degree of science in construction law and
dispute resolution from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
Hong Kong in October 2008.
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Mr. Wai Fung Kong

Mr. Kong, aged 48, first joined our Group in December 2009, and
is currently the commercial director of our Group. He is responsible
for overseeing the commercial department of our Group.

Mr. Kong has over 21 years of work experience in the field of
quantity surveying. He worked as a project quantity surveyor for
Chun Wo Construction and Engineering Company Limited,
principally engaged in construction, from May 2009 to November
2009. Mr. Kong worked as a quantity surveying consultant for
Rick’s Management Consultancy Limited (principally engaged in
quantity surveying consultancy services) from October 2006 to
March 2009. Mr. Kong worked as a project quantity surveyor for
New House Construction Co., Ltd, principally engaged in
construction services, from June 2005 to September 2006. He
worked as an assistant quantity surveyor at D. G. Jones & Partners
(H.K\) Ltd. and then as a quantity surveyor at Northcroft Hong Kong
Ltd., both principally engaged in construction consultancy services,
from July 2001 to April 2002 and from July 2002 to August 2004,
respectively.

Mr. Kong graduated with a bachelor’s degree of science in quantity
surveying and a master’s degree of engineering in building
engineering from City University of Hong Kong in Hong Kong in
November 2001. He was elected as a professional member of the
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and was certified as a
registered professional surveyor in the quantity surveying division
by the Surveyors Registration Board in February 2010 and April
2013, respectively.

Ms. Wai Che Rosanna Chu

Ms. Chu, aged 57, first joined our Group in December 2003, and is
currently the chief financial officer of our Group. She is responsible
for overseeing the financial and accounting functions of our Group.

Ms. Chu has over 32 years of work experience in the field of
accounting. Prior to joining our Group, from July 2002 to June
2003, Ms. Chu worked as a senior manager in the finance
department of PricewaterhouseCoopers. From April 1996 to June
2002, she worked as a manager in the finance department of
Arthur Andersen & Co. From September 1990 to March 1996, she
was employed by Ernst & Young, with her last position as manager
in the audit department.
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Ms. Chu graduated with a bachelor’s degree of commerce from
The University of Manitoba in Canada in May 1989. She is a
member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
certified in July 1995, and an associate of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants certified in December 1995.

Mr. Jian Song Gan

Mr. Gan, aged 48, first joined our Group in May 2020, and is
currently the managing director of Building Solutions Limited.

Mr. Gan has over 23 years of work experience in the areas of
innovation, business strategy and sales management. From 2009
to 2017, he was the Asia managing director of Humanscale Asia
Limited. Mr. Gan was a country manager with Jeb Greater China
Limited from 2008 to 2009. He was a director and general manager
of Yichang Xin Xing Corporation Limited, a sino-foreign joint venture
producing high quality building materials, from 2003 to 2007. From
1999 to 2002, he was a consultant and project manager at
Syntegra Pte. Ltd..

Mr. Gan graduated with a bachelor’s degree of engineering in
mechanical engineering from Imperial College of Science and
Technology and Medicine, University of London in the United
Kingdom in 1998. He is a RESET Healthy Buildings Standard
Accredited Professional.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Yun Wah Man

Mr. Man, aged 41, was appointed as the company secretary of our
Company on 11 June 2016. He was the principal and head of
corporate advisory division of Dominic K.F. Chan & Co., and a
director of In.Corp Corporate Services (HK) Limited. Mr. Man has
over 13 years of experience in corporate services.

Mr. Man is an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute
certified in March 2015.

Mr. Man obtained a bachelor’s degree of arts in business
administration and management from University of Huddersfield in
the United Kingdom in March 2010 and a master’s degree of
corporate governance from Hong Kong Metropolitan University
(formerly known as The Open University of Hong Kong) in Hong
Kong in November 2014,

32 IBI Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023/2024

KLt — N/ NWEFRABENNMEASERAEXRE
(The University of Manitoba) * # 78 E B2 24 2] o H R
— AN AFEAKAEZEEZ A2 E (American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants)& & - I %
— NN AF+ AR AEE B2 Hong

=

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants) & &
BRI SE A

BALAE 48 R-ZT-_ZFRABERNMALREER
35 T Building Solutions Limited A & S 4245 12 -

BEETEN ¥BRBLEEEEERHERBIBS
FIEER RZZETNFE_T— L5 REMF
Humanscale Asia Limited ® ZE N E R BEIB - R B E
NFEEZZTFNF B 5% E & £ Jeb Greater China
Limited B KB - M BT =FE_ZFTT+F &
ETEEMECEXERBRAR (—REEEBERE
MEHFIINEGELE)NESRALE - R—UNNE
Z2_FT —F - T Syntegra Pte. Ltd. B EA S & I8
B4 -

BRSE A — JUIL )\ 2 3 50 26 B £ 275 B 22 B (Imperial
College of Science and Technology and Medicine,
University of London in the United Kingdom) » 7% 78 1
TIRIREBEL+TEN - KAEERESETRERLEFTE
REMEEANL -

NEIME
IO LA

XEE M RZFE-—RNFEAAT-HAEZESK
REAMAAWE - BARBBEEAMEBEANEEA
REXBERLIE UYREREERK (FBE)ARA
AEE - WAL ABBET=FoXRBELR -

XEER-Z-—AF=-AERARBERTLAERS

FESFFRARDREREHEER -

NAEARZE—SF=- ANBHRREMIEREAE
(University of Huddersfield) T &2 X E &+ &y - I
R-ZE-—NE+—-ARGEEAHERE GIBEER
FARE) PEERBELTEN -



DIRECTORS' REPORT
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are to act as a contractor
focusing on providing renovation services as a main contractor for
property projects in the private sector in Hong Kong and Macau,
strategic investments, property investment and provision of
products and services with a focus on air quality, energy efficiency
and modern sustainable building materials.

BUSINESS REVIEW
General

Further discussion and analysis of the Group’s principal activities as
required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong), including a business review of the
Group for the year and an indication of likely future developments in
the Group’s business, can be found in the Management Discussion
and Analysis as set out on pages 16 to 24 of this annual report. An
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31
March 2024 using financial key performance indicators is provided
in the Financial Summary on page 197 of this annual report. These
discussions form part of this directors’ report.

Principal risks and uncertainties

As the contracting business of the Group is project-based,
profitability of the Group is dependent on a consistent stream of
tender opportunities.

Upon converting these tender opportunities to awarded contracts,
the importance of a stringent project management system comes
into play so that costs can be controlled, income can be secured
and positive cashflow can be maintained.

From a risk perspective, a high level of importance is placed on our
tender strategies, our prudent execution of the works and the
diligent monitoring and controlling of the commercial aspects of our
projects.

The Group is also exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in listed securities. The management manages this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investment with different risk
profiles. The Group’s equity price risk is concentrated on listed
securities in Hong Kong.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Environmental policies and performance

The Group is committed to its corporate and social responsibility in
promoting a sustainable and environmentally friendly environment.
We strive to minimise our environmental impact in our daily course
of business. The Group’s in-house guidelines contain measures
and work procedures governing environmental protection
compliance that are required to be followed by the Group’s
employees, suppliers and subcontractors. Such measures and
procedures included air pollution control, noise control and waste
disposal.

Further details of the Group’s environmental policies and
performance are set out in the Environmental Social and
Governance Report of the Company (the “ESG Report”) in this
annual report.

Compliance with laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group

The Group and its business are governed by certain laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group. To the best
of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, during the year
ended 31 March 2024, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.
The Company has complied in material respects with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of the Group.

Key relationships with major stakeholders

The Group fully understands that its employees, customers and
suppliers are the key to our sustainable and stable development.
We are committed to establishing a close and stable relationship
with our employees, enhancing cooperation with our suppliers and
providing high-quality construction services to our customers so as
to ensure the Group’s sustainable development.

Employees

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable assets
of the Group. The Group ensures all staff are reasonably
remunerated and provides them with health and safety and other
developmental training and has proper whistle blowing procedures
in place for our employees to follow without fear of reprisal of
receiving any negative impacts.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Key relationships with major stakeholders (Continued)
Customers

The Group’s principal customers include a number of highly
reputable organisations and commercial enterprises in the private
sector in Hong Kong and Macau, including multi-national banks,
hotel and casino operators, a racing and betting operator and
property developers. The Group have established stable and long
business relationships with some of our major customers with our
long years of operating history built up a strong business network
of customers and other professional consultants, which has
consistently presented us with business opportunities.

Subcontractors and Suppliers

Our major suppliers include subcontractors and suppliers of materials.
The Group firmly believes that its subcontractors and suppliers are
equally important in cost control and increasing its bargaining power
on procurement of materials, which further secures its competitiveness
when bidding for tenders. The Group proactively communicates with
its subcontractors and suppliers to ensure they are committed to
delivering high-quality and sustainable products and services. Unless
the customers require the Group to engage subcontractors and
suppliers nominated by them, the Group will select subcontractors
and suppliers from its approved lists of subcontractors and suppliers.
In addition, during the continuance of the contracts with the
subcontractors, the Group will provide them with its internal guidelines
on safety and environmental issues and require them to follow. The
Group effectively implements the subcontractor assessment process
to monitor the performance of its subcontractors by conducting
regular site visits, evaluation on the performance of the contract and
other measures.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

There were no significant events of the Group after the year ended
31 March 2024 and up to the date of this report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopts a dividend policy to allow the Shareholders
to enjoy the sharing of the profits of the Company while retaining
adequate reserves and working capital for future growth and
development. In proposing any dividend pay out, the Board shall
also consider variety factors, including but not limited to the
Group’s actual and expected financial results, financial position of
the Group, expected working capital requirement, future
development/investment plans, general economic conditions,
retained eamings and distributable reserves and any other factors
that the Board considers relevant. The Company does not have
any fixed dividend distribution ratio.

ERoRE (&)
REEFFHEBAENEZME (B)
P

AEEXERZFERSZREB LR EMB ALK
BELE BRERBEERT BELESLER BS
LREREEBRALRYMEERE AREEETEER
PRIUBERPEBRE BESFLERLEEP
REMBXBEREYRREBES HERBMAFK
B

ZTEBREER

BT EHEREES BB LRYAHER - N8
Bz Enam R HEE R AE B &IE NS Y
MZEENTEREER £ SEARREROEGF
HeRNEEBEHRESBEHRHERER  UERE
ERNZNEERAIFEERKRYE - BRIFZPEKX
AEEERESFRANDEEREER  TRIAKE
BROBERERARATBERKED BEREER -
o By BRERFER LA NE  AEBFRKRER
HEHLERREMENRNBIES  TERKNEER
EREs - AREEBTEHEWRR FEHEHET
BRAREMER BERERD BB HIZEF AR
DEBEERR -

BERMESEE

REBE-Z_ME=-A=+—HLFEREARSEH
HAIlL AEBYEELEBAE N -

IR B BUR

ARAFRA—HAREBER  ERREUADZARRAH
ME FARRERRRENEEESURRKIERR
ER - -RERRNTAREN EXCRAKEEZ
BREK  BRETRRASENERMBMIMHRE
AEENTBRR  BHREEELHT R KRRER K
Bital - BREKEMOR - RE &AM AT # 2 K ## # A
REFGR/MEOTAEMER - AR A AL EHIFT
EEE RS X -

IBI Group Holdings Limited 35
2023/2024 FF &



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set
out in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 114 of this report.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HKO0.5
cents per Share for the year ended 31 March 2024, to be payable
on or about Monday, 7 October 2024. Based on 800,000,000
Shares in issue as at the date of this report, it is expected that the
total amount of final dividend payable to the Shareholders is
HK$4.0 million in aggregate for the year ended 31 March 2024,
subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Friday, 6
September 2024 (the “2024 AGM").

No interim dividend was paid during the year ended 31 March
2024.

As far as the Company was aware, as at the date of this report,
there had been no arrangement under which any Shareholder has
waived, or agreed to waive, any dividends proposed to be
distributed for the year ended 31 March 2024.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at
the 2024 AGM, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Tuesday, 3 September 2024 to Friday, 6 September
2024 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of
shares of the Company will be registered. In order to qualify for
attending and voting at the 2024 AGM, all transfer documents,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged
with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer
office, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong, for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 2 September 2024.

Subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the 2024 AGM, the
proposed final dividend of HK$0.5 cents per share will be payable on
or about Monday, 7 October 2024 to the Shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on Friday, 20
September 2024. To ascertain the entitlement of the Shareholders to
the proposed final dividend, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Tuesday, 17 September 2024 to Friday, 20
September 2024 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer
of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to qualify for the
proposed final dividend, all duly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office,
Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Monday, 16 September 2024.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2024.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended 31
March 2024 are set out in the consolidated statements of changes
in equity on page 116 of this annual report and note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2024. As at 31 March 2024, the reserves of the Company available
for distribution, as calculated under the provision of section 79B of
the Companies Ordinance, and in accordance with the Companies
Law Cap.22 of Cayman Islands, was approximately HK$170.3
million inclusive of share premium and retained earnings.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 15
to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2024 of this annual report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last four financial years is set out on page 197 of this
annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 March 2024.

DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year ended 31 March
2024 amounted to HK$40,000.

IR 2

AARBE-_T-ME=A=+—ALFEQORAR
BHERRBE T -NE= A=+ B LFRNE
A BT RAN 526 o

e
ARBEE T _NF=A=1t - RALFENREE
BHERAFRFNOANGEARGEHRIBE_Z

TME=ZA=t—-BLEFENGEMBHRRME27
R-Z_WE=A=+—H" %ﬁ’&ﬂﬂﬂﬁﬂ%?%flﬂi’]
GXFEERERASEEANF22ERFE AR
A KB EHN /17038 EETT %Hx@mf‘i&
RE&EF] -

M- - BERRKE
$%@@I:;:E¢_H_+—E¢¢Fm%¥
BMEMEEEZHFBFIRAFROFEE T _MF=
A=4+— EmigmﬁéW%$§WEwo
B E
AREERBENETREENEENEEEBGEHE
BN ARFEREA17E -

BERREAQAFANLTES

BE_T_MF=A=+—HIFE KRFHHE

B ARSEESK BRI AR BEMLETES

AEERBE T _ME=A=+t—HILEFEBRX
40,000 7T ©

IBI Group Holdings Limited 37
2023/2024 FF &



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the
date of this report were:

Name Position

Mr. Neil David Howard Executive Director, chairman of the

Board and chief executive officer

Executive Director and
chief operations officer

Mr. Steven Paul Smithers

Mr. Robert Peter Andrews Independent non-executive Director

Mr. David John Kennedy Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Christopher John Brooke Independent non-executive Director

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management of
the Company are set out in “Biographies of the Directors and
Senior Management” in this report.

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Neil David Howard, Mr. Steven
Paul Smithers and Mr. Christopher John Brooke shall retire by
rotation at the 2024 AGM and they being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICES CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the 2024
AGM has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable
by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without
payment of compensation, other than under normal statutory
obligations.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, the Directors and the chief executive had the
following interests in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures
of the Company, its Group members and/or associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

ARF -

EERFTETHRAERKRG  HEARORE
EREPNESEIARE

RZB_MF=A=+—H FEREFZBTBAER
HEBKE AT R/ SEBEE(EERES
KHEMRAIEXVER) Bty - R REEES
BETARRARERESF LB HRIIE2GATHE
ENERMAARE LR CIPAEITETRIAES
TTHEARAR RO ERIT

The Company AT
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
Name of Relevant company the total issued
Director(s)/ Capacity/ (including associated Number share capital
chief executive nature of interest corporation) of Shares' of our Company
RAATE BT
B xE HEAATE IR EE P Y
THABHE 270 13- (EfEEBEE) R{HAE" BMARERDE
Mr. Neil David Howard Interest in controlled Brilliant Blue Sky Limited 393,376,000 Shares 49.17%
(“Mr. Howard’) corporation (“Brilliant Blue Sky”)
Neil David Howard % £ XEEEER Briliant Blue Sky Limited 393,376,000 A% A% 1
(THoward 64 )2 (I Brilliant Blue Sky )
Mr. Howard Beneficial owner N/A 22,624,000 Shares 2.83%
Howard 5 4 ERBEBEA TiEA 22,624,000 f& f% {5
Mr. Steven Paul Smithers Interest in controlled Breadnbutter Holdings Limited 174,888,000 Shares 21.86%
(“Mr. Smithers”)® corporation (‘Breadnbutter Holdings”)
Steven Paul Smithers %t & SEEEER Breadnbutter Holdings Limited 174,888,000 A i% 17
([Smithers %4 )3 (IBreadnbutter Holdings |)
Mr. Smithers Beneficial owner N/A 9,112,000 Shares 1.14%
Smithers % 4 EalEA i 9,112,000 & f& 1%
Notes: P et
(1) All the above Shares are held in long position. ) K ERMBRBEAERRR -

) Brilliant Blue Sky, wholly-owned by Mr. Howard, held 393,376,000 (@
Shares. Mr. Howard is deemed to be interested in the 393,376,000
Shares pursuant to the SFO.

B B 19

(3)  Breadnbutter Holdings, wholly-owned by Mr. Smithers, held 174,888,000  ©)
Shares. Mr. Smithers is deemed to be interested in the 174,888,000
Shares pursuant to the SFO.

IBI Group Holdings Limited

Howard %t 4 & & % 4 #9 Brilliant Blue Sky /393,376,000
cHoward %t £ RIEF F K HE KA K AR
393,376,000 R AR 15 P #E B 2 o

Smithers %t & % & ## 5 & Breadnbutter Holdings # &
174,888,000 A% i 15 © Smithers %t 4 18 15 75 % K 57 & 161 %
AR 174,888,000 iR B 0 R A 4 o
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF FE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES, mR

UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

BERRS - ARROREER TR
HE

As at 31 March 2024, so far as was known to the Directors, the RZ-ZZ_WE=A=+—"H MEEZMH - U T A
following persons/entities (not being the Director or chief executive) =+, BEE (W HEFXKEZTHRAE) RAQR - £
had, or deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares Bk 8 A 7 N S EE SEB AR @R T - %
or underlying shares of the Company, its Group members and/or B HWR LB B IREZFN S KM EXVIFE 2R E

PaNgvi

associated corporations which would fall to be disclosed to the 377 %

EXARNARBABEBERCARRAREZES K

Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of HiE {&HI5E 336 6B FEEN SR MMERIXAE

the SFO, or which recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Approximate

percentage of
shareholding in

the total issued

Number share capital of

Name Capacity/nature of interest of Shares' our Company
RAEDFERIT
RABEE R
wE LB 54 HEtE BROHBE' HAREEIL
Brilliant Blue Sky Beneficial interest 393,376,000 Shares 49.17%
Brilliant Blue Sky B 393,376,000 f% A% 17
Ms. Shuen Jolie Chung Howard? Interest of spouse 416,000,000 Shares 52.00%
§EfE 2 12 e S A 2 416,000,000 A% f& 17
Breadnbutter Holdings Beneficial interest 174,888,000 Shares 21.86%
Breadnbutter Holdings Enfkn 174,888,000 J% f% 17
Ms. Yuk Fan Joe Lam?® Interest of spouse 184,000,000 Shares 23.00%
MEFL L fe Bt 184,000,000 & A% {7
Notes: B o -
(1) Allthe above Shares are held in long position. () ALFBERMEATEREE -

2)  Ms. Shuen Jolie Chung Howard, the spouse of Mr. Howard, is deemedto ~ (2)
be interested in the 22,624,000 Shares held by Mr. Howard and the
393,376,000 Shares held by Mr. Howard through his controlled
corporation, Brilliant Blue Sky, pursuant to the SFO.

3 Ms. Yuk Fan Joe Lam, the spouse of Mr. Smithers, is deemed to be @)
interested in the 9,112,000 Shares held by Mr. Smithers and the
174,888,000 Shares held by Mr. Smithers through his controlled
corporation, Breadnbutter Holdings, pursuant to the SFO.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year ended 31 March 2024, purchases from the Group’s
largest supplier accounted for approximately 6.4% of the total
purchase cost and the aggregate purchases from its top five
suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately 15.0% of the
total purchase cost.

Sales to the Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately
20.1% of the total revenue from external customer and the
aggregate sales to its top five customers in aggregate accounted
for approximately 58.6% of the total revenue from external
customer.

None of the Directors, any of their close associates or any
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of our Directors, own more
than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company) had any
interest in any of our five largest suppliers and customers during the
year ended 31 March 2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles,
although there are no restrictions against such rights under the
laws in the Cayman Islands.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company conditionally approved and adopted the Share
Option Scheme on 20 September 2016 by passing of a written
resolution of the then shareholders of the Company. The Share
Option Scheme became effective on the Listing Date and will
remain in force until the tenth anniversary of the Listing Date. No
option under the Share Option Scheme had been granted during
the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this report.

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant options to Eligible Participants (as defined below)
as incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
Eligible persons

Under the Share Option Scheme, eligible persons include any full-
time or part-time employees, potential employees, executives or
officers (including executive, non-executive and independent non-
executive Directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and
any suppliers, customers, agents and advisers who, in the sole
opinion of the Board, has contributed or will contribute to the
Company and/or any of its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Eligible
Participants”).

Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of Shares pursuant to which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not exceed
80,000,000 Shares, which represented 10% of the then issued
share capital of the Company as at the Listing Date and the date of
this annual report. This limit may be refreshed at any time by
obtaining approval from the Shareholders at general meeting of the
Company provided that the new limit must not exceed 10% of the
total number of Shares in issue as at the date of the Shareholders’
approval for the refreshment.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Participant

Unless approved by the Shareholders at general meeting, the
maximum entitlement of each Eligible Participant is that the total
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
outstanding options granted and to be granted to such Eligible
Participant (including exercised, outstanding and cancelled options)
under the Share Option Scheme and other scheme(s) of the
Company in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of the Company at the date of grant.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
Option period

An option may be exercised in whole or in part in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Scheme, during a period notified or
to be notified by the Board, provided that such period of time does
not exceed 10 years commencing on the date on which the option
is granted.

Minimum period for which an option must be held before
it is exercised

Each grantee under the Share Option Scheme shall be entitled to
exercise his/her option in the manner set out in his/her offer
document. The period within which an option may be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme is determined by the Board at its
absolute discretion, provided that such period is consistent with
any other terms and condition of the Share Option Scheme.

Payment on acceptance of the option

A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on or before the last
day for acceptance of the option as set out in the offer document.

Basis of determining the subscription price

The subscription price for Shares under the Share Option Schemes
shall be at the absolute discretion of the Board, provided that it is
not less than the highest of (a) the official closing price of the
Shares as stated in daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange
on the offer date; (b) the average of the official closing prices of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
offer date; and (c) the nominal value of a Share.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme remains in force for 10 years from the
Listing Date and ending on the tenth anniversary of the Listing Date
(both days inclusive), unless otherwise terminated, cancelled or
amended.
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EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) in Hong
Kong under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
monthly at 5%, subject to a cap of HK1,500 of the employees’
basic salaries by each of the Group and its employees and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
Particulars of the employee retirement benefits of the Group are set
out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2024. The Group’s contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme. Accordingly
there were no forfeited contributions available for the Group to
reduce its existing level of contributions to the MPF Scheme.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report and based on the information that is
publicly available to the Company and to the best knowledge of the
Directors, the Company has maintained the minimum public float of
25% as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 have
been audited by BDO Limited who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the annual general meeting
of the Company. A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO
Limited as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the 2024
AGM. There has been no change in auditor since the Listing Date.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE THE COMPANY’S
SECURITIES

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2024 was the
Company, or any of its holding companies or subsidiaries, or any of
its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors or chief executive of the Company or their respective
associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) to have any right to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debenture of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, save for the Share Option
Scheme, the Company did not enter into any equity-linked
agreements in respect of Shares.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, none of the Directors and
directors of the Company’s subsidiaries, or their respective
associates had interests in businesses, which compete or are likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Company and its subsidiaries as required to be disclosed pursuant
to the Listing Rules.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Saved as the related party transactions disclosed in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2024 in this report, no Controlling Shareholder had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance
(whether for the provision of services to the Company or not) to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party during the year ended 31 March 2024.

CHANGES IN DIRECTOR’S BIOGRAPHICAL
DETAILS UNDER RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE
LISTING RULES

There has been no other change in Directors’ biographical details
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the
date of this report.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

In order to avoid potential conflicts of interests with our Company,
our Controlling Shareholders, namely Mr. Neil David Howard and
Brilliant Blue Sky Limited, have entered into the Deed, pursuant to
which they have undertaken, among others, not to compete with
the business of the Group. Details of the Deed are set out in the
section headed “Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders —
Deed of Non-competition” in the Prospectus.

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has made a written
confirmation to the Board in respect of their compliance with the
undertakings in the Deed during the year ended 31 March 2024.

Upon receiving the confirmations from the Controlling Shareholders,
the independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the same as
part of the annual review process and confirmed that the
Controlling Shareholders had complied with the Deed during the
year ended 31 March 2024.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Subject to applicable laws, the Directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain by or by
reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices,
pursuant to the Articles. Such provisions were in force throughout
the year ended 31 March 2024 and are currently in force. The
Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Directors’ liabilities in respect of legal actions that may be brought
against the Directors.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares. If the
Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or exercising of any
rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised to consult their
professional advisers.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEERE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the ordinary
course of business by the Group during the year ended 31 March
2024 are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2024 in this report.

The related party transactions set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 constitute
“continuing connected transactions” (as defined under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules) which are fully exempted from the disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group had not
conducted any “connected transaction” or “continuing connected
transaction” (as defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules)
which is subject to reporting and annual review requirements under
the Listing Rules.

All references above to other sections, reports or notes in this
annual report form part of this report.

On behalf of the Board
Neil David Howard
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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The Company is committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to the
Shareholders and protecting and enhancing Shareholder value
through good corporate governance. The Company has developed
and implemented sound governance policies and measures, and
the Board is responsible for performing such corporate governance
duties. The Board will continue to review and monitor the corporate
governance of the Company with reference to the CG Code so as
to maintain a high standard of corporate governance of the
Company.

The Company confirms that, other than the deviation from Code
Provision C.2.1, the Company has complied with all the Code
Provisions throughout the year ended 31 March 2024.

Our Company complies with all the Code Provisions with the
exception of Code Provision C.2.1, which requires the roles of
chairman and chief executive be different individuals. Under Code
Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Mr. Neil David Howard holds both positions. Mr.
Howard has been primarily responsible for overseeing our Group’s
general management and business development and for
formulating business strategies and policies for our business
management and operations since he joined our Group in 2006.
Taking into account the continuation of management and the
implementation of our business strategies, our Directors (including
our independent non-executive Directors) consider it is most
suitable for Mr. Howard to hold both the positions of chief executive
officer and the chairman of our Board and the present
arrangements are beneficial to and in the interests of our Company
and our Shareholders as a whole. Our Company will continue to
review and consider splitting the roles of chairman of the Board and
chief executive officer of our Company at a time when it is
appropriate and suitable by taking into account the circumstances
of our Group as a whole.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Responsibilities

The Board is charged with promoting the success of the Company
by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board has general
powers for the management and conduct of the Company’s
business. The day-to-day operations and management are delegated
by the Board to the management of the Company, who will
implement the strategy and direction as determined by the Board.

Composition

The Company is committed to the view that the Board should
include a balanced composition of executive and independent non-
executive Directors so that the Board has a strong independent
element, which can effectively exercise independent judgement.

Currently, the Board comprises two executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors:

The Composition of the Board during the year ended 31 March
2024 and up to the date of this annual report is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Neil David Howard (Chairman and chief executive officer)
Mr. Steven Paul Smithers

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Robert Peter Andrews

Mr. David John Kennedy

Mr. Martin Woods (resigned on 30 September 2023)

Mr. Christopher John Brooke (appointed on 30 September 2023)

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”
of this report.
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Responsibilities of executive Directors

The executive Directors are responsible for the leadership and
control of the Company and overseeing the Group’s businesses
development, strategic formulation and are collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Company by directing and
supervising its affairs.

Responsibilities of independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors participate in the Board
meetings to bring in an independent judgment to bear on the issues
of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key
appointments and standards of conducts and scrutinise the
Company’s performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and
objectives. They are also responsible for ensuring a high standard
of financial and other mandatory reporting of the Board as well as
providing a balance in the Board in order to effectively exercise an
independent judgment on the corporate actions of the Company so
as to protect Shareholders’ interest and the overall interest of the
Group.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company had
three independent non-executive Directors, which met the
requirements of the Listing Rules that the number of independent
non-executive Directors must represent at least one-third of the
Board and should not be less than three, and that at least one of
the independent non-executive Directors has appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of independence in writing pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Board is satisfied that all the
independent non-executive Directors have been independent and
met the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules during the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of
this report.

Term of Directors

Each of the Directors has been appointed for an initial term of three
years commencing from their respective dates and shall continue
thereafter until it is terminated by either party by giving at least three
months’ prior notice in writing or otherwise in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the service contract and letter of
appointment entered between each of the Directors and the
Company.
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Remuneration

The Directors and senior management receive remuneration in the
form of salaries, allowances and other benefits, including our
contribution on defined contribution retirement plans.

The aggregate amount of remuneration (including salaries,
allowances, discretionary bonuses, other benefits and contributions
to pension schemes) paid or payable to the Directors for the year
ended 31 March 2024 was approximately HK$7.5 million.

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference to
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Group.
Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior management
for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2024. In addition, pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5, the annual
remuneration of members of the senior management by band for
the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out below:

Remuneration of the senior management by bands

)
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Nil-HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,00078 7T 1
HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 %8 7T £ 1,500,0008 7T 1
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 % JT & 2,000,000 8 7T 3

HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001-HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001-HK$3,500,000

Save as disclosed in this report, (i) no remuneration was paid to the
Directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to
join, or upon joining, our Group; (i) no compensation was paid to,
or receivable by, the Directors or past Directors or the five highest
paid individuals during the year ended 31 March 2024 for the loss
of office as director of any member of the Group or of any other
office in connection with the management of the affairs of any
member of the Group; and (i) none of the Directors waived any
emoluments during the same period.

Save as disclosed in this report, no Director or none of the five
highest paid individuals has been paid in cash or shares or
otherwise by any person either to induce him to become, or to
qualify him as a Director, or otherwise for service rendered by him
in connection with the promotion or formation of us.
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Directors’ induction and continuing professional
development

Each of the Directors, namely, Mr. Neil David Howard, Mr. Steven
Paul Smithers, Mr. Robert Peter Andrews, Mr. David John Kennedy
and Mr. Christopher John Brooke had participated in continuous
professional development during the year ended 31 March 2024 by
reading materials relating to duties and responsibilities of directors
of a listed company in Hong Kong, the Listing Rules, anti-corruption
and other applicable laws and regulations. The Company arranges
suitable training for all the Directors in order to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills as part of their continuous professional
development.

Newly appointed Director will be arranged a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction which includes provision of key guidelines,
documents and publications relevant to their roles, responsibilities
and ongoing obligations; a briefing on the Company’s structure,
businesses, risk management and other governance practices and
meeting with other fellow Directors so as to help the newly
appointed Directors familiarize with the management, business and
governance policies and practices of the Company, and ensure
that they have a proper understanding of the operations and
businesses of the Company.

Meetings of Board and Board committees and Directors’
attendance records

Notice of regular Board meetings is served on all the Directors at
least 14 days before the meeting. For other Board and Board
committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before each
Board or Board committee meeting to keep Directors apprised of
the latest developments and financial position of the Company and
to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and each
Director also have separate and independent access to the Senior
Management of the Company where necessary.

The minutes of Board and Board committee meetings are kept by
the company secretary and are open for inspection by any Director.
The minutes of Board and Board committee meetings record in
sufficient detail the matters considered and decisions reached,
including any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting views
expressed. Draft and final versions of minutes are sent to all
Directors for their comment and records respectively, within a
reasonable time after the meetings are held.
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During the year ended 31 March 2024, one general meeting was
held while four Board meetings were held whereat the Board,
among others, (i) reviewed and approved the financial results for
the year ended 31 March 2023; (ii) reviewed and approved the
financial results for the six months ended 30 September 2023; (i)
considered and approved the overall strategies and policies of the

BE_T-_MF=ZA=1T—"BHLFE ARAET—
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BRONEHIMEBRE T _=ZF=_A=1T—HILF
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B MK - Rv)BERAEEGRTES SR

Group; and (iv) considered and approved the remuneration EBEBHNHFMHFE ERESHERRERASLESTS
packages of individual executive Directors and the senior &:ERIERE N TE :
management. The attendance of individual Directors at the general
meeting and Board meetings is set out in the following table:
Attended/
Eligible to attend
BHE AEREE
2023
Annual Board
General Meeting Meetings
—E_-=
Name of Directors EEpnE BREBFAE EEEgER
Mr. Neil David Howard Neil David Howard %t 4 11 4/4
Mr. Steven Paul Smithers Steven Paul Smithers 5t & 11 4/4
Mr. Robert Peter Andrews Robert Peter Andrews 5t 4 11 4/4
Mr. David John Kennedy David John Kennedy 5t & 11 4/4
Mr. Martin Woods Martin Woods 5t 4
(resigned on 30 September 2023) (RZZ2EZ=FNA=1+HET) 1/1 1/1
Mr. Christopher John Brooke Christopher John Brooke %t 4
(appointed on 30 September 2023) (RZZEZ=FNA=1+HEZ{T) - 3/3
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS EERBAE
The Board is responsible for performing the functions set outinthe ZEEZ&€AEREITTAMEXA21FFEBE E=2EEH

Code Provision A.2.1. The Board reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, training and
continuous professional development of Directors and Senior
Management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the
Model Code and written employee guidelines, and the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this corporate
governance report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has established three board committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Each of the Board committees operates under its
terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees
are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

Audit committee

We have established the Audit Committee in compliance with Rule
3.21 of the Listing Rules on 20 September 2016. The Audit
Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. David John
Kennedy (Chairman), Mr. Robert Peter Andrews and Mr.
Christopher John Brooke.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee include:

° making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, approving
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditor, and considering any questions of resignation or
dismissal of that auditor;

° reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards;

° developing and implementing a policy on the engagement of
an external auditor to supply non-audit services and reporting
the same to the Board, and identifying and making
recommendations on any matters in respect of which it
considers that action or improvement is needed;

° discussing with the external auditor before the audit
commences, the nature and scope of the audit and reporting
obligations, and ensuring proper co-ordination where more
than one audit firm is involved;

° discussing problems and reservations arising from the interim
and final audits, and any matters the external auditor may
wish to discuss (in the absence of the Senior Management
where necessary);
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monitoring the integrity of the Company’s financial statements,
annual report and accounts, half-year report and, if prepared
for publication, quarterly reports, and reviewing significant
financial reporting judgements contained in them;

reviewing the Company’s financial controls, risk management
and internal control systems;

discussing the risk management and internal control systems
with the Senior Management to ensure that the Senior
Management has performed its duties in establishing and
maintaining effective systems, including matters on adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function;

considering major investigations findings on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on
its own initiative and the Senior Management’s response to
these findings;

where an internal audit function exists, ensuring co-ordination
between the internal and external auditors, ensuring that the
internal audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Company, and reviewing and
monitoring its effectiveness;

reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

reviewing the external auditor’s management letter, any
material queries raised by such auditor to the Senior
Management about the accounting records, financial
accounts or systems of control and the Senior Management’s
response;

ensuring that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’'s management letter;

reporting to the Board on the matters set out in the Audit
Committee’s terms of reference;

reviewing arrangements employees of the Company can use,
in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters and
ensuring that proper arrangements are in place for fair and
independent investigation of these matters and for
appropriate follow-up action;
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56

acting as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditor;

establishing a whistle-blowing policy and system for
employees of the Company and those who deal with the
Company (e.g. customers and suppliers) to raise concerns, in
confidence, with the Audit Committee about possible
improprieties in any matter related to the Company;

developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board;

reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and the Senior
Management;

reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
the Directors;

reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
the disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report in the
Company’s annual report;

reviewing on-going connected transactions of the Company
and ensuring compliance with the terms of approval by the
Shareholders;

reviewing the findings of internal investigations and the Senior
Management’s responses in relation to any suspected fraud
or irregularities or failures of internal controls or infringement
of laws, rules and regulations; and

considering any other topics as determined by the Board.
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During the year ended 31 March 2024, two Audit Committee
meetings were held whereat the Audit Committee, among others, (i)
reviewed the unaudited consolidated financial results of the
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Company for the six months ended 30 September 2023; and (ii) AR
reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the Company for A BT #§REK - AR BRI LB L8 FH N T X ¢
the year ended 31 March 2023. The attendance of individual
members is set out in the following table:
Attended/
Name of committee members Eligible to attend
EERRANS BHE AR HE
Mr. David John Kennedy David John Kennedy %t 4 2/2
Mr. Robert Peter Andrews Robert Peter Andrews %t 4 2/2
Mr. Martin Woods Martin Woods %t 4 1/1
(resigned on 30 September 2023) (R—ZE-_=FhLA=1+HEHT)
Mr. Christopher John Brooke Christopher John Brooke 5t 4 1/1
(appointed on 30 September 2023) (RZEZ=FNA=THEZE)

Remuneration committee

We established the Remuneration Committee in compliance with
Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules on 20 September 2016. The
Remuneration Committee consists of five members, namely Mr.
Robert Peter Andrews (chairman), Mr. David John Kennedy, Mr.
Christopher John Brooke, Mr. Neil David Howard and Mr. Steven
Paul Smithers. The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee include:

° making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and
the Senior Management and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing a remuneration
policy;

° reviewing and approving the Senior Management’s
remuneration proposals by reference to the Board’s
corporate goals and objectives;

° making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and the Senior
Management and such packages include benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment;
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° considering salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment, responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;

° reviewing and approving compensation payable to the
executive Directors and the Senior Management for any loss
or termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and
not excessive;

° reviewing and approving compensation arrangements relating
to the dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to
ensure that they are consistent with contractual terms and
are otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

° ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her
own remuneration;

° reviewing the Group’s policy on expense reimbursements for
the Directors and the Senior Management; and

° reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model described in
Code Provision E.1.2(c) (ii) of the CG Code (i.e. make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Director and Senior Management).

During the year ended 31 March 2024, one Remuneration
Committee meeting was held whereat the Remuneration
Committee reviewed and recommended to the Board for
consideration of the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and the senior management. The attendance of individual
members is set out in the following table.
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Attended/
Name of committee members Eligible to attend
ZEERENA BHE SEKREE
Mr. Robert Peter Andrews Robert Peter Andrews %t & 11
Mr. David John Kennedy David John Kennedy 4%t 4 1/1
Mr. Martin Woods Martin Woods %t 4 -
(resigned on 30 September 2023) (RZZE==FNLA=1+HEMT
Mr. Christopher John Brooke Christopher John Brooke %t 4 1/1
(appointed on 30 September 2023) (RZZEZ=FhLA=1THEZE)
Mr. Neil David Howard Neil David Howard 5 4 11

Mr. Steven Paul Smithers
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Nomination committee

We established the Nomination Committee in compliance with Rule
3.27A of the Listing Rules on 20 September 2016. The Nomination
Committee consists of five members, namely Mr. Neil David
Howard (chairman), Mr. David John Kennedy, Mr. Robert Peter
Andrews, Mr. Christopher John Brooke and Mr. Steven Paul
Smithers. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to
make recommendations to our Board on the appointment of our
Directors and Senior Management.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include:

° reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience and diversity of
perspectives) of the Board at least annually and making
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

° identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and selecting or making recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships,
with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board;

° assessing the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors;

° reviewing the Board diversity policy of the Company, as
appropriate; and reviewing the measurable objectives that the
Board has set for implementing such policy, and the progress
on achieving the objectives; and

° making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
reappointment of Directors and succession planning for the
Directors, in particular, the chairman and the chief executives.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, one Nomination Committee
meeting was held whereat the Nomination Committee, among
others, (i) assessed the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors; (i) recommended to the Board for consideration
the re-appointment of all the retiring Directors as Directors at the
2023 AGM; (jii) reviewed the structure, size and composition of the
Board; and (iv) reviewed the Board diversity policy. The attendance
of individual members is set out in the following table.
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Attended/
Name of committee members Eligible to attend
ZEENERSE BHE AERLE
Mr. Neil David Howard Neil David Howard %t 4 11
Mr. Steven Paul Smithers Steven Paul Smithers 7t 4= 11
Mr. David John Kennedy David John Kennedy %t & 1/1
Mr. Robert Peter Andrews Robert Peter Andrews %t 4 11
Mr. Martin Woods Martin Woods %t 4 1/1
(resigned on 30 September 2023) (R—ZZE-_=FhLA=1+HEHT)
Mr. Christopher John Brooke Christopher John Brooke %t 4 -
(appointed on 30 September 2023) (RZZEZ=FhLA=1THEZE)
Nomination Policy RABE
The Board has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the ZEESCHMNIERBER  EPHIEE - ZENEH

procedures and criteria for the selection, appointment and
reappointment of the Directors. In evaluating and selecting any
candidate for directorship, the Nomination Committee shall
consider the candidates’ character and integrity, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience, independence,
diversity on the Board, willingness to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a Board member and such other criteria that
are appropriate to the business of the Company.

Board Diversity Policy

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development. In designing the
Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will
be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skKills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.

In recognition of the importance of the gender diversity in the
composition of the Board, the Company undertakes to have at
least one director of different gender on the Board by 31 December
2024. The Board will continue to seek opportunities to increase the
proportion of female members over time as and when suitable
candidates are identified. The Nomination Committee will continue
to review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its
relevance and effectiveness, and will recommend the revisions, if
any, to the Board for consideration and approval.
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Directors Remuneration Policy

The Company has adopted a director remuneration policy, it sets out
the general principles which guide the Group to deal with the
remuneration matters. This remuneration policy aims to provide a fair
market level of remuneration to retain and motivate high quality directors,
senior management of the Group and attract experienced people of
high calibre to oversee the business and development of the Group.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for securities
transactions. Following specific enquires of all the Directors, all the
Directors confirm that they have complied with the required
standards of dealing as set out in the Model Code throughout the
year ended 31 March 2024.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND REMUNERATION

BDO Limited is appointed as the external auditor of the Company.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the fees paid to BDO Limited
for the audit of the annual financial statements of the Group were
HK$938,000 (excluding the expenses on the non-audit service
provided by BDO Limited).

The non-auditing services fees charged by BDO Limited in relation
to the agreed-upon procedures performed on the interim financial
results of the Group for the six months ended 30 September 2023
were approximately HK$90,000.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flow
during the reporting period. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2024, the Directors have
selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently,
made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and
reasonable and prepared the consolidated financial statements on
a going concern basis. There are no material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. A statement
from the external auditors about its reporting responsibilities on the
consolidated financial statements is set out on pages 107 to 113 of
this report.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems in order to safeguard
the Group’s assets and Shareholders’ interests and reviewing the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control and risk
management systems on an annual basis so as to ensure that
internal control and risk management systems in place are
adequate. The Company outsourced its internal audit function to an
external consultant who reports directly to the Board. The internal
audit function primarily carries out the analysis and independent
appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the issuer’s risk
management and internal control systems, and reports their
findings to the Board on, at least, an annual basis.

The Group’s internal control system includes a well-established
organisational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility
and authority. The day-to-day departmental operations are
entrusted to individual department which is accountable for its own
conduct and performance and is required to operate its own
department’s business within the scope of the delegated authority
and to implement and strictly adhere to the strategies and policies
set by the Company from time to time. Each department is also
required to keep the Board informed of material developments of
the department’s business and implementation of the policies and
strategies set by the Board on a regular basis.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board had reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems
of the Group to ensure that a sound system is maintained and
operated by the management in compliance with the agreed
procedures and standards. The review covered all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions. In particular, the Board considered the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programs and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions. The review was made by
discussions with the management of the Company and the
assessment conducted by the Audit Committee. The Board
believes that the existing internal control system is adequate and
effective, in particular, for financial reporting and Listing Rules
compliance.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Company takes
seriously of its obligations under Part XIVA of the SFO and the
Listing Rules. The Company has adopted a Continuous Disclosure
Compliance Policy which sets out guidelines and procedures to the
Directors and officers of the Group to ensure inside information of
the Group is to be disseminated to the public in an equal and timely
manner. A flowchart has been improvised to provide guidelines for
next action steps. The Company has also communicated to all
relevant staff regarding the implementation of the Continuous
Disclosure Compliance Policy and the relevant trainings are also
provided.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY AND WHISTLE-
BLOWING POLICY

The Group implements an anti-corruption and whistle-blowing
policy that states any bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
behaviour will not be tolerated by the Group. The Group also strictly
adheres to Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the
Laws of Hong Kong).

The Group provides its staff with proper whistle-blowing channels
so that they can raise concerns when needed, without fear of
reprisal or any negative impacts. The Group’s employees have
been informed through printed anti-corruption material for the
same.

The Group encourages its employees to voice their opinions and it
will not take any negative action against staff for voicing out their
concerns through the proper whistle-blowing channels. The Group
fully supports its employees to raise concerns in good faith and the
mentioned issues are discussed by management and dealt with in
a professional and appropriate manner. There were no legal cases
regarding corruption during the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS, COMMUNICATION
WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND SHAREHOLDER
RIGHTS

The Company’s annual general meeting remains the principal forum
for dialogue with the Shareholders. The Shareholders are
encouraged to participate in the proceedings and ask questions
about the resolutions being proposed and the operations of the
Group. The Articles allows a Shareholder entitled to attend and
vote to appoint more than one proxy to attend and vote on behalf
of the Shareholder and also provides that a proxy need not be a
shareholder of the Company.

The Company has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy
with the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders will have equal
and timely access to information about the Company in order to
enable the Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed
manner and allow them to engage actively with the Company. The
Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the Shareholders’ communication policy during the year and
concluded that it is effective.

At least 20 clear business days’ notice for annual general meeting
and at least 10 clear business days’ notice for all other general
meetings are given to the Shareholders before the meeting.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange after each
general meeting.
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Procedures for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, the Board may, whenever it
thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting. Extraordinary
general meetings shall also be convened on the requisition of one
or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company having the right of voting at general meetings. Such
requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the company
secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21
days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself (themselves) may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands
Companies Law (2016 Revision). However, Shareholders who wish
to propose resolutions may follow article 64 of the Articles for
requisitioning an extraordinary general meeting and including a
resolution at such meeting. The requirements and procedures of
article 64 of the Articles are set out above. As regards proposing a
person for election as a Director, the procedures are available on
the website of the Company.

Procedures for putting enquiries to the Company and
contact details

Shareholders may, at any time, direct questions, request for
publicly available information and provide comments and
suggestions to the Directors or management of the Company.
Such questions, requests and comments can be addressed to the
Company by mail to 3/F, Bangkok Bank Building, 18 Bonham
Strand West, Hong Kong or by email to ibi@ibi.com.hk.
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Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings by mail to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F., Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong or by telephone
at (852) 2980-1333, who has been appointed by the Company to
deal with Shareholders for share registration and related matters.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, in view of the changes to
Appendix A to the Listing Rules, the Articles were amended, and
the adoption of the second amended and restated memorandum
and articles of association of the Company was approved by the
Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 15 September 2023. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 24 July 2023, 8 September
2023 and 15 September 2023 and the circular of the Company
dated 24 July 2023. The new Articles are available on the websites
of the Company (www.ibighl.com) and the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk).

COMPANY SECRETARY AND PRIMARY
CONTACT OF THE COMPANY

Directors have access to the services of the company secretary to
ensure that the Board procedures are followed. The company
secretary of the Company is Mr. Yun Wah Man. He is currently a
director of In.Corp Corporate Services (HK) Limited. He reports to
the chairman of the Board directly. The primary corporate contact
person at the Company is Mr. Neil David Howard, the chairman of
the Board and chief executive officer of the Company. In
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Yun Wah Man
has undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This is the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
2023/2024 (“ESG Report”) of IBI Group Holdings Limited (“IBI”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the
“Group”, “we”), covering the period from 1 April 2023 to 31 March
2024 (“reporting period” or “Year”). The report provides an
overview of the Group’s approach to managing environmental and
social aspects during the Year. This report has been prepared in
compliance with the ESG Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix
C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKEX”). Information disclosed
and presented in this ESG Report follows the reporting principles of
materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency set forth by the
HKEX and the report has complied with the “mandatory disclosure
requirements” and “comply or explain” provisions set out in the
ESG Reporting Guide.

Reporting Boundary

This report outlines the Group’s sustainability approach and
performance in the environmental, social and governance (‘ESG”)
aspects. It focuses on our business operations in Hong Kong,
Macau and Ireland, covering major businesses of contracting,
building solutions, strategic investments and property investments.
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Contracting

Through its subsidiaries — IBI Limited, IBI Projects, and IBI Macau,
the Group offers top-tier interior fitting-out and building
refurbishment services in Hong Kong and Macau. Operating
primarily as the main contractor, the Group only oversees project
management, coordination, safety and quality control. It does not
engage directly in the physical construction work. The Group has
successfully delivered numerous projects under Leadership in
Energy and Environmental Design (“LEED”) and Building
Environmental Assessment Method (‘BEAM”) Plus certifications.
Both the Group and its contracting parties are committed to
responsible construction practices, including waste management
and recycling initiatives wherever feasible.

Building Solutions

Building Solutions Limited (“BSL”) provides products and services
designed to enhance the performance and well-being of built
environments, creating modern, healthy, and high-performing
spaces for occupants.

Strategic Investment

The Group has established a strategic investments division to
efficiently utilise its available capital, expand its geographical reach,
and enter new markets.

Property Investments

The property investment division of the Group focuses on making
direct investments in physical properties. With a growing emphasis
on socially responsible building and operations, the Group
leverages its extensive contracting experience to enhance and
upgrade acquired assets. These improvements include, but are not
limited to, installing energy-efficient lighting, heating and cooling
systems, which reduce energy consumption and enhance the
environment for tenants and visitors.

Stakeholder Feedback
The Group values feedback and opinions from stakeholders. If you

would like to provide feedback or share your views, please contact
us at ESG@ibi.com.hk.

68 IBI Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023/2024

EE

R E B % B W B A R IBI Limited - 1Bl Projects X IBI
Macau ' EEHE MR RETBEANZRNEEREFTH
RS - AEBEFBUTAERNGHESE  RAER
HEEE W Z2REEEM EUWEHEEZELH
EREET - AEEEKD RN ELERERER
i (LEED J) & 4k &3 £ IR 55 5715 /% (| BEAM ) Plus
RENEE - AEBEREGHFEUBIREBETHE
TEE REETHNBATETEDERERBER
FTEl -

Building Solutions

Building Solutions Limited ([ BSL J) 42 # 7] 2 F+ i 28 1R
BHRARBUNERIRE  AREEERAK &
BRI e o

RHRE

AEBRIRBREDMER/TERANBEARER
A H 319 78 E #E W AT IS A, o

MEELE

AEENMERED BB INHERYMZETEERR
BE-BEHHEAANEERELARIIER K
SENAEEENMOLER  UMKRBNEEETR
TR - ZERERFBETRNLEDHERE - HEE
K2 B R EeER  WEMF &G
EHIRE -

FOENRE

AEBERBEHENRERER - MAIREKE
FNE BETHERN BZHA&EM ESEHH A
ESG@ibi.com.hk °


mailto:ESG@ibi.com.hk
mailto:ESG@ibi.com.hk

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE  HERERBHRE

MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN
Dear Stakeholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am pleased to present the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of IBI Group
Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2024. IBI has been committed to creating positive impacts since
1997. By embedding ESG considerations into our business
practices, we strive to drive long-term value creation while
safeguarding the well-being of future generations.

Our Environmental Management System, certified under I1ISO
14001:2015, remains instrumental in guiding our efforts to minimise
our environmental footprint. In response to the growing concern
over climate change, we have enhanced our commitment to
transparency and accountability this year. By disclosing relevant
information referencing the IFRS S2 framework, we ensure that our
climate-related efforts are clear and measurable. In line with our
commitment to sustainable development, we actively support our
clients in obtaining LEED and BEAM Plus certifications. In the
majority of our renovation projects, we prioritise the use of
sustainable materials such as bamboo and low VOC (Volatile
Organic Compound) paint and adhesives.

Our commitment to fulfil our corporate social responsibility goes
beyond environmental considerations, to the well-being and safety
of our employees and the communities in which we operate. We
prioritise the welfare of our workforce through comprehensive
safety training and development programmes. In addition, we
continue to give back to society through donations and educational
support initiatives, aimed at nurturing talent and empowering
marginalised communities.

Whilst we reflect on our achievements during this year, we also
assert that we are steadfast in our commitment to advancing
sustainability across all facets of our business. Looking ahead, we
will continue to innovate, collaborate and lead by example in
integrating ESG principles into our operations. | would like to take
this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude to all our
colleagues, partners and stakeholders for their unwavering support
and commitment to our shared vision of a sustainable future.

On behalf of the Board

Neil David Howard
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE
Board Statement

The Group recognises that environmental protection is a great
social concern. To ensure effective oversight of ESG issues, the
Board is actively engaged in formulating and implementing ESG
strategy and overseeing risk management. The Board regularly
reviews the progress made against ESG-related goals and targets
by comparing the progress made in related aspects with the set
targets. When the goals and targets are generally met, they are
revised upwards to achieve continual improvement.

To govern various aspects of the Group’s operations and to
support the Board, three Board committees have been set up,
namely, the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee. An ESG working group is also in place to
resolve ESG-related issues. The ESG working group comprises the
Chief Operating Officer (“CO0”) and the Executive Director, Finance
Manager, Senior Project Manager, Health and Safety Manager,
Environmental Manager and the Sustainability Coordinator. The
main functions and duties of the working group are as follows:

o Implement the ESG policies laid down by the Board;

o Facilitate the adoption of ESG policies throughout the
Company;

° Review and monitor the Company’s ESG policies and
practices to ensure compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

° Monitor and respond to emerging ESG issues and make
recommendations to the Board where appropriate to further
the Company’s ESG performance;

° Conduct internal and external materiality assessments to
assess material sustainability issues to the Group;

° Collate ESG Key Performance Indicators (‘KPIs”) data;

° Prepare the annual ESG report for the Board’s consideration
and approval; and

o Take suitable actions to enable the Working Group to
discharge responsibilities and functions conferred on it by the
Board.
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Sustainability Management Approach

The Group has put in place Environmental Policy and Environmental,
Social and Government Reporting Policy, both of which serve as
frameworks to articulate our unwavering dedication to sustainable
development. These policies provide clear guidance to our
employees on developing and implementing sustainability initiatives
that align with the Group’s vision for sustainability.

Throughout the year, the ESG group actively implemented a
multifaceted approach, which included reviewing existing policies,
updating them as necessary, and establishing baselines and KPlIs.
This ensures that the Group remains aligned with evolving ESG
standards and best practices while effectively measuring and
monitoring progress towards sustainability goals.

Stakeholder Engagement and Materiality

The Group believes that maintaining communication with
stakeholders allows it to better understand their expectations
regarding its sustainability performance, identification of material
issues, and the effectiveness of its sustainability measures. To
achieve this, the Group has established various communication
channels and regularly engages with different stakeholder groups
to gather feedback. These stakeholders include employees,
subcontractors, suppliers, clients, investors, government agencies
and local communities.
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Materiality Assessment

During the year, we engaged an independent consultant to help
enhance stakeholder engagement and inform materiality of ESG
topics to ensure effective resource allocation for initiatives that
create value, mitigate risks and align with stakeholder expectations.
A survey was conducted to garner feedback from the above
stakeholder groups. Participants in the survey evaluated the
importance of 22 ESG-related issues, for themselves and the
Group. The materiality assessment was conducted through a

EEMME

BARAFEZRBILER  BWHRAFNELEE

WEMESGHEENEEN  HRERER DA N A E
BE RERBRFEHMHEHNENEE KMAET
AEWE Ll FHHERENRE - 2HPAENITE
o2 B EESGIHBEET TE$%&$EIE’JE%
Mo EEMFENBEBHAR - 28 BEEFRBE
KRR FFHETT ©

process of identification, engagement, prioritisation and validation.
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E93])

Identified potentially
material sustainability
topics with reference to
industry — specific ESG
issues identified by rating
agencies and regulatory
re uirements.
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The assessment outcome is visually depicted in the matrix below to
illustrate the importance of different ESG topics to both the Group
and its stakeholders, categorised from Tier 1 to 3, with Tier 1
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representing material topics for the Group. During the Year, we
identified 8 material topics, summarised as below. As an integral
part of the ESG Report, the Board has reviewed and approved the
results of the materiality assessment.
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Importance to stakeholders
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OUR ENVIRONMENT

The Group is committed to protecting the environment,
conscientiously promoting environmental awareness amongst its
staff and implementing measures to prevent pollution, which may
arise from its construction activities. Our Environmental Policy,
Environmental and Waste Management Plan, Environmental
Management System and Environmental Best Practice Procedure
are in place to keep operating practices aligned with regulatory
requirements and the latest developments in the industry. The
Group’s Environmental Management System is certified under ISO
14001:2015. IBI is committed to complying with all relevant
environmental legislation and regulations and continually improving
its environmental performance. As outlined in our environmental
policy, subcontractors are also required to comply with the
management system and to implement environmental protection
measures in their operations.

Tackling Climate Change

Climate change is a pressing global issue, particularly in coastal
regions such as Hong Kong. In 2021, the Hong Kong government
launched Hong Kong'’s Climate Action Plan 2050, which sets the
target to achieve carbon neutrality before 2050, in alignment with
the spirit of the Paris Agreement. We have developed a Climate
Change Poalicy this year to respond and contribute to these goals.

IBl is aware of the pressing need to incorporate decarbonisation in
its business strategies and daily operations. Taking reference from
the framework of the International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) S2, published by the International Sustainability Standards
Board (“ISSB”) in June 2023, our reporting of climate-related
disclosures follows the architecture of governance, strategy, risk
management and metrics and targets.
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Governance

The ESG working group plays a critical role in incorporating climate
adaptation and resilience strategies into the design and
development of our projects, ensuring they can withstand the
impacts of climate change. Regular progress updates, performance
metrics, and identified climate-related issues are reported to the
Board to ensure our climate-related plans, actions and performance
are on track. The Board oversees the review and approval of
climate strategies and policies, as well as the supervision of the
development and performance of climate initiatives.

Strategy

To understand how climate change impacts our operations and
investments, as well as leverage potential benefits, this year, we
have identified specific climate-related risks and opportunities. We
recognise our responsibility to address the challenges posed by
climate change and are committed to mitigating our environmental
impact.
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Type Risk Description Potential Business Impact
Rl [ B #uk BEEBEE
Extreme Weather Events  Increased frequency and severity of Damage to construction sites, buildings
8 storms, floods, and hurricanes and properties leads to higher repair
3 xﬂ% costs and project delays.
T EmmRREY & HKRBRERMNEEREELE B2HEMER ZRYEMENERESH
o BRI RIE B ER -
Rising Sea Levels Properties and investments in coastal  Reducing property values and
T«; areas are at risk of flooding and increasing insurance costs.
E Efi erosion and rainstorms
£ o & E AN REYEMRE®ERLK - BREVMEBEIGINREKE
'g 4 ZREFIRRA AR
5 B Temperature Increases Higher temperatures can affect Increased cooling costs for buildings

and productivity
B
BRI EE T
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construction schedules, worker health
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Type Risk Description Potential Business Impact
EEid] [ B it BREEBE
Stricter Building Codes Tightening environmental regulations  Increased compliance costs, potential
and Standards due to climate change fines or penalties for non-compliance
FEBHBEERNE BREZCMEBENRRER BB BESREKA TSR
# i 0 i 9 1 R
Carbon Emission Rights Introduction of carbon taxes or cap- Increase operational costs, especially in
Pricing and-trade systems energy-intensive construction activities
B HE IR TE (B kI SR B2 5 R EERRIEN  CERERRE SRS
c RS E B T
:..g 2 Shifts in Market Demand ~ Growing preference for sustainable Significant investment in new
g m and energy-efficient buildings technologies and materials required to
"_n‘.’ remain competitive.
Mi5HKE (L HAHEMRFEEENRITER ARBREFH  ZE2EMBEMMME
o FHEETRERE -
Stakeholder Expectations  Failure to adopt sustainable practices  Loss of business and investment.
can harm IBI’s reputation among
clients, investors, and the general
public
BHiHESE REKAAHESRAIEFIEEZTB EHRREEE -
EEF REEREEARPHE
=
Opportunities Description Potential Business Impact
i it BEXBE
Energy Efficiency Implementing energy-efficient Reduced operational costs and improved margins.
Improvements technologies in buildings and
construction processes
BERUR S ERERMETHEPEHRS RN BEEEXNRLTREFEE -

Sustainable Materials

BEsE Uk

materials

Using sustainable and recycled

150 P A =5 48 K [0 Yo i 4

Appeal to environmentally conscious clients and investors.

WERREBANEPLNIRESE -

Green Building Solutions

RERERRT R

BEAM)

Developing expertise in green
building certifications (e.g., LEED,

PR OERERFE (FI20LEED -

competitors.

BEAM) B 3 5 A3

Open new revenue streams and differentiate IBI from

R AR - I 1BIA BN B F

Sustainable Property

Focusing on acquiring and

Investments developing properties that meet high
environmental standards
AHEMERE FIFRRBERFAERFEe e RERER

ORUES

Enhance asset value and appeal to ESG-focused investors

RIAEEEBELRINIEESGHEREE -
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Risk Management

The Group regularly reassesses climate-related risks and
opportunities to ensure a thorough understanding of these evolving
challenges and to determine if adjustments to our risk appetite are
necessary. We have incorporated these considerations into our
office location selection process and maintain adequate insurance
coverage to address potential impacts.

Metrics and Targets
Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group is committed to keeping its emissions under check. Due
to the nature of our business, we do not produce direct emissions.
Our primary sources of emissions are indirect, specifically, electricity
used (Scope 2) and paper waste from our offices and project sites
that are disposed of in landfills (Scope 3). During the Year, total
greenhouse gas emissions (“GHG”) were 52.34 tonnes of CO,
equivalent (“tCO,e”).
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GHG emissions and intensity Unit 2024 2023
BERBHEMREBE B “EE —E=-=
Scope 1 — Direct Emissions s — — EREEY tCOe
WE SR E 8 0.00 0.00
Scope 2 — Indirect Emissions HE= — BEERD tCO,e
Mg = %1 LixE & 45.05 43.76
Scope 3 — Paper waste BEE= — FENMIERE  tCO.
disposed at landfills B REAR Mg = %1 bLixE & 7.30 10.50
Total GHG emission? BERBRERE tCO e
%1 bl & 52.35 54.26°
Total emissions per unit floor area REMEAmETTE D tCO ,e/sq. ft
BHEME —EtiREE
$ AR 0.01 0.01
Total emissions per employee HEZREIENE tCO ,e/employee
BehE —ELIRE=E
g8 I 0.53 0.60*
L Scope 2 emissions in 2023 were restated as we updated the GHG ~ ° ARBEME A iﬂ’éi%ﬁﬁﬁlﬁfﬁﬁﬁii T =FHEHE
emissions calculation methodology. “HERE E ©E
2 The guidance for reporting on GHG emissions set out above is based on 2 Ll ARRA TﬁFEﬁZE’Uiﬁ%T‘E%\ THIR R & B B 2 P 2 M

“How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” issued by the HKEX and “Sustainability Report 2023”
issued by HK Electric Investment Limited.

8 The total GHG emissions in 2023 were restated as we updated the GHG
emissions calculation methodology.
4 The total emissions per employee in 2023 were restated as we updated

the GHG emissions calculation methodology.
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The Group has implemented an Environmental Policy and an
Environmental and Waste Management Plan to minimise the
environmental impact of its operations. Direct emissions from our
sub-contractors primarily involve on-site electricity usage, which is
supplied by our customers. Therefore, these emissions are not
recorded by the Group. IBI is committed to contributing to Hong
Kong’s Climate Action Plan 2050 and complies with all current
environmental legislation and regulations applicable in the Special
Administrative Region of Hong Kong as part of the target to
mitigate greenhouse gas emissions.

Energy Consumption

During the reporting period, the total energy consumption of the
Group was 66,248 kWh, arising entirely from electricity usage. The
consumption data during the Year are as shown in the following
table.

AEBECDERREBRRALRRE REYELE - A
BERVELCUHRENTZE RO BENEREN
TESRBMATPRENMRAE - Bt - ZFHW
VEFEAEELE - BIRIRREBRETHER
20501FE ERL - WETEARBEFRITHRNAA
BOTREREAVINRE (ERRDRERBHERE RN

— %5 -

BEIFIHFE

BERA AEENAEREER66,248 TR &2
MEERE - TREIAFERHEERE

Energy consumption and intensity Unit 2024 2023
RRHERBE By —E-MF T =
Total Energy Consumption HEE IR B FE kWh
T FLBF 66,248 64,355

Total Energy Consumption/per floor XM EETERLREEIR  kWh/sqg. ft

area SHAE FTEEFHR 7.50 7.28
Total Energy Consumption/per BREINBRERER kWh/employee

employee TRE 8T 669 715

The Group is committed to reducing energy consumption and has
set the following emission and resource efficiency targets.

A%

()

AEBBANBLERBR  YERERATHRNE
IRMEBIR

i —
A

Reduce usage of protective materials

B R R

Reduce electricity usage in the office
and on sites by

Reduce paper consumption in the
office and on-site by a minimum of 3%
PN 2 R AR AR SROEFE 2
AR 3%

not less than 3%
WAERIEAES R
TMMER 3%

During the Year, we have taken several focused initiatives across R AFE * HMIES HFERNZEE X IR LR
various areas to enhance energy efficiency. 5
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Energy-Efficient Lighting

We have upgraded to energy-efficient LED bulbs at our head office
and also make use of natural light from windows and skylights
during daylight hours. Furthermore, our lighting systems undergo
regular maintenance to ensure optimal performance, and we have
installed dimmable lights and occupancy sensors to adjust lighting
based on room occupancy, thereby reducing unnecessary energy
usage.

Energy-Efficient Appliances

For heating, ventilation, and air conditioning (HVAC), we adjust
system operating hours to match occupancy patterns and leverage
a centralised system that operates only during normal office hours.
We also place desks at strategically determined points, relative to
air-conditioning units, to optimise efficiency.

In addition to lighting and HVAC, we actively pursue energy savings
through appliance upgrades, replacing old appliances with energy-
efficient models to minimise electricity consumption. Moreover, we
prioritise employee education and behavioural changes,
encouraging practices such as turning off lights in unoccupied
rooms and adjusting thermostat settings to conserve energy.

Energy Audits and Monitoring

To ensure continuous improvement, we conduct regular energy
audits to identify areas for efficiency enhancement and closely
monitor energy usage to track progress toward our energy-saving
goals. Additionally, we prioritise building maintenance to ensure
that all systems, including heating, cooling, and lighting, are well-
maintained for optimal efficiency.

Employee Engagement

Employee engagement plays a crucial role in our energy-saving
efforts. We actively involve employees in energy-saving initiatives
and reinforce energy-saving habits through reminders and prompts,
such as using stickers near light switches and sending regular
communications via email and intranet.
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Waste Management

As one of its material topics, the Group has a robust waste
management plan applied to all operations and sites. Our waste
management plan mainly controls daily work activities by focusing
on the following four principles, which are Avoidance, Reduction,
Recycling & Reusing and Disposal.

In the pre-contract phase, we conduct a comprehensive
assessment to identify the types and quantities of waste that may
be generated during the maintenance or project period. This
includes planning for temporary storage of various waste types on-
site to facilitate efficient collection and sorting processes.
Additionally, we develop detailed plans for the handling and
disposal of identified waste, ensuring compliance with relevant
regulations and environmental standards. Strict controls are
implemented to manage the quantity and quality of materials
purchased, minimising the risk of over-purchasing and excess
stocking.

We prioritise waste sorting for recycling purposes prior to disposal,
as a part of our commitment to sustainability. Our waste
management plan ensures that chemical waste is disposed of in full
compliance with regulations, mitigating any potential environmental
risks. Construction waste is diligently managed in accordance with
the Waste Disposal (Charges for Disposal of Construction Waste)
Regulation. It is sent to public fill facilities, sorting facilities, and
landfills that meet regulatory requirements. When outsourcing
waste disposal off-site, we carefully select reputable waste disposal
companies and maintain detailed records, including trip tickets, to
ensure transparent and accountable waste management practices
are followed. A system is developed to record the quantities of
different wastes that are disposed of and a waste management
report is provided to concerned parties on a monthly basis.

EEEY

EREEEZEZ — AEBCERABEANMAES
Mg REEYERTE - BEYEEASIERSB
BEARUTOERAZEHBEEITEES  ZERAE
e md DPRBERREE -

EEHOmMER - HAETEEN S RERIEEEX
HERHEAREENEYEBENEE 2+ 88
EBANERFEFSEEY  URESHNHEEMD
BBAE o Mo RAIBIEFAGERENMEED &R
REY) - R & MEBER LRFRER - RPIEEEAS
ZHERERRBYHNBENEE RERERBE
REMEFBZHNREE

ERBMEAHEERARN B BAMNEERE
Y ATE ST D BIAE B U - R FIRRE Y & IR 5t 81 8
REECEEVEENTARTE  AREETABEENR
BRk ZEBYVREEVRE (REZEERYKE)
MOPETTBRRERE - BRBEVERAETAEEMTE
B R FOER R - 0 BRI SEERR - B0 BIHINE
MERER RMEEREZEEENEYRERR X
REFALE  BHRERRE URFREBERNE
BEENENEEFER RMACHERGLEMEET
REMNHE X8 ARBEBREEYERRS
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The Group is also committed to enhancing awareness of
construction waste recycling practices and promoting sustainable
initiatives throughout our operations. This includes utilising green
cleaning products to reduce environmental impact and encouraging
site teams to carpool for site visits and meetings as a proactive
measure to mitigate our carbon footprint. In addition, we are
actively exploring techniques to minimise construction waste
generated through the offsite prefabrication of completed sections.

AEBETHNESHEEEMDKENNEH X E
BETHERAREZERNGE ETEREERERRE
RERARVERENFZE  YEEIMBRERHRA
BETENERERNEZ  (ERRD BTN EREE
S - AP EFE R R R - LA B35 51 R B 52 B AP

Type of waste Unit 2024 2023
BYER By “EE —E=-=
Non-hazardous construction waste (inert) =32 5EEY) (FBit) Tonnes i 726.74 86.24
Non-hazardous construction waste mEREEYGEBM) Tonnes i

(non-inert) 1,963.30 275.59
Paper consumption R EFEE Tonnesif 1.69 2.35
Paper recycling ok B E TonnesM# 0.17 0.15
Total non-hazardous waste EEEYEE Tonnes & 2,691.56 364.03
Total non-hazardous waste per WESLEHFENESE  Tonnes/project

construction project EYEE W, T8 H 103.52 20.22
Total non-hazardous waste per revenue  ZURZSEHEEEREY  Tonnes/milion

weE dollar
W, B & T 5.07 1.18

The increase in total non-hazardous waste generation is attributed
to a general increase in number of projects for the year with a
particular rise in revenue generated from alteration and addition
projects.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on it
relating to air and GHG emissions, discharges into water and land
and generation of hazardous waste.

Water Utilisation

Due to the nature of our business, the Group has not encountered
any issues in sourcing water. Water consumption is limited to
usage in the office, which is supplied by the owners of the
properties and water used at sites is provided by the customers.
Thus, water usage is considered to have minimal effect on the
Group’s business operations.

The Group is planning to upgrade water faucets in office pantries to
WELS (Water Efficiency Labelling and Standards) Grade No. 1
standards, promoting water conservation and efficiency. Employees
are also encouraged to use filtered drinking water taps as an
alternative to bottled water.

IBI Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023/2024

82

ELNEEEVEAEENDERARFAEEHNELE
IEANFAER - R RZE R INEIA B E AR W g i -

R B EEFE M EER SR ERBEN - MKK
THAESAREEEMNELARABEBREX
TENZEREBERBRARNAEN -

Ak

HREBEEER - AEERBSKIR £ &R
IR - KERRBAERK  BEERKBEYER
THE MBAKkEEPEHE - Bt BKEKER
UAREEXEBLENTEREM -

A BEBIH A EAOKE K BESETHAR E WELS (K
MAZHRITRE) —RITE - LA HKI IR S KK
Ko NEKE TR E TR BB R AKEEN KSR
K o



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE  HERERBHRE

Environment and Natural Resources

The Group has developed an Environmental Aspect Register to
identify and address the impacts of its activities on the environment
and natural resources. Management actions are devised to mitigate
potential environmental impacts. We have implemented robust air
pollution control systems and wastewater treatment procedures
on-site, ensuring compliance with regulatory standards. Site
managers, safety and environmental officers, and foremen are
responsible for conducting site inspections to monitor
subcontractor performance and provide valuable feedback during
the evaluation process.

Environmental Integration in Building Design

We actively support our clients in achieving LEED and BEAM Plus
certifications, demonstrating our steadfast commitment to
sustainability through the completion of certified “Green Building”
projects. In the majority of our renovation projects, we prioritise the
use of sustainable materials such as bamboo and low VOC (Volatile
Organic Compound) paint, adhesives, and finishes as specified by
the clients’ designers. By embracing eco-friendly building materials
and practices, we contribute to the preservation of ecosystems,
conservation of natural resources, and reduction of energy
consumption. This, in turn, results in decreased GHG emissions
and a lower carbon footprint for the built environment. Moreover,
our involvement in numerous projects featuring green walls
showcases our dedication to innovative and environmentally
conscious design solutions.

Case study: CLP Heritage Museum Transformation

Originally constructed in 1940, the CLP Heritage Museum, a
cherished landmark, served as CLP’s headquarters for over seven
decades. Designated as a Grade 1 historic building in 2018, it now
embarks on a new journey to promote heritage, culture and
environmental education for the Hong Kong community. IBl was
awarded the contract to oversee the comprehensive refurbishment
and conversion of the building into a public museum, adopting
environmentally friendly approaches and materials to preserve its
original character. The project includes the creation of lush green
landscaped areas and a hydroponic system for cultivating food sold
in the museum’s canteen. This transformation exemplifies a
harmonious blend of preserving history while fostering sustainability
and community engagement.

BERRARER

AEBECDHERERZECM  ABAIREHEES
HRFEMRKABEROTE - ERERE EREBEN
REXE RMCEHBERARNZERTREHR
R BEKERIEIEF - WHERFTAEE R - MBREHE -
ZERRARIERTHEBEETHERS  UEESE
BHRIR - UEFABEFRHEENER -

BERGFHREES

B PIEIG X 5F F P S LEED & BEAM Plus R @ #i@
ERABENGECEE|EE  EREMEUBEER
MEBEEE ERPAFS>HBHBEEF  BMEL
FERAFEME Sl FRERBEZEEERLEED
(VOC) iR ~ ZhE B R B F R Emam M - &
BEARREEMEANER  BMAARELERLS
MAORAERIB LV EEFEEERER - MR R
EREHEN  WRREREZIRFEAREH o LI - F M
2HEZEAXRBHOBNIEER  BAKRMEEIFH KRR
RETERIR 5 RS o

BT - P EBEXLEEEY

FEEECER - NOTERNK - GFESTERER
BRttF BEERDEWRE BN T —/\FiE
ER—RELZEER BERAFIKE BOHEER
BHENEE XERRREHE - BIERAK B8F
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EEANSBRUAMAREBYEEEHERMIK
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Case study: Adelaide Chambers — A Model of Sustainable
Heritage

In 2022, IBI acquired Adelaide Chambers, a historic landmark in
Dublin dating back to the 18th century. Renovated in the 2000s to
offer Grade A office space while preserving its original features, the
building showcases IBI’'s commitment to sustainable workspaces.
Adelaide Chambers now sources its power from renewable energy
through a Corporate Power Purchase Agreement (CPPA), which
aligns well with our mission to reduce our environmental impact.

OUR PEOPLE
Welfare and Benefits

The Group recognises that its employees are its most valuable
asset and therefore we are committed to providing a
comprehensive welfare and benefits plan to ensure their well-being
and job satisfaction. As outlined in our Human Resources Policy,
our benefits package includes a robust remuneration system,
ensuring timely and accurate payroll processing, participation in the
Mandatory Provident Fund (MPF) scheme, and extensive insurance
coverage. All employees are eligible for the Employees
Compensation Insurance as stipulated by the Employees
Compensation Ordinance. Additionally, our employee medical plan
extends to cover spouses and children of employees after the
probation period, underscoring our commitment to the health and
well-being of our workforce.
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As of 31 March 2024, 27% of the Group’s employees had worked
for over 5 years in the Group.

AR

RZZB-_MF=A=t+—H AEBE221%ETHIK

=

B RFLAL -

% Of Total

Staff Turnover

Employment Details Nos. Staff Rate®
HETHY

ES A A Bk BIRARS

Employment Type EEER
Full Time 28 99 100% 22%
Part-Time B 0 0% 0%
Total #at 99 100%

Gender % 5l
Male B 74 75% 19%
Female i 25 25% 32%
Total #at 99 100%

Age Group F#e4a Rl
18-30 18-30 5% 15 15% 67%
31-40 31-40 8% 35 36% 11%
41-50 41-50 % 30 30% 17%
50 or above 50 7%k A 19 19% 16%
Total #at 99 100%

Geographical Region h 3 B i
Hong Kong &3 94 95% 23%
Macau B P 4 4% 0%
Other H A 1 1% 0%
Total #at 99 100%

Employee Categories EEER
Senior Management SRERRE 7 7% 0%
Middle Management PREEE 20 20% 10%
General Staff —RET 72 73% 28%
Total #at 99 100%

Service period AR 7% & Bf
— Less than 5 Years -5%F R 72 73% 25%
— 5to 10 years -5& 104 7 7% 43%
— Over 10 Years -10F A+ 20 20% 5%
Total #at 99 100%

s The staff turnover rate is calculated by dividing the number of employees ~ ° BTRARZE—BHINFARBE 8 TEHE B UAZESR

leaving employment within the specified category during the year by the

total number of employees within that category.

BB THBGE -
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Our leave policy is designed to cater to the diverse needs of our
employees. In addition to statutory holidays, we offer special paid
leave for marriage, bereavement and paternity, as well as a
comprehensive sick leave policy on medical certification. We also
provide annual leave and accommodate personal and emergency
leave requests, considering the employee’s length of service,
urgency and frequency of absences.

IBI follows a structured and transparent recruitment process.
Department heads initiate personnel acquisitions based on staffing
needs, ensuring selection of suitable candidates. All employment-
related documents are filed and secured, maintaining the highest
standards of confidentiality and compliance. We also emphasise
the continuous development of our employees through regular
training programmes and professional development opportunities.
Our annual performance appraisals are based on open
communication between management and employees, focusing on
objectives and achievements. The appraisal results inform decisions
on salary adjustments and promotions, with the aim of supporting
personal development and improving overall performance.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on it
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination and other benefits and welfare.

Occupational Health and Safety

As a responsible building contractor, IBI places a high priority on
the health and safety of its employees. IBI Limited and IBIl Projects
Limited, subsidiaries of the Company, have achieved ISO
45001:2018 Occupational Health & Safety Management Systems
Certification.

The Group’s safety management systems are comprehensively
outlined in the Company Safety Manual, including its safety and
health policy, responsibilities of safety-related personnel, safety
training, safety inspections, management of safety equipment,
accident investigation, emergency preparedness, assessment and
control of subcontractors, and operation of the Safety Committee,
which fulfil our commitment to the health, safety and security of our
employees on all fronts.

86 IBI Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023/2024

HANKBERREELEEINZHIEL - REER
H5N - MARHEER  RERESERNBHNAHRYE

DR A RRERO R ERBEE - RFOTERMF
B UEERENRBEFE B2RERRDEE
ZHEARES BB ER -

IBIBEEBENMEANRBERRE - BAXTEREAR
FBREREABRE BRIESENKEA AR
BREMBOXHFHEFRELZEZRE  #FRRORF
BRARIZE - RPITRFARBTEREIAEREE
LRBEFERRET - RAMANFERRIGIEE
REEBEEEBT ZHMAFRER BHENERMK
o FAHERAFMAERNS IR RERKE &
SR EAZRLRITEERE -

AEBYBEEREMNREEREHINEERE  BER
B IR BY - FEHE Zal RER
NEEMEFBERENEELSEBRNEATENEH
EREROINER

BERREHEZE

ERBETNEREAEN BtoEREIREEY
& o KA A B A &) IBI Limited 5 IBI Projects Limited &
HR131S0 45001 : 2018 B X RE L 2 EIRBARE -

AEBNRZE2EERSGEARLEFTMP2EMM
BRERZEMEERE Z2HEBEABNBE T2
gl Z2RE  REREEE  FHHE - BERE
DEENFERENARLTE2ZESMNERE ULE
BEBRTHRMAHEIERS HEHEE - Z2 MREMNEGE



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE  HERERBHRE

The Group has clearly defined responsibilities and duties of different
personnel, for ensuring safety in the building construction process.
From the Chief Executive Officer to frontline workers, everyone is
assigned specific duties and tasks, covering various aspects such
as planning, supervision, coordination and training. Compliance
with relevant laws and regulations is mandatory, and all personnel
are required to report regularly on workplace safety and take
necessary measures to mitigate safety risks.

The Group conducts regular and thorough safety audits, including
daily routine inspections, weekly and biweekly inspections, joint
inspections, and external safety audits. These are carried out by
safety officers, site supervisors, project managers, and safety
committees. Safety issues are assessed through interviews and site
visits, and corrective measures are recommended to address
specific hazards, ensuring that safety protocols are effectively
implemented. During the reporting period, the Group did not
encounter any serious violations of laws or regulations related to
maintaining a safe working environment or protecting employees
from occupational hazards that would materially impact the Group.

Occupational Health and

AREBERERETNRABNBE RBE  AREREZE
IBEFNLZE BITHRARZENRET  TAH
WORBERENEL  RERS BB HBAKSE
INEETE - BTHBEERRERBARGINE - 268
BATHHRETESINZE2ER - LRRLEEHE
w2 2 ER

AEBETERRZANL2EZ  BREEBRHITR
L BEMEMBRE BERERINBLE2ERZ -
ZEBEZBHLZEEE WRIE HEKLEMRZEZ
BT ZeMERBEAAMEMRRETIE -
WRBRFRRMCIE GBS ERR  BREZE2MER
UBEBHIT - RBERA ARELEBIEAEKE
BEREGBZETERAIREEILTBENREE
ERAUAEERBNEAZEERIAPNER -

Safety Statistics Unit 2024 2023 2022
BERERZZHT By —E-ME  —ZT—= —E=-=
Number of work-related fatalites ~ TS5 T AE Nos.
AE 0 0 0
Number of lost days due HTEmERN days
to work injury THEXRE RE 424 1,120 378
Number of work injuries 5B R i A Y Nos.
due to work attributable to TaBARK N
subcontractors 3 4 3
Safety Training T2

The Group has set up guidelines for holding comprehensive training
programmes that cover all levels of staff, including IBI staff,
subcontractor staff and visitors. The aim is to enhance the safety
awareness and professional skills of staff at all levels to ensure that
site operations comply with regulatory requirements and company
safety standards. A comprehensive safety training system has been
developed spanning from management strategies to site practices,
regulations, operational skills, risk prevention and control, and to
nurture a culture of safety.

AEBEHIERES  BERREZRE T2 HIFIG
g BEBEI 2EREIRSR BHNERSS
RETITNLZE2ERNEEREE BROBEFTAE
EREMARNRZERE - RAICHEZTEN LRI
FES RETERBEMBRER XK - BIEREE -
BB FER AEES] - A RIFEZ 2L -
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The Group’s skills and safety training courses can be divided into
the following categories:

Safety Management and Supervision Courses

° Designed for project managers or safety officers to enhance
the overall safety management of the project and the ability to
supervise safety on site.

Basic Safety Compliance Training

° All personnel involved in construction are required to
complete the statutory basic safety training for the
construction industry and hold valid certificates to ensure that
they have basic safety knowledge.

Operation Safety Enhancement Training

° For high-risk operations, such as handling and firefighting,
specialised training is provided on handling the relevant
equipment and firefighting operations to reduce specific risks.

Knowledge Dissemination and Awareness Safety Culture Creation
Toolbox

° Weekly meetings to raise employee interest and enhance
awareness through risk assessment and regulatory
education.

Targeted Training for High-risk Operations

° For special areas such as confined spaces, pneumatic tools,
cutting and welding, training is provided through specialised
organisations to impart the requisite skills and ensure health
and safety.
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Development and Training

The Group adheres to the philosophy of “the height of the talent,
the limit of the company” and pays close attention to vocational
skills training and personal development path of its staff. As part of
our commitment to employee growth, outlined in our Development,
Learning, and Training Policy, we encourage participation in diverse
training and development opportunities through our “Training,
Development, and Tuition Reimbursement Programme.” The
Human Resources department collaborates with various business
units across the Group to effectively implement this policy.

IBI covers fees for Continuing Professional Development (CPD)
courses and sponsors both short courses and full degree
programmes, ensuring continuous learning opportunities for
employees. Department heads recommend staff for relevant
courses, aligning with individual career goals and departmental
needs.

R R IE

AEERF(RAZERANATHRINER I ®
PRIE THBERERIIREAAZERRERE - EAR
MEB IR RARN—# D LRERFMNER 2
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Senior Middle General

Male Female = Management  Management Staff

B g3 EREEE hRERE -RET

No. of training hours attended 2 201316 # 479 76 14 69 472

No. of staff attended training E2NMEIETHE 74 25 7 20 72

% of staff attended training E2MEIEIRAK 75% 25% 7% 20% 73%
Average training hours THEEAXIET

completed per trained staff B R IE IR 6.47 3.04 2.00 345 6.56

Prevention of Forced and Child Labour

The Group has formulated a Human Rights and Labour Policy that
emphasises zero tolerance of child and forced labour. It covers
companies, employees, suppliers and subcontractors, ensuring all
employees are employed on a voluntary basis and under conditions
prescribed by law. IBI follows a well-defined hiring process that
stipulates thorough background checks to verify the age and legal
status of all employees and ensures that the workforce is
composed solely of individuals who meet legal employment
standards. In the event that an instance of child or forced labour is
discovered, IBI takes immediate action to rectify the situation,
including termination of employment that violates policy and works
closely with relevant authorities to address the situation.

The Group is not aware of any serious violations of relevant laws
and regulations relating to prevention of child or forced labour
which have a significant impact on it.

OUR OPERATION
Supply Chain Management

IBI employs a comprehensive strategy to identify and manage risks
spanning its entire supply chain, ensuring both operational
efficiency and compliance with relevant regulations. Key measures
include conducting thorough background checks and court
searches on new subcontractors to assess their reliability and legal
standing. In addition, supply chain risk management is an integral
component in the quality control system of the Group.
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Engagement with suppliers is a continuous process at IBI, involving
regular safety meetings and compliance discussions. Prior to the
commencement of a project, IBl arranges meetings with
subcontractors to discuss health, safety, and regulatory
requirements. Subcontractors are required to submit detailed safety
plans and method statements, ensuring all potential hazards are
identified and managed effectively.

To further strengthen supplier relationships, the Group maintains an
internal list of approved subcontractors and engages only those
who meet stringent performance and safety standards. This
selective approach is coupled with ongoing performance
evaluations to ensure subcontractors consistently meet the
Company’s high standards. In the event of non-compliance,
financial penalties and corrective actions are imposed, underscoring
IBI’s commitment to maintaining a safe and efficient supply chain.

As outlined in its Green Procurement Policy, IBI actively promotes
the use of environmentally preferable products and services. We
conduct annual assessments of our suppliers’ environmental and
occupational health performance and non-compliance can
potentially result in contract termination. During these assessments,
suppliers are reminded of the Group’s environmental and social
standards, encouraging sustainable production practices.
Additionally, IBI prioritises purchasing materials from specific
suppliers upon customer request to meet their sustainability
preferences, ensuring procurement aligns with both our
environmental goals and our customers’ priorities.

BIFERMHEREIE PRERALREERERE R
HEIEB AR BT BREETER i mid
FZ2REERE DERLARIHANT 25
B NTERY - RV HRL AR EEMEBERE °

RE-—SEBERHKEANRE  AKRERE —HAR
RANDEEAE YEBATABRBRRENT 2R
ENDEHE - WEBUTZE S ENE R 5
RO BEEFBEEINARANRRE - MBETERBER
IBI 5 & Bz DA BA 15 81 5% S SRER AL IE 48 76 » SRERIBIZR IR
HERZEhSMHHERE -

RIBARERBEE - BRI EE B RRERTRE -
BMEFAAHERERENMBERE T ENRER
ERARERRILAHN RNETHZSNER - HER
SRRBEAEENRENEGEE  UHBARFE
BT VAR © b4 - IBIRIRE - B 5R1E R4 E R &
EREEMH WnTHEARERRRELY  BREBER
ERMMNRERBFENESHELEE -

Number of suppliers by geographical region 2024 2023
R B EHE S W EHEFEE —E-F —F-=
Hong Kong BE 317 334
Mainland China A A i 2 2
Others (USA, Australia, Germany, Netherlands, Hb (3B - BN - =B - B -

France, Canada, Norway) EE - ER - HE) 16 12
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Quality Assurance and Customer Satisfaction

IBI Limited and IBI Projects Limited have obtained ISO 9001:2015
Quality Management Systems Certification. The Group prioritises
customer satisfaction and engages with clients throughout the
project lifecycle, soliciting feedback and making adjustments as
needed. Aligning with our Quality Policy, a structured quality control
process is in place, with checkpoints at key stages to ensure that
the highest standards are met. This includes rigorous inspections
and documentation to help address any necessary recalls or to
take corrective actions. The Group also invests in staff training to
ensure they are proficient in delivering quality work. Regular audits
are conducted to assess and improve the quality management
system.

Staff are required to report any inquiries or complaints to their
supervisors and the same are recorded in the log sheet and are
tracked. Management representative consults with responsible
personnel to determine and implement corrective actions, ensuring
complaints are handled promptly and effectively. During the Year,
the Group did not have any instance of product recall for safety and
health reasons nor were any products or service-related complaints
received.

Data Security

The Group has implemented an IT General Control Policy, which
focuses on email security and related measures. Utilising the
capabilities of Microsoft 365, we employ tools like Data Loss
Prevention (DLP) and Information Rights Management (IRM) to
safeguard sensitive information. Complementing these efforts,
Govern 365 facilitates streamlined data protection processes, while
our stringent security policies, coupled with comprehensive risk
analytics and relevant KPIs, ensure the protection of intellectual
property (IP) rights.

In addition, data retention and privacy controls embedded in Office
applications ensure strict adherence to global compliance
standards. We continuously monitor and enforce customer privacy
policies, subject to regular evaluation against tender requirements
and data subject consent protocols. The Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to services
provided and methods of redress during the reporting period.
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Anti-corruption

At IBI, we are committed to maintaining the highest standards of
integrity and ethical conduct in all our business dealings. An Anti-
fraud and Whistle-blowing Policy is in place to ensure we are able
to prevent, detect, and address any form of corruption or fraudulent
activities. The policy defines fraud comprehensively, including
bribery, kickbacks, embezzlement, and other corrupt practices. We
have established a set of procedures that guide our employees on
the behaviour expected of them and the consequences of engaging
in corrupt activities. Where fraud is confirmed, we take corrective
actions, including disciplinary measures against the violators, to
ensure such incidents do not recur.

We recognise the critical role that whistleblowers play in upholding
our commitment to integrity. Employees who report suspected
fraud or corruption are protected from retaliation. We provide a
confidential reporting mechanism, and all information received is
treated with the utmost confidentiality. Investigations are conducted
discretely and the identity of the whistleblower is protected to the
extent possible.

The Board is responsible for policy review and formal fraud risk
evaluations, ensuring robust controls for risk mitigation. Department
heads assess fraud risks within their areas and report material risks
to the Board for action. We are actively applying for the ICAC’s
“Business Sector Integrity Charter”. As part of this initiative, our
management team will be participating in the required training
sessions. During the reporting period, there were no legal cases
regarding corruption.
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Giving Back to the Community

IBI is committed to community engagement and fulfilling its
corporate social responsibility and actively contributes to the
betterment of society through various initiatives and channels. Our
Community Engagement Policy encourages all employees to
actively participate in community engagement activities and support
our efforts to build strong and lasting community relationships.
During the reporting period, our focus areas of contribution were as
follows.

Charity Donations

We donated HK$10,000 to Pok Oi Hospital, supporting their vital
healthcare services. Additionally, we sponsored the Zubin
Foundation’s fundraising dinner, raising HK$30,000 to empower
ethnic minority women through degree courses and other initiatives.

Educational Support Programmes

In partnership with educational institutions, we provided degree
courses and internship opportunities to three students from the
Hong Kong Institute of Vocational Education (IVE) programme and
three university students, nurturing their talents and potential.
Moreover, we sponsored five young women and have also provided
an internship opportunity for one of them to work in our office.
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APPENDICES Ff 8%

Applicable Laws and Regulations BRZERZER

Aspect Applicable Laws and Regulations Compliance Status
B BREERER ABRMR
Environment Environmental Impact Assessment Ordinance (Cap. 499) The Group was not aware of

Hong Kong Planning Standards and Guidelines

Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311)

Hong Kong Air Quality Objectives

Air Pollution Control (Construction Dust) Regulation (Cap. 311R)
Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358)

Water Quality Objectives

Summary Offences Ordinance (Cap. 228)

Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance (Cap. 59)
Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354)

Public Cleansing and Prevention of Nuisance (Regional Council)
By-law (Cap. 132BJ)

Public Health and Municipal Services Ordinance (Cap. 132)
Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General) Regulations (Cap.
354C)

Practice Note for Authorised Persons, Registered Structural

Engineers and Registered Geotechnical Engineers 144: Control of

Environmental Nuisance from Construction Sites (August 1997)
RIE CRIBRZEFTEERN) (8B 499%F)

BB R ENFE AR

(ERIGRE RGO (E311F)

BEEREZEE

(ERFALES GRETIZER) RO (E3NRE)

ORBRE DI (55 358 &)

BIKKE IR

(S SIRFIAFRIENI) (F228%)

(IR TELEEN)(FE9EF)

CEEVIRE G (F3654F)

(RRRFR L # (BEgMESD) WH) (E132BJE)

(AREERTBUER) (F132F)

CEEYIRIE (L2EY) (—RR) #01) ($354C &)

RAIAT -~ i aEE TR R s+ TRAEXREZ RS

144 - BHIZEMBEIRINEXNNZE (—ANEFNA)

any non-compliance with
laws and regulations related
to air and GHG emissions,
discharges into water and
land and generation of
hazardous waste that could
have a significant impact on
its operations during the
reporting period.
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HE

Aspect Applicable Laws and Regulations Compliance Status
fEmH BRAEERER ARAMR
Employment Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance and the Construction The Group was not aware of
Site (Safety) Regulations in Hong Kong any non-compliance with
General Regulation of Working Safety and Hygiene in the laws and regulations related
Construction Industry in Macau to employment, occupational
Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong health and safety that could
Labour Relations Law in Macau have a significant impact on
its operations during the
reporting period.
= EEBERE LRGN RCGEEME (Z2) R AN 5 B 7E e BRI S R
BPICGHE TITE TER 2 BE 4 3 AR EEREER  BERE
HEEEFEED) kZe2BHABHEESEN
RSB ERFIER) BEAXEERMROINE
e
Supply Chain Supply of Services (Implied Terms) Ordinance (Chapter 457 of the ~ The Group was not aware of
Management Laws of Hong Kong) any non-compliance with
laws and regulations related
to supply chain management
that could have a significant
impact on its operations
during the reporting period.
HERER (AR R (B2 1ERF0 501 (BB IEDIE 467 F) N SETRCS R AN A SIS

EfEREHREREIEHREE
AR HEZBRERY
E0ERRRPINIBER

Data Privacy

BRI

Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the Laws of
Hong Kong)

CEAE B (RLER) &0 (BBIEDISE 486 F)

The Group was not aware of
any non-compliance with
laws and regulations related
to supply chain management
that could have a significant
impact on its operations
during the reporting period.
AN 5% B 7E e BRI S AR
EEREHEEEIRFA
Hrge HiES %Wiﬁw
EH)EERBRNIER

Anti-corruption

REF

Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong
Kong)

CB7 LR R 160D (BIREDIF 201 )

The Group was not aware of
any non-compliance with
laws and regulations related
to anti-corruption that could
have a significant impact on
its operations during the
reporting period.
REBEEREHAIL T E
&ﬂé&ﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂT
RRHHBELBREATEN
&@&ﬁﬂm\ﬂo
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HONG KONG STOCK EXCHANGE ESG

REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX

ERBXFTESGHREESIRBREIR

ESG Aspects Description Sections
ESGEH Rt BH
Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

BRERERE

Governance Structure A statement from the board containing the following elements: SUSTAINABILITY

(i) a disclosure on the Board’s oversight of ESG issues;

(i) the Board’s ESG management approach and strategy,
including the process used to evaluate, prioritise and
manage material ESG-related issues (including risks to the
issuer’s businesses); and

(i) how the Board reviews progress made against ESG-related
goals and targets with an explanation of how they relate to
the issuer’s businesses.

HEFSHELNER EHhHAATIAE:

() HEEFSHESGEENEE:

(i) H=HEHESGEIEFH KER - BENE - EXYIIRE
BEENESCGHEBEE (BEEETAEBNRER) 698
TENE

(i) FEFEMMEIRESG IR B R EE
BITANEGBBE -

- WHRREE a0 (e 2

GOVERNANCE — Board
Statement

Stakeholder Engagement
and Materiality

AREE L -—EFESEH

RNESLERERM

Reporting Principles

EE R R B

A description of, or an explanation of the application of the
following Reporting Principles in the preparation of the ESG report:

Materiality: The ESG report should disclose: (i) the process to
identify and the criteria for the selection of material ESG factors; (i)
if a stakeholder engagement is conducted, a description of
significant stakeholders identified, and the process and results of
the issuer’s stakeholder engagement.

ol S AR R AR ESG RS B 0] FE A T 51/ BE SRR A

ERM ESGHMEREWE  ()BHEZESGR RN B REE
BELRERER: (NBETACETHNEL2RE  CAFINE
ERNENELRBTAFNEL2ENBERES

To keep up with the fast
pace of global and local
sustainability developments,
IBI conducts a stakeholder
survey that assesses the
concerns of internal and
external stakeholders. From
the surveys, we have
developed a deep
understanding of the topics
material to IBI, and ensured
that these topics have been
addressed in this report.

AR 2 BRI #b A 45 48 B
BRRELSK - BIFEZ®D
EHPAE - LAFHA R BRI SN 3D
BHENET - BARE
BADFEABRAR R IBI B B AE

PSS  WHERERRE
PRIBEZERE -
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ESG Aspects
ESG EH

Description

P

Sections

1]

Quantitative: Information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions and/or calculation tools used, and source of
conversion factors used, for the reporting of emissions/energy
consumption (where applicable) should be disclosed.

Bt FRAERENE SURER (WER) AmEE - 7% -

BRE/ R ETANER - bR AT 0 H %0 E 2 6 FOR
FHE -

Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG report any
changes to the methods or KPIs used, or any other relevant
factors affecting a meaningful comparison.

—HM  BITABEESGHRETREMAN ERBREVER
MEE (A EMEMFEEERLBNABRASE -

Whenever applicable, the
report discloses historical
and current KPIs for FY2023
and 2024. Through a direct
comparison of year-on-year
data, the effectiveness of the
Group’s ESG management
approach may be gauged.
MEENEE_ZT_—0F
MZZE—NHFHNELNE
RIBASRAE IR IR - BBR L
BBEOERLR - AINEE
REEBESGER T EHRIAAR
Unless explicitly mentioned,
the data calculation
methodologies for all derived
figures are consistent with
our 2023 ESG Report, thus
allowing for direct
comparison.

BRIEFRFER & - BRIFAAE DT
FHFBBTE AR
HAH( =T —=FESGTR
H)—E AR AR EE
TR o

Reporting Boundary

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report
and describing the process used to identify which entities or
operations are included in the ESG report. If there is a change in
the scope, the issuer should explain the difference and reason for
the change.

ABOUT THIS REPORT
— Reporting Boundary

M ¥R & = FREESGHE M IEMREBE - MBI LB B XA BARARE — EREBE
ESGHEMBIE - EERBERINE  HITAREESLRZ
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ESG Aspects and KPIs Description

ESGEH R BEREX

BR

P

Sections

0]

A. Environmental
A. RiE

Aspect A1: Emissions

EBEAL.HERY
General Disclosure

—RWE

KPI'A1.1

PR A IR R AL

KPI'A1.2

FRERAE IR IR AL.2

KPI'A1.3

FASEMIEIRALS
KPIA1.4

FAREMIEIRALA
KPI A1.5

FRERAEIRIRA1.5

KPI'A1.6

PR AAMIERAL6

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into

water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous

waste.

FHERAZEREEN  MKRTHMOET  EEREERE

EYMHELSH

(@ HE: R

() BFHBTABERTENHBZEZERRAOINE -

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

BEm e R AR B EUR -

Direct (Scope 1) and indirect energy (Scope 2) greenhouse gas
emissions and intensity.

ER(EE1) AR (BE)ERAERBHNENRTE -

Total hazardous waste produced and intensity.

EXAEREVRENTE -
Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity.

ELEEREZEVEENTE -

Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

R PTETZEVBEME B IR R RESIE L B IRATERERA 88 -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

HlEEIE B E MEEEEYN L - REMPAEI A RE R R
N Rz R 5 B AR P EREREY 28R -

OUR ENVIRONMENT

APPENDICES — Applicable
Laws and Regulations

HPIEIRE
BiEk — BAIERIOER

OUR ENVIRONMENT —
Tackling Climate Change

OUR ENVIRONMENT —
Waste Management
RFHEE - ENRRE
it

BAIHIRE — BIREY)
OUR ENVIRONMENT —
Tackling Climate Change
BMHIRE — ERIRE
it

The Group did not produce
any hazardous waste during
the reporting period.
REBERRERAIL EESE
ERI A EREY

OUR ENVIRONMENT —
Waste Management
BAIHIRE — BIREY)
OUR ENVIRONMENT —
Tackling Climate Change
BMHIRE — B RIEE
s

OUR ENVIRONMENT —
Waste Management

BANERE — BEED
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ESG Aspects and KPIs Description

ESGEH M BERENX
BR

S

Sections

B

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

[EE A2. EiREMA

General Disclosure

— R E

KPI A2.1
B AE ISR A2.1

KPI'A2.2

RS A MIEIRA2.2

KPI'A2.3

PR A ISR A2.3

KPI' A2.4

PR A MIERA2.4

KPI' A2.5

PR A IR IR A2.5

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water
and other raw materials.

BHERER(BREER - KREAMRERT ) HBER -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and
intensity.

BEREDNEE R SRELERERERTE -

Water consumption in total and intensity.

BREKEREE -

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.

R PRET L ) BE IR AR B AR M R RE Lk B IR PR ERER Y 2258 -
Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is

fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

SR EUGE A 7KR LRI BRI R - AR FTRT 326 7Kk B
BRREIELBEARRNISE -

Total packaging material used for finished products and with
reference to per unit produced.

HEmATAERMHNBERBEESUIGE -

OUR ENVIRONMENT

APPENDICES — Applicable
Laws and Regulations

HAPIEIRE

Mex — @RERRER
OUR ENVIRONMENT —
Tackling Climate Change
BAIHIRE — EARIRE
1t

Due to the business nature
of the Group, water
consumption is not
considered material to the
Group’s operation.
BRAEENEBEE R
R RAKEERRABHAEHE
LBEWIEE o

OUR ENVIRONMENT —
Tackling Climate Change
BAIHIRE — B RIRE
1t

The Group has not identified
any issues in sourcing water.

Due to the business nature
of the Group, water
consumption is not
considered material to the
Group’s operation.
REERES KR I 2%
R RE -

HRAEENEBILEE®
R RAKEERABHAEHE
LBEWIEE o

Due to the business nature
of the Group, packaging
material generation is not
considered material to the
Group’s operation.

BN EENEBEE R
N EEBREMEREAY
AEELEBENTEE -
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ESG Aspects and KPIs
ESGEHEKBAREN
BE

HE

Description

P

Sections

0]

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EBHEA3. RERKXARER
General Disclosure

—RmE
KPI A3.1

FAR A MIE R ASA

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.
MIEETAHRRERRAERERNERTENBER
Description of significant impacts of activities on the environment
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

BB EDUBERRADRNEAY ERCRNEREH
PENTH -

OUR ENVIRONMENT

BMEIRE

OUR ENVIRONMENT —
Environment and Natural
Resources

HMIMIRE — IREBERKRA
&R

Aspect A4: Climate Change

EHA4. RIZEt
General Disclosure

—RIEE

KPI A4.1

8 52 48 IR Z A4 A

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-

related issues which have impacted, and those which may impact,

the issuer.
nak%IJ&JE;TEZ<<< AREEHETAELEXENERRIRIEHESE
HRBE

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

MMEE LA SHBETAELATENERRBREBREE - &
FEXI1TE -

OUR ENVIRONMENT —
Tackling Climate Change

HTPHIRE — EER
1t

OUR ENVIRONMENT —
Tackling Climate Change

1 ,,,,,,

BAHRE — B RIRE
e
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ESG Aspects and KPIs Description Sections
ESGEE K BEEX

R it =11

B. Social

B. &

Aspect B1: Employment

EmB1. EE

General Disclosure

— R E

KPI'B1.1

RS A ISR BT
KPIB1.2

FAR A MIE 1R B1.2

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and

promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,

diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

BHFMkEE BEREN THERE - RY TSR

Z At~ RIEAR DA B B 15 36 o A8 Y

@ BWE: R

) BEFTHBTAFEARZEZNHEBEERRRANER

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and

geographical region

MR EEED  FRARRMES SNESEH -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical

region.

BRI Fiemp MBS D WEE MK E -

OUR PEOPLE — Welfare
and Benefits

APPENDICES — Applicable
Laws and Regulations

BAWME T — & RFs
ek — BRI RFOER

OUR PEOPLE — Welfare
and Benefits

HKMWE LT — @F L8
OUR PEOPLE — Welfare
and Benefits

BB T — & RFs

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

BHEB2. RFEHEZE
General Disclosure

—REE

KPI B2.1

RS A IBIEB2.1

KPI B2.2

FARAE IR B2.2

KPI B2.3

FAEAE AIR1IR B2.3

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting

employees from occupational hazards.

FHERELZETIHERSERRBEEERABELLEEN

(a HE: R

(o) BFHBEITABERATEZNMBERRBANER

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the

past three years including the reporting year.

BE=ZF (BRERFE) BFRATUHMABKLE -

Lost days due to work injury.

ATEEATIIERE -

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

WO TR R R R 2 - URBERTRERITE -

OUR PEOPLE —
Occupational Safety and
Health

APPENDICES — Applicable
Laws and Regulations

HFMEL — BERRR
o

Migx — @A RIER
OUR PEOPLE —
Occupational Safety and
Health

HBFMEL — BERRR
Z3

OUR PEOPLE —
Occupational Health and
Safety

HFMBEL — BERRR
Z3

OUR PEOPLE —
Occupational Health and
Safety

HFMBEL — BERRR

ZE
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ESG Aspects and KPIs Description Sections
ESGEHEKBAREN

BE it =6

Aspect B3: Development and Training

BT B3. R RiE

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for OUR PEOPLE —

—RmE
KPI B3.1

BSR4 IR 1R B3.1
KPI B3.2

FA#R AE M 1E B3.2

discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
BRI EEBITIIERBE N AB R RAEHBUR - fsIEs -
The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category.

RUERREEEMNESPNXIEEAD L -

The average training hours completed per employee by gender
and employee category.

HERIREEERE D - BHEETAZ I FIEFE -

Development and Training
BMWETL — #EEEI
OUR PEOPLE —
Development and Training
BMHET — R &IEI
OUR PEOPLE —
Development and Training

BB T — ZR&IEI

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

[EEB4. & T#A|

General Disclosure

—RWE

KPI B4.1
BB AR G 1R B4.1
KPI B4.2

FAR A ISR B4.2

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BREP L E Telo s T

(@ HE: R

() BFHBITABERTENHBZEZERRAOINEH -

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid
child and forced labour.
R RIS E MR e AR & T RoRHI& T o

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.

W IRERBREER B BB AT R 25 -

OUR PEOPLE — Prevention
of Forced and Child Labour

APPENDICES — Applicable
Laws and Regulations
BMMETI — Biiksa$ls
IRET

Migx — ERERRER
OUR PEOPLE — Prevention
of Forced and Child Labour
RFIHBE L — [H1EaE &
IRET

OUR PEOPLE — Prevention
of Forced and Child Labour
BB T — Byibsahlss
IRET
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ESG Aspects and KPIs Description

ESGEH M BERENX
BR

S

Sections

B

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[ETEB5. AEHEERE
General Disclosure

—RmE
KPI B5.1

BSR4 IR 1R BS. 1
KPI B5.2

BRI 1R B5.2

KPI B5.3

FAE2AE AIR1R B5.3

KPI B5.4

B iR 48 IR 1R B5.4

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply
chain.

ERHEENRE R GRMBBGE

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

iR B HEREAE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

e R Rt EENIED - MERTAEBEMNNHERZRE -

ARABBEIMITRERTE -

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

M EBEHEES ARG RREREERARNED - AR
HEERITRERTTE

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

e TERE BRI R (R % AIRIRE m KRB AVE D] - A KRR
BT RER A -

OUR OPERATION — Supply
Chain Management

B EE — HEEER
OUR OPERATION — Supply
Chain Management
BAMEE — fEEER
OUR OPERATION — Supply
Chain Management

B EE — HEEEE

OUR OPERATION — Supply
Chain Management

BRmeE — HERER

OUR OPERATION — Supply
Chain Management

B EE — HEEEE
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HE

ESG Aspects and KPIs Description

ESGEH R BEREX
BR

P

Sections

0]

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

B B6. EMmEE
General Disclosure

—RWE

KPI B6.1

FA R AR W 1R B6.1

KPI B6.2

BB AR IS 15 B6.2
KPI B6.3

FASAE 515 B6.3
KPI B6.4

PSR E 515 B6.4
KPI B6.5

B A I 1R B6.5

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy

matters relating to products and services provided and methods of

redress.

BHEFREERNMRENRERELZ D
VA R 38 7 A Y
@ BxX: X
() BFHBETARERTEZNHBEZRRBANER

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for
safety and health reasons.
PEHDEXERAHEPRLT 2 EERIEHMARKNBED T -

Number of products and service related complaints received and
how they are dealt with.

BREBNERSMRBORFREARBETTE -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights.
Rt g LRI BEEBBONEY -

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

il E i E B2 NEmEWIRFF

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and
how they are implemented and monitored.
RAUEBEERRERILBBE - URAEBRITRERTA -

OUR OPERATION— Quiality
Assurance and Customer
Satisfaction

OUR OPERATION — Data
Security

APPENDICES — Applicable
Laws and Regulations
BMNEE — BEERER
EPmEE
B EE — 8L
Mgk — @A RIER
OUR OPERATION— Quality
Assurance and Customer
Satisfaction

MM EE — BEERER
EPmEE

OUR OPERATION— Quality
Assurance and Customer
Satisfaction

B2 E - GEBREN

EPmEE

OUR OPERATION — Data
Security
BMWEE — 8% se

OUR OPERATION — Quality
Assurance and Customer
Satisfaction

TP EE — BEERE
EPREE

OUR OPERATION — Data
Security

BPIEE — BELE
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ESG Aspects and KPIs Description

ESGEH M BERENX

BR

S

Sections

B

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

EEB7. RES
General Disclosure

—REE

KPI B7.1

RASAE ISR BT A
KPI B7.2

RASE AR WIBIZE BT .2
KPI B7.3

PR A WIS 1R B7.3

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BRABIEFEES - 9R - HGEFOE R

(a HBX: XK

) BETFTHBITAFTERZENBBEZERRRANER

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices

brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting

period and the outcomes of the cases.

RERARNEETASHEBRBTEEENESHFLRGHN

A RFDRESR -

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing

procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

e R RBREF URBEERITRERTE -

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and

staff.

fHimEERETRHENREFE -

OUR OPERATION — Anti-
corruption

APPENDICES — Applicable
Laws and Regulations
BMNEE — RES

Misk — @RI KER
OUR OPERATION — Anti-
corruption

BPImEE - RES

OUR OPERATION — Anti-
corruption

BPNEE — RE)S
OUR OPERATION — Anti-
corruption

BMNEE — RES

Aspect B8: Community Investment

EEBS. #tE&R &
General Disclosure
— MR R

KPI B8.1

FASEAE M 515 B8
KPI B8.2

FRERAE AIR15 B8.2

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of
the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.
FRAUMHELER TREEMEMEFTENRREEZKEDE
Z AT R A S B EOR ©

Focus areas of contribution.

HIEREE -
Resources contributed to the focus area.

EEIREMHHENR

OUR OPERATION— Giving
Back to the Community

B EE — ERit R

OUR OPERATION— Giving
Back to the Community
M E — it
OUR OPERATION— Giving
Back to the Community
B EE — DR
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|IBDO

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
IBl GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of IBI Group
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the
“Group”) set out on pages 114 to 196, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

3(1BI GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
FIL AR 3R
(RALESEMAKL B RAF])

=z
=

EELEEEZE114E 196 B FT#1BI Group Holdings
Limited ([E AR REMB AR (SEIEEE]) A4
AUBRE EhEER - -_NE=A=+—HH
BREVMBRARESEZALEFENGAGEBEREM
PHWER HREEREPRRGEHEENERZNAR
REVBHREANT  BREERSTHEER -

BERA GAHBRRCREEERHAAR(E
BEH AR BHOBTBYBRE LN (HEHE
HEEH)ARATHRN BEER-FT-mE=
A= +—RHGAHBRRARBER A LERENE
AHBERRGARSHE  LEEBEBEDAKED
MBBREEARE -

I

L RER

il

EERBEBESAMASHRMNTERTER(EE
BAFEADETEZ ERFENT  BEENAECE
BENRENZBE R ERRA VBRI AENEE]
—EE— SR - REBEFE G ASN(EES D
BRERSADATRD  HEEBYR E5E WO ER
SHBETHMBRET BEFHE BEFMESE
BREETELEENAESNE L RMER -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Recognition of contract revenue

Refer to Notes 4(i)(i), 5() and 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group recognised revenue from provision of renovation
services as a main contractor for property projects in the private
sector in Hong Kong and Macau (“Contracting”) of approximately
HK$516,808,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Group recognises revenue from Contracting according to the
Group’s management’s estimation of the total outcome of the
construction contracts as well as the percentage of completion of
the Contracting which requires the estimation of contract costs of
each contract. Contract costs of individual contracts are
determined based on budget of the contract which was prepared
by the management. The recognition of revenue and the estimation
of the outcome of construction contracts require significant
management judgement, in particular with respect to estimating the
cost to complete and the amounts of variations and claims to be
recognised.

Our response:

Our procedures in relation to management’s recognition of contract
revenue included:

° Comparing contract sum and budgeted contract costs to
respective signed contracts and approved budgets on a
sample basis;

° Discussing with the management of the Group and testing
the supporting evidence to evaluate the reasonableness of
the management’s estimation of the budgeted contract
costs;

IBI Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023/2024
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° Checking the existence and valuation of variations to
correspondences with customers on a sample basis;

° Obtaining an understanding from management of the Group
about how the approved budgets were prepared and the
respective stage of completion were determined; and

° Testing contract cost incurred to date and budget contract
costs to underlying supporting evidence, on a sample basis.

Valuation of investment property

Refer to Notes 4(c), 5(iii) and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had an investment property of
approximately HK$113,176,000. Investment property is measured
at cost on initial recognition, and thereafter is carried at fair value,
with any changes therein recognised in profit or loss. During the
year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recognised a fair value loss
on its investment properties of approximately HK$10,135,000. The
valuation of investment property involves significant judgement and
estimates and is underpinned by a number of key assumptions.
The Group carries out a valuation of its investment property by
using the income capitalisation approach. To assist management in
this area which involves significant judgements and estimates, the
Group engaged an independent valuation firm to perform the
property valuation.

We identified the valuation of investment property as a key audit
matter because of its significance to the consolidated financial
statements and because the valuation of investment property can
be inherently subjective and requires significant judgement.

s MERTHEFTFPHNHERZBERLEHMMGEE:

. m EEETEETROARREH RS R
ETHEW%&'

o WMERALSDELNAXNKAREREEZE

[]

BEEHKA -
BREWENGE
B2 E P IERERMTEE4() ~ 5(i) 218 °
RIZE-_NF=A=+—H  E£EEEREMEY

113,176,000 7T © 1% & ) 3 10 & X R B IE A AN 5T
£ EBERAFENE  EPTMEFSHINIERER -
REE-TZ-_NF-ZA=+—HLFE BEEEER

HEREMEN QN TFEEIEA10,1350008 7 » & Y
E¥NFHESRERAB KRG WAE THEREBRA

At - EEBRBREENMEEHEREYEETHE
B - AWBERERIES RERHE REFTEL - &
EEEZEBUGEATETMEME -

BEERREVENGHERES —HBAREFFZTE R
AREUGAMBHRRAFEAESE  BREMEN
[ERFAIEFETIBERRLAFELERHE
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Our response:

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment property
included:

° Evaluating the independent valuation firm’s competence,
expertise and objectivity;

° Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology
used by management and the independent valuation firm;

° Reviewing and challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions and critical judgement areas which underpin the
fair value estimation;

o Engaging an auditor’s expert to assist us to assess the
appropriateness of the valuation methodology and the
reasonableness of the inputs, assumptions and estimation
used by management and the independent valuation firm
which underpin the fair value estimation; and

° Checking on a sample basis, the accuracy and the relevance
of the input data used in the valuation.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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EXARERBEESHMASEMNTEV @RS
A RBERBGINFERERBUEE R RBR
BRANGEEMBERE  LETHREGSVBERRE
VENBAANMER WEZEHEMBRERIEF
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

112

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

IBI Group Holdings Limited
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° obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, action taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Ho Yee Man
Practising Certificate number: PO7395

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meBEakEtEZEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—T_MFE=FA=+—HIFFEF

2024 2023
—E-WE —ZEZ=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHExT FHIT
Revenue & 7 530,582 307,821
Other (losses)/gains Hi (F8), W 7 (3,336) 696
Revenue and other (losses)/gains Uazs K EAth (548), /W25 527,246 308,517
Direct costs BEEKAE (480,433) (272,213)
Gross profit EF 46,813 36,304
Other income HAn g A 8 977 3,017
Change in fair value of investment property &M EH A FEEH 18 (10,135) (2,437)
Administrative and other operating TR REMEEHRT
expenses (30,666) (80,780)
Finance costs B & R AR 9 (4,368) (2,245)
Profit before income tax expense & P85 B X AR 10 2,621 3,859
Income tax expense it 11 (2,320) (1,4093)
Profit for the year FAREF 301 2,456
Profit for the year attributable to: Ll T A = FE{5 & REA :
— Owners of the Company — RAREHEE A 350 2,800
— Non-controlling interests — R (49) (344)
301 2,456
Other comprehensive income, HihBEA2EBA
after tax
Items that may be reclassified HEf B 7 EEEm
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on REBINETSE EE N E
translation of foreign operations (223) 637
Other comprehensive income FREM2EKRA
for the year (223) 637
Total comprehensive income FREEKBAEE
for the year 78 3,093
Total comprehensive income DMTATEEZEBALLE:
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company — NARHEA A 127 3,437
— Non-controlling interests — eI R (49) (344)
78 3,093
Earnings per share: SREF :
Basic and diluted (HK Cents) BN EE GBI 14 0.0 0.3
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI &
As at 31 March 2024
R—E—pF=H=4+—H

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FHExT T T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment E ] 15 129 486
Right-of-use assets FRESE 16 4,174 1,721
Financial assets at fair value through BEAVEFABENESRMEE
profit or loss 17 6,663 9,999
Investment property LA 18 113,176 124,633
Prepayment B FIE 20 2,754 -
Total non-current assets EMEEERE 126,896 136,839
Current assets REBEE
Contract assets BHEE 19 209,580 89,611
Trade and other receivables B 5 R H A FE Y FRIE 20 38,498 19,089
Property under development ERPYE 21 10,956 10,943
Inventories FE 444 480
Pledged deposits [REZEiLEEN 22 13,407 6,486
Tax recoverable A U B F I8 48 371
Cash and cash equivalents HekREEEY 21,105 58,870
Total current assets MBEELE 294,038 185,850
Current liabilities REBAE
Contract liabilities aHaE 19 - 492
Trade and other payables B 5 K E M ENFIE 23 173,908 76,141
Lease liabilities HEAR 25 2,580 1,759
Bank borrowings RITER 24 23,520 19,333
Tax payables FEST R IE 1,848 634
Total current liabilities mENBEAE 201,856 98,409
Net current assets REBEEFE 92,182 87,441
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTBHERE 219,078 224,280
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEAR 25 1,759 -
Bank borrowings RITER 24 54,477 61,516
Total non-current liabilities EMB B FERE 56,236 61,516
NET ASSETS EEFE 162,842 162,764
Capital and reserves BARR S
Share capital &N 26 8,000 8,000
Reserves HE 156,098 155,971
Equity attributable to owners EATEEAELER
of the Company 164,098 163,971
Non-controlling interests AR = (1,256) (1,207)
TOTAL EQUITY DB 162,842 162,764
On behalf of directors RERES
Neil David HOWARD Steven Paul SMITHERS
Director Director
EFE EF
IBI Group Holdings Limited 115
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEmBER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE T -—WFE=A=+—HIFFE

At 1 April 2022 W-B--#MmA-A 8,000 73,613 (13511) 100,432 - 168,534 (863) 167,671
Profit for the year FREH - - - 2,800 - 2,800 (344) 2,456
Other comprehensive income At RENA
— Exchange differences on - BESNEBNELER
translation of foreign operations - - - - 637 637 - 637
Total comprehensive income ERZANALE
for the year . . S 28W 637 3,437 Bay 3003
Dividend declared and paid (Note 13) 2Bk MR &8 (H5513) - - - (8,000) - 8,000) - (8,000
At 31 March 2023 RZE-ZEZf=1-R 8,000 73,613 (13511) 95,232 637 163,971 (1,207) 162,764
Profit for the year EREF - - - 350 - 350 (49) 301
Other comprehensive income E2ERA
— Exchange differences on - BEBNEBNRLER
translation of foreign operations - - - - (223) (223 - (223
Total comprehensive income ERRENAEE
for the year - - - 350 (223 127 (49 78
Dividend declared and paid (Note 13)  EE & k(TR & (F5£13) - - - - - - - -
At 31 March 2024 KRZB-ME=A=1-H 8,000 73,613 (13511) 95,582 414 164,098 (1,256) 162,842
Notes: BisL
(i)  Share premium (i) B3 E=E
Share premium account of the Group represents the excess of the AEERMDEEREMIBFEBEHARRSETRNOE
proceeds received over the nominal value of the Company’s shares BHED ©
issued.
(i) Merger reserve (i) BOHR#E
The merger reserve represents the difference between the investment AHREENHBRARMIEER REAREEE THEAR
costs in subsidiaries and the nominal value of the issued share capital of BEEITRAEmEZBHESE -

the Group’s subsidiaries.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFFZF

2024 2023
—E-mE —E_=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
=g FHExT T
Cash flows from operating activities K& ZHREHRE
Profit before income tax expense B B 15 B S Bl A 2,621 3,859
Adjustments for: AT FIBFE
Depreciation of property, M BEREETE
plant and equipment 429 561
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TRREAENE 2,555 2,581
Net fair value losses/(gains) on LA ER ABR
financial assets at fair value through (A FEFAERDH
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) TREECATE
B8, (W) F 5 3,336 (696)
Change in fair value of investment property & #% N FEEZH) 10,135 2,437
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEAEOTERX 147 203
Interest expenses on bank borrowings RITE AT B 4,221 2,042
Interest income B A (912) (328)
Write off of inventories GFEME 3 113
Write down of inventories GFEMR 17 -
Operating profit before working LEEGEFAELE
capital changes 22,552 10,772
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets AHEEEMN, R (119,969) 10,528
Decrease in contract liabilities aERBERD (492) (3,580)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and B 5 Rk H b FE Y IR
other receivables (3gm),mL (19,413) 9,554
Increase in properties under development 2% & FR ¥ 5 12 A0 (13) (693)
Decrease in inventories FERL 16 11
Increase/(decrease) in trade and 2 5 R H A FER A
other payables (3gm),mL 98,561 (60,224)
Cash used in operations KEFMARS (18,758) (33,632)
Income tax paid BIFEH (835) (6,745)
Net cash used in operating activities E& ZEFAHR L FHE (19,593) (40,377)
Cash flows from investing activities REZEHLSHRE
Purchase of property, BEWE  BEMEE
plant and equipment (72) (123)
Additions of investment property AL - (125,319)
Withdrawal of pledged deposits IRIAEBFR 6,672 14,257
Placement of pledged deposits GEABEBEFR (13,593) (5,893)
Prepayment for enhancement of RARE YR TER FRIB
investment property (2,769) -
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL BERAFETABEN
TREE - (10,002)
Proceeds from disposal of financial HER AT EFABEN
assets at FVTPL TREEZENIEA - 16,761
Interest received =R ES) 912 328
Net cash used in investing RETEAMARS FE
activities (8,850) (109,991)

IBI Group Holdings Limited 117
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—T_MFE=FA=+—HIFFEF

2024 2023
—E-MF —ZEZ=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 FHExT FHIT
Cash flows from financing activities BEEZEHLSRE
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITERFTEFIA 31 20,000 80,510
Repayment of bank borrowings EEIRITER 31 (22,217) (510)
Repayment of principal element of EBEEHEABEREHS
lease liabilities 31 (2,428) (2,791)
Payment of interest element of INHEEAENSHS
lease liabilities 31 (147) (203)
Interest paid on bank borrowings B RITERFE 31 (4,997) (1,249)
Dividend paid BERRE 13 - (8,000)
Net cash (used in)/generated from ®EFE (FiA) FERE
financing activities FE (9,789) 67,757
Net decrease in cash and RERBREEEWRD FH
cash equivalents (38,232) (82,611)
Cash and cash equivalents at FURESRRSEEY
beginning of year 58,870 141,647
Effect of foreign exchange IEERSENWEE
rate changes 467 (166)
Cash and cash equivalents at FRASRRSEEY
end of year 21,105 58,870
Analysis of the balances of cash ReRBRSSENERIT
and cash equivalents
Cash at banks and in hand W LFEES 21,105 58,870
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFFZF

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 6 April 2016 under
the Companies Law, Cap.22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The details of controlling
shareholder of the Company are disclosed in the directors’
report section to the annual report. The address of its
registered office is One Nexus Way, Camana Bay, Grand
Cayman, KY1-9005, Cayman Islands. Its principal place of
business is located at 3/F, Bangkok Bank Building, 18
Bonham Strand West, Hong Kong.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 14 October 2016 (the “Listing”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Group are to act as a building
contractor focusing on providing renovation services as a
main contractor for property projects in the private sector in
Hong Kong and Macau (“Contracting”), strategic investments,
property investments and provision of products and services
with a focus on air quality, energy efficiency and modern
sustainable building materials.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1
April 2023

Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Amendments to Definition of Accounting

HKAS 8 Estimates
Amendments to Deferred Tax Related to
HKAS 12 Assets and Liabilities

Arising from a Single
Transaction
International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules
Insurance Contracts and
related amendments

Amendments to
HKAS 12

HKFRS 17 and
amendments to
HKFRS 17

2.

—REH

RRARIRZE-—RFEOAXNBRERSHSEN
FRERAVE(—NAR—FEZRERE  KFa
REFT) ERERES MK LAEREERAR
RARERBRRNFERERNEETGHRE
55 o H 5 #% = B b 3k &2 One Nexus Way,
Camana Bay, Grand Cayman, KY1-9005, Cayman
Islands © B 3 2 & 53t B 70 F 08 R ET 18 5%
BARITREIRE -
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RHAARRR (B EREM(TEM]) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—T_MFE=FA=+—HIFFEF

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(CONTINUED)

120

(a)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1
April 2023 (Continued)

Except as detailed below, the adoption of these
amended HKFRSs have no material impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Amendment to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements is amended to replace all
instances of the term “significant accounting policies”
with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in
an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those consolidated financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of
the related transactions, other events or conditions,
even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all
accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself material.
If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting
policy information, such information must not obscure
material accounting policy information.

IBI Group Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e UBRRMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFFZF

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1
April 2023 (Continued)

Amendment to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies
(Continued)

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also amended
to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-step
materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures
and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its consolidated financial
statements. Guidance and examples are added to the
Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no impact
on the Group’s financial positions and performance but
has affected the disclosure of the Group’s accounting
policies set out in Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

New Guidance on accounting implications of
the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong issued by Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”)

In June 2022, Employment and Retirement Schemes
Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment)
Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”) was
gazetted. The Amendment Ordinance abolishes the use
of the accrued benefits derived from employers’
mandatory contributions under the mandatory provident
fund (“MPF”) to offset severance payment (“SP”) and
long service payments (“LSP”) (the “Abolition”).
Subsequently, the Government of HKSAR announced
that the Abolition will take effect on 1 May 2025 (the
“Transition Date”). The following key changes will take
effect since the Transition Date:
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(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—T_MFE=FA=+—HIFFEF

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(CONTINUED)

122

(b)

New Guidance on accounting implications of
the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong issued by Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) (Continued)

Accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory
MPF contributions cannot be used to offset the LSP/SP
in respect of the employment period after the Transition
Date.

The pre-transition LSP/SP is calculated using the last
month’s salary immediately preceding the Transition
Date, instead of using the salary of employment
termination date.

Due to the complexities of the accounting for the
offsetting of employer’s MPF contributions and its LSP
obligation and hence the impact arising from the
Abolition, in July 2023, the HKICPA published
‘Accounting implications of the abolition of the MPF-
LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong’ (the
“Guidance”) to provide guidance to account for the
offsetting mechanism and the Abolition. The HKICPA
concluded that there are two acceptable accounting
approaches, being:

Approach 1: Account for the amount expected to be
offset as a deemed employee contribution towards that
employee’s LSP benefits in terms of Hong Kong
Accounting Standard 19.93(a)

Approach 2: Account for the employer’s MPF
contributions and the offsetting mechanism as a
funding mechanism for the LSP obligation

To better reflect the substance of the abolition of the
offsetting mechanism, the Group has changed its
accounting policy in connection with its LSP liability and
has applied the Approach 1 above retrospectively since
the effective date of the Amendment Ordinance (i.e.
June 2022). The application of the accounting policy
does not have material impact on the Group’s financial
statements for the current and prior years.

IBI Group Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFFZF

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(CONTINUED)

(c) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but

are not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group’s consolidated financial statements, have
been issued, but are not yet effective and have not
been early adopted by the Group. The Group’s current
intention is to apply these changes on the date they

become effective.

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKFRS 16
Amendments to
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7
Amendments to
HKAS 21
Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the
“2020 Amendments”)!4

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)"4

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback!

Supplier Finance
Arrangements!

Lack of Exchangeability?
Sale or Contribution of Assets

between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2024.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2025.

8 The amendments shall be applied prospectively to the sale
or contribution of assets occurring in annual periods
beginning on or after a date to be determined.

4 As consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022
Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised)
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause was revised to align the corresponding
wording with no change in conclusion.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments in the future will have a
material impact on the consolidated financial

statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—T_MFE=FA=+—HIFFEF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

124

(a)

(b)

(c)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“HKFRS”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”).

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments and investment property,
which are measured at fair value as explained in the
material accounting policy information set out below.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries
other than IBlI Macau Limited and IBI International
Investments Limited, and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise stated.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

(a)

(b)

Basis of consolidation and subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and subsidiaries.
Inter-company transactions and balances between
group companies together with unrealised profits are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment
on the asset transferred, in which case the loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The result of a subsidiary is
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost net of expected residual value over
their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
useful lives, residual value and depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. The estimated useful lives are as
follows:

Office equipment and  3-5 years or over the leases
fittings terms, whichever the shorter

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s
estimated recoverable amount (Note 4())).

(b)
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4.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Investment property

Investment property is property held either to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or for both, but not
held for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Investment property is
measured at cost on initial recognition and
subsequently at fair value with any change therein
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial instruments
(i) Financial assets

A financial asset is initially measured at fair value
plus, for an item not measured at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs
that are directly attributable to its acquisition or
issue. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments measured at:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets
at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain on derecognition is recognised in profit or
loss.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(d)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

“FVTPL”: Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss include financial assets held for
trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or
financial assets mandatorily required to be
measured at fair value. Financial assets are
classified as held for trading if they are acquired
for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the
near term. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not solely payments of principal and interest
are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on trade
receivables, contract assets, financial assets
measured at amortised cost. The ECLs are
measured on either of the following bases: (1) 12
months ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from
possible default events within the 12 months after
the end of reporting period; and (2) lifetime ECLs:
these are ECLs that result from all possible default
events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.
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4.

128

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(d)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss
allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and
has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The
Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are
based on the 12 months ECLs. However, when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since origination, the allowance will be based on
the lifetime ECLs.

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of
default occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that assessed
at the date of initial recognition.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(d)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the
Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information analysis,
based on the Group’s historical experience and
informed credit assessment and including
forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if the
contractual payments are more than 90 days past
due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be
credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely
to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or (2) the financial
asset is more than 365 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets
is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the
gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset. For non-credit-impaired financial
assets interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount.
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4.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(d)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii) Financial liabilities

(iv)

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the liabilities
were incurred. Financial liabilities at amortised
costs are initially measured at fair value, net of
directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
trade and other payables and bank borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method. The related
interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the amortisation process.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows in
relation to the financial asset expire or when the
financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(e)

Leasing

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or
finance leases) are required to be capitalised in the
consolidated statement of financial position as right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting policy
choices exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i)
leases which are short-term leases and/or (i) leases for
which the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group
has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which
at the commencement date have a lease term less than
12 months. The lease payments associated with those
leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost
and would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial
measurement of the lease liability (see below for the
accounting policy to account for lease liability); (i) any
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any initial
direct costs incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate
of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and
removing the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories. The Group
measures the right-of-use assets applying a cost
model. Under cost model, the Group measures the
right-to-use assets at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liability. The Group has
leased a number of properties under tenancy
agreements and the right-of-use asset arising from the
properties under tenancy agreements are carried at
depreciated cost.
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4.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(e)

Leasing (Continued)
Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing
rate.

The fixed payments less lease incentive for the right-to-
use of the underlying asset during the lease term that
are not paid at the commencement date of the lease
are considered to be lease payments and be included
in the Group’s lease liabilities.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying
amount to reflect interest on the lease liability; (ii)
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the carrying
amount to reflect any reassessment or lease
modifications, e.g., a change in future lease payments
arising from change in an index or rate, a change in the
lease term, a change in the in substance fixed lease
payments or a change in assessment to purchase the
underlying asset.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(e)

(f)

Leasing (Continued)
Accounting as a lessor

The Group has leased out its investment property to a
number of tenants. Rental income from operating
leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised as an expense on the straight-
line basis over the lease term except for investment
property measured under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Property under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes the cost
of land, development expenditure and other attributable
expenses. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for the properties determined by
management based on prevailing market conditions
less estimated cost to completion and costs necessary
to make the sales.
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4.

134

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(9)

Income taxes
Income taxes comprise current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
deductible for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow all or part of the assets to be
recovered.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or when
they relate to items recognised directly in equity in
which case the taxes are also recognised directly in
equity.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(h)

Employee benefits

(i)

(i)

Defined contribution retirement plan

Contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss when the services are rendered by the
employees.

Other employee entitlements

Short term employee benefits are employee
benefits (other than termination benefits) that are
expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the related
service. Short term employee benefits are
recognised in the year when the employees
render the related service.

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to the employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.
Employee entitlements to sick leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.
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4.

136

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

U]

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or
service may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the goods or service is transferred over
time if the Group’s performance:

° provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

° creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

° does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the goods or service.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

U]

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

Revenue from Contracting

The Group has determined that each renovation
contract has only a single performance obligation.
Under the terms of each contract, the Group is
contractually required to perform construction
works at the customers’ specified sites that the
Group’s performance creates or enhances assets
that the customer controls as the Group
performs.

Revenue from construction works transferred
over time is recognised progressively using input
method by reference to the proportion of contract
costs incurred to date compared to expected
total cost, which depict the transfer of control of
the goods or services to the customer.

The Group recognises revenue over time only if it
can reasonably measure its progress toward
complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation. However, if the Group cannot
reasonably measure the outcome but expects to
recover the costs incurred in satisfying the
performance obligation, then it recognises
revenue to the extent of the costs incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
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4.

138

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

U]

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

Revenue from Contracting (Continued)

Contract modification (i.e. variation order) are
recognised when they are approved by customer.
Generally modification to construction contract is
not accounted for as a separate contract.
Contract modification is accounted for as if it
were a part of the existing contract and, therefore,
form part of a single performance obligation that
is partially satisfied at the date of the contract
modification. The effect that the contract
modification has on the contract sum and on the
Group’s measures of progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation, is
recognised as an adjustment to revenue (either as
an increase in or a reduction of revenue) at the
date of the contract modification (i.e. the
adjustment to revenue is made on a cumulative
catch-up basis). For approved modifications
where a change in price has not been agreed and
other claims, they are accounted for following the
requirements in relation to variable consideration
that the amount of consideration is estimated to
which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is
constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract
are estimated to exceed the remaining amount of
the consideration under the contract, a provision
is recognised in accordance with the accounting
policy for onerous contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE MR EWAR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFFZF

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(i) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Revenue from Building Solutions

Revenue for trading of products with a focus on
air quality and sustainable building materials
generally includes only one performance
obligation. The Group has concluded that revenue
from trading of products with a focus on air
quality and sustainable building materials should
be recognised at the point in time when control of
the products is transferred to the customer,
generally when the products are delivered to and
the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to customer.

Rental income

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the terms of the relevant leases.

Dividend income
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss is recognised when the right
to receive the dividend is established.
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4.

140

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

)

Construction contracts
Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for services that the Group
has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(“HKFRS 9”). In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Contract asset is recognised when the Group
completes the construction works under such services
contracts but yet certified by architects, surveyors or
other representatives appointed by customers. Any
amount previously recognised as a contract asset is
reclassified to trade receivables at the point at which it
is invoiced to the customer.

Retention receivables retained by customers to secure
for the due performance of the contracts are contract
assets in nature. When the conditions attached to
retention monies are fulfilled (i.e. at expiry of the defect
liability period), the retention receivables are released by
customers and such retention receivables have become
trade receivables in nature.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration
is due) from the customer.

If the considerations (including advances received from
customers) exceeds the revenue recognised to date
under the input method then the Group recognises a
contract liability for the difference.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a
net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e UBRRMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFFZF

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1)

(k)

Construction contracts (Continued)
Contract costs

The Group recognises an asset from the costs incurred
to fulfil a contract when those costs meet all of the
following criteria:

(@  the costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify;

(b) the costs generate or enhance resources of the
entity that will be used in satisfying (or in
continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in
the future; and

(c) the costs are expected to be recovered.
Contract assets and liabilities

The asset recognised is subsequently amortised to
profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services to which the cost relate. The asset is subject
to impairment review.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, which will probably result in an outflow of
economic benefits that can be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the
existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
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4.

142

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

U]

Impairment of assets (other than financial
assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss or an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased. If
the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use) of an asset is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash
flows expected to be derived from the asset,
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE MR EWAR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFFZF

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgement, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

In addition to information disclosed elsewhere in these
financial statements, other key sources of estimation
uncertainty that have significant risks of resulting in material
adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within next financial year are as follows:

() Recognition of contract revenue

Contract revenue recognition on individual projects are
dependent on management’s estimation of the
progress of the satisfaction of performance obligations
of a construction contract over time, measuring using
input method, with reference to the proportion that
contract costs incurred for work performed to date to
the estimated total costs for the contracts. The Group
reviews and revises the estimates of contract revenue,
contract costs, contract modification (i.e. variation
order) and contract claims prepared for each contract
as the contract progresses. Budgeted contract income
is determined in accordance with the terms set out in
the relevant contracts. Budgeted contract costs which
mainly comprise subcontracting charges and cost of
materials are prepared by the management on the
basis of quotations from time to time provided by the
major contractors, suppliers or vendors involved and
the experience of the management. In order to keep the
budget accurate and up-to-date, the management
conducts periodic reviews on the management budgets
by comparing the budgeted amounts to the actual
amounts incurred and the value of work performed as
certified by quantity surveyors where applicable.
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5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

144

(ii)

(iii)

Impairment of financial assets and contract
assets

The Group makes loss allowance on financial assets
and contract assets based on assumptions about risk
of default and expected credit loss rates. The Group
uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the
end of each reporting period.

The carrying amounts of financial assets and contract
assets as at 31 March 2024 are approximately
HK$72,428,000 (2023: HK$83,997,000) and
HK$209,580,000 (2023: HK$89,611,000) respectively.

Fair value of investment property

As described in Notes 4(c) and 18, investment property
is stated at fair value based on the valuation performed
by an independent professional valuer. In determining
the fair value, the valuer has based on methods of
valuation which involves unobservable inputs —
estimates in market rental, discount rate, premium or
discount for quality of properties and terminal
capitalisation rate. The directors have exercised their
judgement and are satisfied that the method of
valuation is reflective of the current market conditions.

The carrying amount of investment property as at 31
March 2024 is approximately HK$113,176,000 (2023:
HK$124,633,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE MR EWAR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFFZF

SEGMENT REPORTING

The executive directors of the Company, who are the chief
operating decision-makers (“CODM”) of the Group, review
the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess performance
and allocate resources. Management has determined the
operating segments based on reports reviewed by the
executive directors of the Company that are used to make
strategy decision.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group
has four reportable segments. The segments are managed
separately as each business offers different services and
requires different business strategies. The following summary
describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable
segments:

Revenue from contracts with customers within the scope of
HKFRS 15:

° Contracting — provision of renovation services as a
main contractor for property projects in the private
sector in Hong Kong and Macau

o Building Solutions — provision of products and services
with a focus on air quality, energy efficiency and
modern sustainable building materials

Revenue from other sources:

° Strategic Investments — investment in listed securities
and property development

° Property Investments — rental income from leasing of
property in Ireland
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

146

(@ The segment revenue and results for the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023:

Year ended 31 March 2024

2 EEHE (&)

(@ HE_Z-_MFER-_ZT_=F=A=+-—
BIEFEMD IS R FEAE

BE-—E-_NE=A=+—HLEE

Building Strategic Property

Contracting Solutions Investments  Investment Total
Building
AR Solutions RHRRE MERE Foh
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THER TER TERT TERT THER
Total segment revenue and 7 S Uk 5 2 E A
other (losses)/gains (B8 WapsE 516,808 5,622 (2,843) 7,659 527,246
Inter-segment revenue gx- il s - - - - -
Total revenue from external & BIMNBEF R E 4
customers and other REMNMRBE
sources 516,808 5,622 (2,843) 7,659 527,246
Segment profit/(loss) AEEF(EB) 15,172 (281) (3,151) (8,062) 3,678
Unallocated bank interest &% B2 8847 ¥ 8 U A
income 912
Unallocated corporate AOEARRX
expenses (1,969)
Profit before income tax B A5 %4 59 52 AT % 7
expense 2,621
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE MR EWAR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE—F—

(a)

WE=H=—+—HIFFE

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 6. DHHE (&)
The segment revenue and results for the years ended (@ Hz—_Z_NMERK-_FT-_=ZF=ZA=+-—
31 March 2024 and 2023: (Continued) HIEFEMS M mREE - (B)
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE-_E-_=f=ZA=1+—HLEE
Building Strategic Property
Contracting Solutions Investments Investment Total
Building
A Solutions REELE MERE BB
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FHT FET FET
Total segment revenue and 7 S5t & E 4
other gains/(losses) 3%/ (B18) e 297,363 4,705 897 5,600 308,565
Inter-segment revenue o EE R E - (48) - - (48)
Total revenue from external KB 9MNEBE P R E At
customers and other REMIREE
sources 297,363 4,657 897 5,600 308,517
Segment profit/(loss) DEEF] (E5IE) 7,361 (1,755) (259) (322) 5,025
Unallocated bank interest &7 B8R 17 7 B4 A
income 328
Unallocated corporate VN WNCIL 53
expenses (1,494)
Profit before income tax ~ Bx A5 %4 5 52 AT 7
expense 3,859
Inter-segment transactions are priced with reference to AHEAZSHHEB TR ELEURT EmIND

prices charged to external parties for similar order.

Segment results represent the profit earned or loss
incurred by each segment without allocation of certain
bank interest income and corporate expenses for the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. This is the
measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—T_MFE=FA=+—HIFFEF

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(b) The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2024

and 2023 are as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2024

—EOFER
NHEERBENOT

— = —

=

=#=HA=+—H

BE-—E-_NE=A=+—HLEE

Building Strategic Property
Contracting Solutions Investments Investments Total
Building

RE Solutions KBRE MERE st
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TERT THET THET THET
Segment assets DHEVEE 267,439 3,539 17,670 117,638 406,286
Unallocated assets AOMEE 14,648
420,934
Segment liabilties HHAE 197,756 1,244 20 58,343 257,363
Unallocated liabilities APEEE 729
258,092

Year ended 31 March 2023 BE-ES-_=F=A=+—-HLEE

Building Strategic Property
Contracting Solutions Investments Investment Total
Building

i Solutions RIGKE MERE F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAET TAT TAT THET FTAT
Segment assets HEEE 139,187 4,079 24,045 133,590 300,901
Unallocated assets AOMEE 21,788
322,689
Segment liabilities HHEE 92,894 649 20 65,353 158,916
Unallocated liabilities APEEE 1,009
159,925
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE MR EWAR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE—F

—mE=A=1—HIFE

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(b)

The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2024
and 2023 are as follows: (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances
and allocating resources among segments:

— all assets are allocated to reportable and
operating segments other than certain other
receivables and certain cash and cash equivalents
for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 20283;
and

— all liabilities are allocated to reportable and
operating segments other than certain other
payables for the years ended 31 March 2024 and
2023.
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

150

(c) Other segment information

For the year ended 31 March 2024:

6. oH

(c)

¥R & (&)

BE-ZE-_NE=ZA=+—HLEE:

Building Strategic Property Segment
Contracting Solutions Investments Investments Total Unallocated Consolidated
Building
AE  Solutions RERE NERE A&t KB Ee)
HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER TER
Amount includedinthe  FHE A IR EE
measure of segment proftt i HEEB
or loss or segment assets:  REJE R :
Direct costs EERA 471,628 2,796 9 - 480,433 - 480,433
Interest income YN - - - - - 912 912
Interest expenses fER% (856) (27) - (3,485) (4,368) - (4,368)
Change i fair value of REMEN
investment property NTEES - - - (10,135) (10,135) - (10,135)
Depreciation of property, ~ ¥1% - BER
plant and equipment RENE (127) (302) - - (429) - (429)
Depreciation of right-of-use  (FFELEE
assets (2,164) (391) - - (2,555) - (2,555)
Net fair value losses)/gains AT ABEH)
on financial assets SRAENLTE
at FVTPL (B8)/ hz38 - - (3,336) - (3,336) - (3,336)
Addltions of property, RENE BEF
plant and equipment Rikfa 72 - - - 72 - 72
Write-off of inventories e - @) - - @) - %]
Write-down of inventories 77 £ - 17 - - 17 - (17)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE MR EWAR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFFZF

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 6. DEHRE (4])

(c) Other segment information (Continued) Hih o BER (F)

(c)

For the year ended 31 March 2023:

BE-E-_=F=ZA=+—HLEE:

Building Strategic Property Segment
Contracting Solutions ~ Investments  Investments Totd  Unallocated  Consolidated
Building
RE Solutions RERE nERE HE g AAE fa
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT
Amount includedinthe  FFEA IR REE
measure of segment proftt 5 & EB A
or loss or segment assets:  REJE
Direct costs EERA 269,141 2,858 214 - 272,213 - 272,213
Interest income YN - - - - - 328 328
Interest expenses MR (255) (33) - (1,957) (2,245) - (2.245)
Change in fair value of RAMER
investment property NTEES - - - (2,437) (2,437) - (2,437)
Depreciation of property, ~ ¥1%  BER
plant and equipment RENE (122) (439) - - (561) - (561
Depreciation of right-of-use  (FFELERE
assets 2.211) (370) - - (2,581) - (2,581)
Net fair value gains/(losses)  RAF{E:F ABEH)
on financial assets EREENATE
at FVTPL Wi/ (B8) 58 - - 696 - 696 - 696
Addltions of property, RENE BF
plant and equipment k& 123 - - - 123 - 123
Additions of investment ~ FEREME
property - - - 125319 125319 - 125319
Write-off of inventories FEHH - (119) - - (119) - (113)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—T_MFE=FA=+—HIFFEF

AN

& (&)

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 6. &
(d) Geographical information (d) HbiEER
The Group operates in three principal geographical AEBE=ZATEMmBERELE — FH -
areas — Hong Kong, Macau and Ireland. RFIRERE
The Group’s revenue derived from Contracting, Building HE T _NMFER_E_=F=ZA=1+—
Solutions and Property Investments segments from BIEFE AEBRENMBEP &HE -
external customers for the years ended 31 March 2024 Building Solutions & ¥ % 4% & 5 #8 ) W 2 5
and 2023 are analysed as follows: T :
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-S_-_NE=ZA=+—HLtEE
Building Property
Contracting Solutions Investments
Revenue from external Building
customers REIMBEF RS AR Solutions MERE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FET
Hong Kong B 516,808 5,529 -
Macau P - 93 -
Ireland TR - - 7,659
516,808 5,622 7,659
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE-_E-_=f=ZA=+—HLEE
Building Property
Contracting Solutions Investments
Revenue from external Building
customers REINEDE P iz R Solutions VIR E
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Hong Kong BB 297,363 4,494 -
Macau P! - - -
Ireland EHRE - - 5,600
Others Hb - 163 -
297,363 4,657 5,600
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFFZF

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 6. DHHE (&)
(d) Geographical information (Continued) (d) ihigER (E)
The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s TREHNEEAEBIETRHEE (BT
non-current assets (“Specified non-current assets”): mEEE]) DT
As at 31 March
Specified non-current assets EEFRBEE R=B=+—H
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T T
Hong Kong B 4,303 2,207
Macau SEPY - -
[reland BB 113,176 124,633
117,479 126,840
The non-current assets information above excludes THIERBEEERTBEZAFETA
financial assets at FVTPL and is based on the physical BERNERMEE HVBREEHEENE
locations of the respective assets. BRAEEID o
(e) Information about major customers e) BEREXTEEZEFMEHR

Revenues from each of the major customers accounted
for 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue from
external customers are set out below:

KEREERFPHMWE ((EAKEKEINED
BEPREN R 10% 3 A )T

2024 2023
—E_NE —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHT

Customer | ZFEI 106,466 N/A “~iE A
Customer I ZEI 61,288 N/A “I~iE
Customer Il ZAI N/A 73 A 61,732
Customer IV ZEIV N/A 73 A 48,087
Customer V ZEV N/A 73 A 42 574
Customer VI ZEV N/A 73 A 30,978

The revenues from above major customers are all
derived from the Contracting segment.

The corresponding revenue of Customers lll, IV, V and
VI do not contribute over 10% of the Group’s total
revenue from external customers for the year ended 31
March 2024.

The corresponding revenue of Customers | and Il did
not contribute over 10% of the Group’s total revenue
from external customers for the year ended 31 March
2023.

FRFrEEPOREGREEZESE o

BHE-_T-_NE=A=+—BILEE ¥
Fll- IV VR VIE BLA AR FE R &S R G AN
BREINEBEFLHAREER10% A £ -

BE_F-=F=A=+—ALFE &
P IRE IV A0 18 2 3 s A S
R SN P YA 10% B L -

IBI Group Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—T_MFE=FA=+—HIFFEF

7. REVENUE AND OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS 7. WEKEM(EE) W

Revenue and other (losses)/gains recognised during the year

REREREH YRR EM(EE), BaaE T

comprises the following: KIF -
2024 2023
g St —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Revenue &
Revenue from Contracting KEFRENKRE 516,808 297,363
Revenue from Building Solutions 7k B Building Solutions B 4% & 5,622 4,657
Dividend income from financial assets at EAFEFABGNEREE
FVTPL #RR S A 493 201
Rental income from investment property REEEMENHS KA
— fixed payment — BEERR 7,659 5,600
530,582 307,821
Other (losses)/gains Hitb (B518), Iz
Net fair value (losses)/gains on financial EAFEFABGNEREEN
assets at FVTPL RTE(EER) e F R (3,336) 696
527,246 308,517
2024 2023
—EB-MF —T—=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET T T
Timing of revenue recognition within BBV B HRELERE15HHBERA
scope of HKFRS 15: F U E FE R A
Revenue from Contracting — Over time REFEZENWE — BERH 516,808 297,363
Revenue from Building Solutions 7 & Building Solutions B 44 25
— At a point in time — RE SR 5,622 4,657
522,430 302,020

For timing of revenue recognition, dividend income and rental UK 25 FE
income fall outside the scope of HKFRS 15.

The Group has applied the practical expedient to its sales
contracts for Contracting and therefore the above information
does not include information about revenue that the Group
will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance

obligations under the contracts for Contracting that had an
original expected duration of one year or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE MR EWAR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFFZF

8.

OTHER INCOME 8. HftlgA
2024 2023
—EDWEF —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Bank interest income RITFBUA 912 328
Government grants (Note) BT 8L (P 3E) 65 2,689
977 3,017
Note: B 3E
For the year ended 31 March 2024, the government grants of HE_T-_MFE=A=1+—HIFE BT84 65000
approximately HK$65,000 (2023: HK$41,000) is received from the Hong BT(ZZTZ=%F: 41,0008 7T) BEBBMN T - LE-E
Kong Government for participation in large-scale exhibition in Hong Kong. ERESMAREEZA AEEVEEZTEEHEOEA
The Group does not have other unfulfilled obligations relating to this M ARBITHEE o
program.
For the year ended 31 March 2023, the amount included in profit or loss HE_Z_=ZF=ZA=+—HILFE FAEBZNEEAL
was approximately HK$2,136,000 of government grants obtained relating BEASBNNENEAYRAEERETIERBNRTHE
to support the payroll of the Group’s employees from the Hong Kong #92,136,000/# 7T - NEBAAE ST BB OERAR
Government. The Group had to commit to spending the assistance from SRIERY  BERERBAANTEEEIAZRIER
the Hong Kong Government on payroll expenses, and not to reduce RTERT « REBUMEMAZSAENERRBITEE -
employee head count below prescribed levels for a specified period of
time. The Group did not have any unfulfiled obligations relating to these
programs.
For the year ended 31 March 2023, the government grant of HEZZZ=F=-FA=+T—BLEE BFE#HDHL
approximately HK$485,000 was obtained from a subsidy scheme for 485,0007 7T 23K B 8 P BT 3t COVID-19 & 17 # I /9 & Bh &t
COVID-19 pandemic launched by the Macau Government. The Group did 2 AEBUEBRZAZBEROE MR RBITOHEL -
not have other unfulfilled obligations relating to this program.
For the year ended 31 March 2023, approximately HK$27,000 HEZZ-_=F=B=1+—HLLFE  £27,0008 T AK
represented training grants obtained from the Construction Innovation BEREEZS THREEEAFEREES (BEXARE
and Technology Fund (“CITF”) under Construction Industry Council. Under ) WEIIHEE - REEZEZANESHRT  AEER
the CITF, the Group should commit to spend the grants on Building G AR AREEENER (BIM]) F3l RBIME
Information Modeling (“BIM”) training and BIM Software with specific RN ERER) - AEBUEEZEFEEHENEM
vendors. The Group did not have other unfulfilled obligations relating to HARBITEEL
these programs.
FINANCE COSTS 9. BMEMA
2024 2023
ZENF S
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FHT
Interest expenses on bank borrowings IRITEROFEAX 4,221 2,042
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBBENFERAX 147 203
4,368 2,245
IBI Group Holdings Limited 155
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—T_MFE=FA=+—HIFFEF

10. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. BRET S F B XX A& A

156

Profit before income tax expense is arrived after charging/

B BT 5 B B S AR R 9 48 0B (T AN) TR FI& 18

(crediting): 1BIERN
2024 2023
—E_ME —E_=4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHIT
Auditor’s remuneration 1% B 7 B 938 950
Depreciation of property, plant and Y B REREBITE
equipment 429 561
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 2,555 2,581
Staff costs including directors’ emoluments: 2 LA/ (BIEEZHE) :
— Salaries and allowances — ¥ KRR 70,878 55,195
— Contributions on defined contribution — FERRHFURIKRE S
retirement plans 1,579 1,500
72,457 56,695
Short term leases expenses HHEERX 230 258
Foreign exchange loss, net b 5 E 1R E 537 43
Write off of inventories FE#ME 3 113
Write down of inventories FE MR 17 -
Direct operating expenses (including repairs BREXVH S WA MR EWMEELEN
and maintenance) arising from investment ~ Ei# &MY (BIEHE LRE)
property that generated rental income 932 608
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
e UBRRMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFFZF

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11.

The amount of income tax expense in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

STATEMENTS

Frig®iB <

FeEalEtEERERMEMERAXSRE

= .

represents:
2024 2023
—E-EF —ET_=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx T
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BVHABIIE — BAEFEN
— tax for the year — FAHIE 2,189 1,169
— (over)/under provision in respect — BEFE (BERE)
of prior years BETR (7) 6
2,182 1,175
Current tax — overseas EVERREIE — AN
— tax for the year — FARIE 218 228
— over provision in respect of prior years =~ — B FERLEEE (80) -
2,320 1,403

Under the Hong Kong two-tiered profits tax rates regime (the
“Regime”), the first HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits of
one subsidiary of the Group, which is a qualifying corporation,
is taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits at
16.5%. The profits of other group entities not elected for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at
16.5%.

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, Hong Kong
Profits Tax is calculated in accordance with the Regime.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Macau and
with the short-term tax incentives granted by the Macau
Government, the Group’s subsidiary in Macau was subject to
complementary tax at the rate of 12% for taxable profits over
the tax threshold of MOP600,000 for the tax year ended 31
December 2023. The Macau Government has not yet
announced the tax threshold for the tax year ending 31
December 2024. The Group’s subsidiary in Ireland is subject
to corporation tax of 25%.

The Group has applied the temporary exception issued by
the HKICPA in July 2023 from the accounting requirements
for deferred taxes in HKAS 12. Accordingly, the Group neither
recognises nor discloses information about deferred tax
assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two income taxes.

RIEBEMANEHE (ZHIE]) - NEE—
K8~ 7] (& B8 AE) 89 8 2,000,0007% TT &
SR T M 4% 8.25% A B - E &R B ER B A AR
16.5% A - H b I £ 15058 A M AR A 1S B 51 E &Y
SEERMGNASEETR16.5% T RET

BE-_E-_NMER-_ZT-_=—F=A=+—RAItF
B BERNEHIIRRBZHETE -

RIPRFIBBER AR ARERNRFBGE T
MERTAESR  AKERFIMNBRATANEE—
EC=FFT_A=T—BUEBBEFE  AsBlk
AE 1 R R P 5 600,000 7T A E B FE R Bt g 7| - 12
12% KB R AN P 1S R TR < RPIBUT M AR E
HE_TZ_NMF+-_A=+—BIEBHBEFELHR
WO BIE o AN SR B0 = B R OB /BB 8 R R R 25%
GOy ERNEIE A

AEECRABAGHMAGR T -_=FtA
PR ELEEHEREI12RABEERENSE
FHE EREF GISMBE S - Bt - REBERETHER
T RBEBRAXE_FERERARENAREEN
BEMEHR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—T_MFE=FA=+—HIFFEF

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 11. FTSBIBAX (4E)
On 18 December 2023, the government of Ireland, where the RZEZ=F+=A+N\B ZEBHH (HBAF

subsidiary is incorporated, enacted the Pillar Two income AR RISBEASE—MERE 8=
taxes legislation effective from 1 January 2024. Under the ENF—A—BRBRER - BREBEZEN - ANEE
legislation, the Group will be required to pay, in top-up tax on ATLWB R B F AN E R EEN15% 8/
profits of its subsidiaries that are taxed at an effective tax rate FEH

of less than 15 per cent.

The Group is continuing to assess the impact of the Pillar
Two income taxes legislation on its future financial
performance.

AN ER B EAEAERT i STAE — PRAS B A B H R 2R B
BRI E

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before income tax expense in the consolidated
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

FAMEHEGEEEKEMEEKERPIRA
BHRFAX AR M H IR T

as follows:
2024 2023
—E_NE - ——
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Profit before income tax expense Bk PS4 4 <2 AT v A 2,621 3,859

Tax charge calculated at Hong Kong profits 2% & 18 5 5 K 16.5%
tax rate of 16.5% (2023:16.5%) ZEZ=%F 16.5%)
FFEMHIERY 432 636

Tax effect of revenue not taxable for tax BERHRUNEOR G E

purposes (231) (861)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for ~ TR TR &

tax purposes 3,538 1,170
Effect of different taxation rates in other Hiha AR TR RN E

jurisdictions (891) (194)
(Over)/under provision in respect of prior BAFE (BEREE),

years BETR (87) 6
Tax reduction in current year KEF IR D (6) (12)
Effect of the Regime ZHENTE (165) (169)
Tax effect of tax loss and other temporary & FE AT I8 E5 18 N H 4 B i

differences not recognised ERNBBEE 445 823
Utilisation of tax loss previously not A SR AR R IAES B

recognised (715) -
Income tax expense FriSfiF X 2,320 1,403
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE MR EWAR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFFZF

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 11. ISR ()

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had estimated unused tax
losses of approximately HK$22,548,000 (2023:
HK$24,366,000) available for offsetting against future profits.
The tax losses arising from a subsidiary in Macau of
approximately HK$4,689,000 (2023: HK$3,340,000) can be
carried forward for 3 years, the remaining unused tax losses
of approximately HK$17,859,000 (2023: HK$21,026,000)
can be carried forward indefinitely. The tax losses of
approximately HK$1,349,000 (2023: HK$3,340,000) and
HK$6,650,000 (2023: HK$10,247,000) are subject to the
final assessments by tax authorities in Macau and Hong Kong
respectively. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the estimated unused tax losses due to
unpredictability of future profit streams and finalisation of tax
assessments by tax authorities in the respective jurisdictions.

No deferred tax has been provided in the consolidated
financial statements as no other material temporary
differences had risen during the years ended 31 March 2024
and 2028.

R-ZE-MFE=ZA=+—H  AEB{FEFAFHH
TR B B8 422,548,000 T (Z B = =4 :
24,366,000 7% 7T) A 44K 8 K 2R i F o SR P B B
NEIEENTIEE 144,689,000 L (==
1 3,340,00078 70) A A5 I F - Eer R E A Y
TR EIB 417,859,000 T (T -~ =4 :
21,026,000 7T) A fE R Bi 4588 - FLIB/BE 5 5
#71,349,00078 7t (== — = 4 : 3,340,000 T)
% 6,650,000 & 7T (=& = =4 : 10,247,000 % 7T)
BRBPIRBBRGREETHKTE - ARNE
SR TR R O B SR - B AT R BV A RIE
FEIEERELEREEE RS B A RN T I #
B AR TR R TS R4S o

HREBE_E_NER-_E-_=F=A=+—H
IFEWEEAEME R AR - I ERLE
AUV BRERFTITELER B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—T_MFE=FA=+—HIFFEF

12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS, HIGHEST

160

PAID INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments
Directors’ emoluments is disclosed as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2024

12. %ﬁ%ﬁ% "BREFMATIREREERRE

(a)

ES5M

EEHMmENT

BE-ZE_NE=A=+—HILEE

Contribution
Salaries, on defined
allowances contribution
and other Discretionary  retirement
Fees benefits bonuses plans Total
e BER pik L
fig HittE A MERA  BIRGERR @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TERL THERT THEL THERL TET
Executive directors HiTEE
Neil David HOWARD Neil David HOWARD 240 2,599 630 18 3,487
Steven Paul SMITHERS Steven Paul SMITHERS 240 2,479 580 18 3,317
Independient non-executive directors BV 1T E
Robert Peter ANDREWS Robert Peter ANDREWS 240 - - - 240
David John KENNEDY David John KENNEDY 240 - - - 240
Christopher John BROOKE Christopher John BROOKE 0] 120 - - - 120
Martin WOODS Martin WOODS (i) 120 - - - 120
Total @t 1,200 5,078 1,210 36 1,524
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE MR EWAR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFFZF

12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS, HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

12. S5 SEEFMALIRSREERE

N ()

(a)

ESHFM(E

Year ended 31 March 2023 BE-ZS_=Ff=A=+—HILEE
Contribution
Salaries, on defined
allowances contrioution
and other  Discretionary retirement
Fees benefits bonuses plans Total
¢ 20 R ERHT
e HitigH WEEL  RINGHEER B3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TAT FHL THL THL
Executive directors HITEZ
Neil David HOWARD Neil David HOWARD 240 2,554 - 18 2,812
Steven Paul SMITHERS Steven Paul SMITHERS 240 2,433 - 18 2,601
Independient non-executive directors ~ BUFHTEE
Robert Peter ANDREWS Robert Peter ANDREWS 240 - - - 240
David John KENNEDY David John KENNEDY 240 - - - 240
Martin WOODS Martin WOODS 240 - - - 240
Total st 1,200 4,987 - 36 6,223
Notes: i

@M

(i)

(i)

(v)

Christopher John BROOKE was appointed as independent
non-executive director of the Company on 30 September
2023.

Martin WOODS resigned as independent non-executive
director of the Company on 30 September 2023.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. In addition, none of the
directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during
the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
mainly paid for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.
The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were mainly paid for their services as directors
of the Company.

(i)

(i)

(v)

Christopher John BROOKEX —Z — =4 |, A
=+ REZEARRBBIULIERITES -

Martin WOODSIA —ZE -~ =4 h B =+ HEHE
NARVBNIEHITESE -

HE-_Z-_WNER_ZT_=F=ZA=+—8H
FFE AEERERESIAEAESH -
ERBES M AR E B o) SZE S E R B
HE-IIN RBEE S -_NER T - =
FZRA=1T—BLFEHEEENEXRE
MEEAHN -

EXFRBTERHFME RN RERRR
ARAEEEHERARORE o EXAR
BUFNTEEFHEIRINREERRR
BEEMR -
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A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—T_MFE=FA=+—HIFFEF

12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS, HIGHEST 12. EEFM R FMA LTI RSREERE
(&)

PAID INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

(b)

The five highest paid individuals for the year include two
(2023: two) directors. The emoluments of the remaining
three (2023: three) non-director highest paid individuals

for the year are as follows:

TEBREHMAL

ERN RARSHEMALTEEMS (-F
S MR EE-HAHBSR(CE-o=
F R HEERSTFMALREFEEN
FEWT -

2024 2023
—E_MEFE —E ==

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FHET

Salaries, allowances and other benefits ¥ ~ 2B R E &R 4,770 4,621

Discretionary bonuses B 1EIEAL 480 780
Contributions on defined contribution TERA{H FUR KT B 50

retirement plans 54 54

5,304 5,455

The number of non-director highest paid individuals
whose emoluments felt within the following bands for
the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

HE-_ZT-_WNER-_ZE-_=F#=/=+—
BUEFE FMN T THSEEMNIFEESH

BEHMATHAZNAT
2024 2023
e 113 —E-=F
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
A# A
HK$NIil — HK$1,000,000 = 7T £ 1,000,000 7T - -
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 % 7T & 1,500,000 7T - -
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7% 7T & 2,000,000 8 7T 3 2
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 /& 7t & 2,500,000 8 7T - 1

HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000

2,500,001 7 7t = 3,000,000 7% 7T - -
3,000,001 7 7t = 3,500,000 7T - -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFFZF

12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS, HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The remaining highest paid individuals are directors of
the Company whose emoluments are reflected in the
analysis presented in Note 12(a) above.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

(c) Senior management’s emoluments
Emoluments paid or payable to members of senior

management who are not directors were within the
following bands:

- EEVM BEFMALIRSREERE

N ()

(b)

(c)

TEREHFMAL (H)

ERGRRFTMALTRARAES  EHM
A X E12(0) T 25 D AT RBR -

HE-_ZT-_WMER_ZT-_=-F=RF=1+—
BIEFE AEEHMERNAEZRSTMA
T AHERFHN - (ERBERIMAREE
) SREN S ERBER A E -

BREEESMH

ENKEMNFEFTSREEEKE N FHMH
NETIIEE -

2024 2023

—E_ME e
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
A AH
HK$Nil — HK$1,000,000 =% 702 1,000,000 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 8 7T £ 1,500,000,8 7T 1 1
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 % 7T £ 2,000,000,8 7T 3 2
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7% 7T & 2,500,000 7 7T - 1
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7 7T & 3,000,000 7 7T - -
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7 7t = 3,500,000 8 7T - -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—T_MFE=FA=+—HIFFEF

13. DIVIDENDS 13. R E
2024 2023
—ESE-F B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT TET

Final dividend paid (Note (i) RS R BB (F R () - 8,000

Notes: T

(i) The final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 March ) HE—S-—F#=-A=+—A I REEHKRAR
2022 of HK1.0 cents per ordinary share, amounting to HK$8.0 EEREEBE10EI(AL80EEET)ER -
million was paid on 7 October 2022. ——E+A+BIEN -

(ii) The final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 March (i) HE-—ZE-NME=-A=+—0 0 HFEEL R
2024 of HK0.5 cents per ordinary share, amounting to HK$4.0 BERE®EBOSEN (A HIOEEET) EHA
million, has been proposed by the directors of the Company and is AEESESRMN Y ASAATIBENERRE
subject to approval by the shareholders of the Company at the BEEAe FiLE - R_E-_WNE=A=+—H%ES
forthcoming annual general meeting. The final dividend declared EH R A ERN B NE=A=+— A B3R
subsequent to 31 March 2024 has not been recognised as a BAB ANREEYAEBERBE S -_=—F |+
liability as at 31 March 2024. The directors of the Company did not B B 4E TSR < R HARR & o
recommend the payment of a final dividend in respect of the
financial year ended 2023.

14. BREF

14.

164

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended
31 March 2024 is based on the profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$350,000
(2023: profit of approximately HK$2,800,000) and on the

weig

hted average number of 800,000,000 (2023:

800,000,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is the same as the basic earnings
per share because the Group has no dilutive potential shares
for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

IBI Group Holdings Limited
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f% (—2= = =4 : 800,000,0000%) 5+ & -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE MR EWAR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFFZF

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - BERRXE
Office
equipment
and fittings
MARBRERE
HK$’000
FHET
Cost FR 2N
At 1 April 2022 R-ZE-—_FMA—H 6,720
Additions NE 123
At 31 March 2023 RZE-_=F=HA=+—H 6,843
Additions NE 72
Written off g8 (41)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-_WF=HA=+—H 6,874
Accumulated depreciation E- i
At 1 April 2022 N-ZE-__FHA—H 5,796
Charge for the year FRNAX 561
At 31 March 2023 WZZEZ=F=A=+—A1 6,357
Charge for the year FARZ 429
Written off 58 1)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-_WF=A=+—H 6,745
Net carrying value RHEFE
At 31 March 2024 RZZE_ME=R=+—H 129
At 31 March 2023 R-_E_=F=R=+—H 486
16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. EAEEE
The underlying net book value of right-of-use assets ERRAEAEEENHARDFEE T3 EEHR
recognised relate to the following types of assets: RIBERE
Properties leased for own use, carried at BERAEYE BRTERKIE
depreciated cost
2024 2023
—EmEF —F-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
At 1 April REA—A 1,721 4,302
Additions nE 5,008 -
Depreciation e (2,555) (2,581)
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 4,174 1,721
IBI Group Holdings Limited 165
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17.

18.

166

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

17.

BAVESABENEREE

2024 2023
—E-WE —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHEx T
Listed securities at fair value: EAFEHEN ETES
Listed in Hong Kong REB L™ 6,663 9,999

The Group classified the listed equity investments as non-
current assets as the directors of the Group intend to hold
these investments for long term strategic purpose.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s listed securities in Hong
Kong with carrying amounts of approximately HK$6,663,000
(2023: HK$9,999,000) was pledged to secure certain bank
borrowings granted to the Group (Notes 24 and 29).

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

The Group’s property interest held to earn rentals and for
capital appreciation purposes is measured using the fair value
model and is classified and accounted for as investment
property. The investment property is leased to third parties
under operating leases.

Movements of the carrying amounts presented in
consolidated statement of financial position can be
summarised as follows:

18.

AR ASEESHTELNENREENFE%F
BE BAKES EMBREREDBERIERDE
E o

R-ZZE-_WNF=ZA=+—H A£EEEAEY
6,663,000 7T (— & = = 4F : 9,999,000 7T) &
EALMBHFEERT  URSERTEAEENE
TFRITER(MIFE24 K 29) °

REWE
AEEFEURDNE S EIEERBERENYE

BEGANFEEATE A0 BERARIAR
BWE -REVERBELEZHEHETE=T -

REPBIRAKRM2YIREENZSBANT

2024 2023

—E-mE —E=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHExT FHT

Carrying amount at the beginning of year  F#]8REIE 124,633 -
Additions NE - 125,319
Change in fair value of investment property % & ¥ 2% A FEE (10,135) (2,437)
Exchange realignment ME 58 B (1,322) 1,751
Carrying amount at the end of year FRIREE 113,176 124,633
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HE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFFZF

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (CONTINUED)

The investment property was valued at approximately
HK$113,176,000 (2023: HK$124,633,000) as at 31 March
2024 using income capitalisation approach carried out by
International Valuation Limited, which is an independent
qualified professional valuer not connected with the Group. 97~
The fair value measurement of the Group’s investment
properties is a level 3 recurring fair value measurement. A
reconciliation of the opening and closing fair value balance is
provided below:

18. REW X (&)

REVER _ZE_NF=A=+—BHHERY
113,176,000 7T (=T = = 4 : 124,633,000
7T RABERFEERAR (—HEAKEY &
BB AR RBEXGEEE) ETHRAER

AEBERENENRFEFEBEIALELR
FEAE - FORFRRATELHERIHIINAT

2024 2023
—B-NmEF —E_=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHER FHIT
Opening balance FYEER 124,633 -
Additions NE - 125,319
Change in fair value of investment property % & ¥ 5 A (& & (10,135) (2,437)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 55 2 (1,322) 1,751
Closing balance (level 3 recurring fair value) F R4k (B3R E MR FE) 113,176 124,633
Change in fair value for the year MERFIFEETABREDN
included in profit or loss for assets FARFEEZE
held at the end of the year 10,135 2,437

The fair value measurement is based on the above items’
highest and best use, which does not differ from their actual
use.

RZGEEE

IBI Group Holdings Limited
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18.

168

INVESTMENT PROPERTY (CONTINUED)

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3.

The following table gives information about how the fair value
of the investment property is determined:

18. REW % (&)

FAMEE-REE _RAFEFERMERN
B TEEAREHE=H-

TEREHREBNUEEREVELFENER

Relationship of
unobservable
input to fair value
AABERAEE
AT EZENER

Range of significant
unobservable inputs
ERTIE
WAENERE

Valuation techniques  Significant
Property 2024 unobservable inputs
L/ES SR MFEER BEATHERAE
Property in Ireland Income capitalisation Estimated rental value
approach
RERENDE WABRIE e EE

Capitalisation rate

BAfER

The fair value of the investment property is determined using
income capitalisation approach, where the market rentals of
all lettable units of the property is assessed and discounted
at the market yield expected by investors for this type of
property. The market rentals are assessed by reference to the
rentals achieved in lettable units of the property as well as
other lettings of similar properties in the same location. The
capitalisation rate is determined by reference to the yields
derived from analysing the sales transactions of similar
properties in Ireland and adjusting to take into account the
quality and location of the property.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s investment property with
carrying amounts of approximately HK$113,176,000 (2023:
HK$124,633,000) was pledged to secure certain bank
borrowings granted to the Group (Notes 24 and 29).
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EURS3.45-EURS3.97 per
month per square feet
(2023: EUR3.21-EUR3.76
per month per square feet)

BRETHRRILEET
EIO7BIL(ZE =%
BRBTHRERI2IET
Z3.76FT)

The higher the rental value,
the higher the fair value

7%-7.25%
(2023: 6%-6.25%)
T%E7255%(ZF-=4F:
6% = 6.25%)

The higher the capitalisation
rate, the lower the fair value
BRbERgR  RTEEE

BREMERAFEDEBRAEROEERE - &
ZWEMBAHHEENNTSEHSRREEHZ
BYEOTERTIS W T ETHE LA - 5
MET2EZWMEM A LA ELARR 18
UERE M BB SO ESEITTE -
BRERD2EOMEBRBLUNENHER S
ISR T Y RIEMEE E R EETHEM
TUEE °

RZEZNF=ZA=+—H FAEERAEY
113,176,000 7T (=& — = 4 : 124,633,000
TO) MR EMEDERT - UREE T AREEN
B THRTER (k24 K% 29) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFFZF

19. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 19. ERNEEREHNEE
LIABILITIES
The following table sets out details of the contract assets and TEREIREWmERABRENEERE N BERF
contract liabilities as at the end of each reporting period: =
2024 2023
—EomE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T T
Contract assets BHEE
Arising from Contracting AEMELE 183,535 67,352
Add: Retention receivables (Note (i) hn s EUUR A k8 (FEE() 26,045 22,259
209,580 89,611
2024 2023
—E-MmF —Eo=4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Contract liabilities aHEE
Arising from Contracting EEMES - 492
- 492

As at 1 April 2022, the Group’s contract assets and contract
liabilities amounted to approximately HK$100,139,000 and
HK$4,072,000 respectively.

All contract assets and contract liabilities are arisen from the
provision of renovation services. The changes in the contract
assets and contract liabilities for the year were resulted from
the pace of the progress of particular projects and the timing
of approval for progress billing application for certain projects.

Note:

(i) As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s retention receivables were not
yet past due, in which approximately HK$7,508,000 (2023:
HK$2,494,000) were expected to be recovered beyond twelve
months after the end of the reporting period.

R-ZE-—FWA—B  KEENENEERSE
#)B1ED BI149 /100,139,000 7T & 4,072,000 7
ﬁ o

FALNEERANARIEL B REBTRS -
7208 B O T B TR A ) T A2 3K e
AEUEHESERENANEERA DAEA
D -

fia -

0] R-Z-_WEZA=Z+—B  NEENEREE R
B ARBE - B 47,508,000 7T (Z T =4 :
2,494,000 T) TEHIB R EHRARE T =@EA
& lg[el -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—T_MFE=FA=+—HIFFEF

19. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract assets are as follows:

Contracting

The Group’s contract assets represent the Group’s right to
consideration for work completed but not yet billed to
customers at the reporting date. The contract assets are
transferred to trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional, that is, when the Group issue progress billings
to customers based on certified amount agreed with
customer. The contracts usually include a term for the
customers to hold up a portion, normally around 10.0%, from
each progress and final payment until a particular percentage
of the total contract sum is reached. Such sum of money
withheld is referred to as retention money. This amount is
included in contract assets until the end of the retention
period as the Group’s entitlement to this final payment is
conditional on the Group’s work satisfactorily passing
inspection.

When the Group receives a deposit before construction
services is rendered, this will give rise to contract liabilities at
the beginning of a contract, until the revenue recognised on
the relevant contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.

Movement in contract liabilities:

19.

BRNEERSHNEE (B

TEANEESEMAIMNREFDAT

A

AEENGNEERAKBRNREAHDERT
BRAFEFPHAEBENITRKWRRENEN -EHH
BARBEGRER  aRNEEEREEZ R
B AAKEEREEFHENSEATPRA
TREEHEE -AHNAREREFPASHETLRE
HEE R SRR R #F 0 3R (—ARK910.0%) -
HEEEINBENOSENRT A DRI -
BRENFERASRES AAREESHER
R B RE R B A 765 B A2 (B i @ s0RI 18 77 7]
FE  BUILEHFARNEE  EERBHER
ALk e

A SR E R R R E RIS AT REZ S - B
BRAERAHORBERKESL  EEMEHA
HFMERN R BERE BRI -

2024 2023
—E-WEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T T
Balance as at 1 April A — BB AR 492 4,072
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of FE AR EN T AA L
recognising revenue during the year that BEMNREEEEL
was included in the contract liabilities at B ERD
the beginning of the year (492) (4,072)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of BEEESERFIBER
billing in advance of construction activites & %) & (&1 hn - 492
Balance as at 31 March R=ZA=+—H8#&&% - 492
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
R —T-mF=F=+—HIFEF

19. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 19. EHEEREHNEE(A)
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
The amount of billings in advance of performance received BB B ERRAESNEBERANBLTERK
expected to be recognised as income for contract liabilities is FERBESEOT -
as follows:

Within one year —F R - 492

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. ES5 R HMEWRE

Trade receivables (Notes (i), (i) and (iii)) B 5 REWGRIA (BEEG) ~ (i) K (i) 37,011 17,653
Deposits and other receivables B K&E MK EIE 905 988
Prepayments TR RUIE 3,336 448
41,252 19,089
Less: Non-current portion included in W EFATER FIER SERNEIE
prepayments (Note (v)) (HEEW) (2,754) -
38,498 19,089
Notes B 5
0] As at 1 April 2022, the Group’s trade receivables from contracts 0] RZE-_—_FWNA—A AEBERATFAHNE
with customers amounted to approximately HK$25,690,000. 5 FEWFRIEH) /% 25,690,000 8 7T
(i)  The credit period granted to customers on final and progress i) BFREFEERBERIBEEFOEABE—BNT
bilings is generally between 14 and 60 days from the invoice date. FEHHARMN14E60H °
(i) The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of allowances) at the (i) RAE|REHR BHEUGRIE (NGREE) ZEEA
end of each reporting period based on the invoice date is as HERE DT -
follows:

Within 30 days 308A 36,626 14,625
31-60 days 31Z60A 385 2,550
61-90 days 612 90H - 195
Over 90 days BiEo0 A - 283

37,011 17,653
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

172

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

()

(Continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of allowances) at the
end of each reporting period that are not individually nor collectively
considered to be impaired is as follows:

20. EZ R HEMEKRIE (&)

B s - (48)
iy (&)

RERERRERBAEER L AR BENE HE
YR (R 8) BV BRER AT a0 T

2024 2023

—EWE —ZE=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FAT

Not past due K180 HA 36,756 14,972
Less than 1 month past due BE R 11E A 40 2,202
1 to 3 months past due wEI1 =3 A 215 479
Over 3 months past due BEISE A - -
255 2,681

37,011 17,653

Trade receivables that were not past due primarily relate to the
Group’s main customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

Trade receivables that were past due relate to a number of
independent customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, management believe that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as
there have not been a significant change in credit quality and the
balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances.

It represented the prepayment for renovation of investment
property as at 31 March 2024.
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HE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFFZF

21. PROPERTY UNDER DEVELOPMENT

21, BEFPYE

2024 2023
—EEF —E=F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FHET

At beginning of year iNCE) 10,943 10,250
Additions NE 13 -
Exchange realignment ME 5, 58 2 - 693
At end of year NG 10,956 10,943

As at 31 March 2024, leasehold interests in land included in

RZZ-WNF=A=1+—H BREZERDYE

properties under development amounted to approximately A E R4 410,956,000 T (ZFE ==

HK$10,956,000 (2023: HK$10,943,000) is not expected to % :10,943,000/7T) - FBERFEB MR EHARE T =
be completed and available for sale after twelve months from BABAERT i A HEE o

the end of the reporting period.
22. PLEDGED DEPOSITS 22, CHEHFER

2024 2023

—ENEF —T_=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHER T

Pledged deposits with a bank RIBITHEERFR 9,018 3,897

Pledged deposits with an insurer PN /N LT i €2 /N 4,389 2,589

13,407 6,486

Pledged deposits are placed with a bank and an insurer as EEBFERERRRITRRR AR - ERZIRIT

securities for the performance bonds issued by the bank and
insurer to certain customers on their projects. The pledged
deposits will be released when the bank or insurer are
satisfied that no claims will arise from the projects under the
performance bonds.

)SH%ﬁ/AT?dE S THEPHIAB RMEBELOEOR
EER - BEWTFRERABRITHRR QA
1:. MEAIRE THIEB T EELERER TIARR -
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

174

23. ES R HEMEN KA

2024 2023
—E-mF ZEZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TExT FBT
Trade payables (Note (i) B 5 I 7 IE (5L () 18,675 6,658
Accruals for costs of contract work ABHTEKAETERA 128,969 44,564
Retention payables (Note (ii)) JE A< R B8 SR IE (B EE (i) 22,138 19,552
Other payables and accruals (Note (iii)) H b A FR0E M e ET B A (P 7 (i) 4,126 5,367
173,908 76,141
Notes: B 5

0] The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on invoice date, at () RERSHAR  EHRNRERZZEHNOREK D

the end of each reporting period is as follows: T
2024 2023
—E-WmF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
0-30 days 0Z30H 18,311 6,314
31-60 days 312 60H 20 20
61-90 days 61E90H - -
Over 90 days @m0 H 344 324
18,675 6,658

(i)

The credit period granted by suppliers is generally between 14 and
60 days from the invoice date and subcontractors is generally
within 14 days after receipt of payment from customers.

As at 31 March 2024, retention payables of approximately
HK$4,168,000 (2023: HK$907,000) were expected to be settled
beyond twelve months after the end of the reporting period.

Included in other payables as at 31 March 2024 were interest
payables on bank borrowings of approximately HK$46,000
(2023:HK$827,000), refundable rental deposits of approximately
HK$224,000 (2023:HK$227,000) and rental income received in
advances of HK$NIil (2023: HK$1,268,000).
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s

24. BANK BORROWINGS 24. RITEE

Secured and guaranteed bank borrowings A 1 K& A IERBITER

Current portion mENE D 23,520 19,333

Non-current portion e ENE 54,477 61,516

77,997 80,849

The repayment schedules of the bank borrowings based on BRIFERBEAEIRITE FOERDTIER - R
the agreed terms of repayment granted by banks as set out TERHEENHAREOT :

in the loan agreements are as follows:

Repayable within one year R—ERNEERE 7,392 1,479
Repayable in the second year REZFEE 56,268 3,936
Repayable in the third to fifth year, inclusive RE=FZEFERF
(BHEEEME)EE 5,780 64,942
Repayable beyond five years RAFEER 8,557 10,492
77,997 80,849
At the end of the reporting period, total bank borrowings are RMEER - RITERBEIZ T NEE (M
repayable as follows (Note (i)): )

Repayable within one year or on demand ~ MR —F AL EKEE 23,520 19,333

Repayable in the second year REZFEE 54,477 2,188
Repayable in the third to fifth year, inclusive MNE=FZERHF

(BIEEEMST)EE - 59,328

77,997 80,849
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For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE—F—

—mE=H=1—HIFE

24. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

176

24- ﬁE 'fﬁ/TA (ng)

The bank borrowings are denominated in the following RITERIDIE NS EEEHE -
currencies:

2024 2023
e 113 —ZEZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
HK$ — guaranteed (Note (i), (iii)) BT — R (R -~ i) 21,356 18,000
Euro — secured (Note (iv)) BT — BRI (M sEay) 56,641 62,849
77,997 80,849
[0) Current liabilities include bank borrowings of approximately i) mEBBERERTEN —FAEERNL 16,128,000

(i

(i)

HK$16,128,000 (2023: HK$17,854,000) that are not scheduled to
repay within one year. They are classified as current liabilities as
the related loan agreements contain a clause that provides the
lenders with an unconditional right to demand repayment at any
time at their own discretion. None of the portion of these bank
borrowings due for repayment after one year which contain a
repayment on demand clause and that is classified as a current
liability is expected to be settled within one year. These bank
borrowings are grouped under “Repayable within one year or on
demand ” in the analysis above.

The bank borrowings of approximately HK$17,856,000 (2023:
HK$18,000,000) are being guaranteed by a director and HKMC
Insurance Limited under the Small and Medium-sized Enterprise
Financing Guarantee Scheme, interest bearing at the Hong Kong
Prime Rate-2.5% per annum and are payable up to 2033.
Moreover, during the year, the floating rate is 3.375% to 3.625%
(2023: 3.375%) per annum.

The bank has overriding right of repayment on demand for bank
borrowings irrespective of whether the Group has met the
scheduled repayment obligation. Therefore, the bank borrowings
are classified as current liabilities.

The bank borrowing of HK$3,500,000 (2023: HK$NIil) is secured
by a security listed in Hong Kong (Note 17), interest bearing at the
Hong Kong Prime Rate-1% per annum and is payable in May
2024. During the year, the floating rate is 5.125% (2023: Nil) per
annum. The bank borrowing is fully repaid in May 2024.

The bank borrowing is secured by the investment property (Note
18) of the Group and are repayable up to 2025. The bank
borrowing does not contain a repayment on demand clause.

The bank borrowing of approximately HK$54,778,000 (equivalent
to EUR6,485,625) (2023: HK$56,324,000 (equivalent to
EUR6,598,125)) as at 31 March 2024 is carried at fixed interest
rate of 5.875% (2023: 5.875%).

The remaining balance of bank borrowing is carried at floating
interest rate at EURIBOR 3 months plus 2.75% per annum. During
the year, the bank borrowing is interest bearing at floating rates
ranged from 5.765% to 6.722% (2023: 2.75% to 5.788%) per
annum.
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(i)

(i)

()

BT (ZT =4 17,854,000 7T) RITHER ° %
EWHEATRBEAE BAAEBERBEMIIEX
HMEER T A EGERANZEESRKEREER - —
FRIBEENZSRTER (WiREREEEK
BWoEAasRHaE) TMBLBEHEIER —FR
BE R EMANP  ZERITETREREAIR—
FRNFIRBER(EE] -

RITIE FH#17,856,000 8 L (Z T = =4 :
180000007&71)33 LEEREAEBZRBREBR
ARIRER PR EBEERTBIREER XS
BREEFR(NEFE25%)E  WEEEE -
T==F o lphh FRFEFIRBFEFEL3.375% 2
3.625% (ZZT = =4 : 3.375%) °

THASEETEEBITEEEREME  RITHEE
FEERITERFBROERN - Bt RITERE D
*E\ﬁ/llbibgfﬁ °

$R1T{E 303,500,000 T (ZE=Z=F : T&L) @
BB EMES (WFE17) FEE - REBSREEF R
(EDE%\J%%)%E CWERZ-ZZE-ZMFERAEE -
CRERIRBEFRE126% (ZE-Z4F ) o
iﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁm, T_NERAREBEE -

SRATIE BOA R BB & 3¢ (MY EE18) fEIEHR -
AMBE-FT-n%  ROBRTREREREE
I -

R-B-mME=A=+-8B ROTERH

54778000%71(*@“‘#6485625@75)(_7::
£ : 56,324,000 7T (18 & 746,598,125 7T) ) &
5.875% (—ZF =4 : 5.875%) B E A L5+ 8 -

BITHE RN T A IR A A BBUTIRITRIZERE
FIEINFFNER275% K F B F REHE - FA - /1T
BRILFEEFERE5765% E6.722% (Z T =4 :
2.75% %= 5.788%) 5t B ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HBE-ZFE-_MFE=FA=1—HIFFE

25. LEASES LIABILITIES

The Group has lease contracts for office premises. Leases of
office premises generally have lease terms for two years and
lease payments are fixed over the lease terms. The lease
contracts are restricted to use the premises as office and for
no other purpose.

25. HESE

AEERERAENENEERLN - MAEWHE
HENHER-—RAME MEEMAZEEN
RBEE TEEA%’JEBEH/\H%E%%FE%f’E#ﬁ#’“*'
THEAREMA R

As at 1 April 2022 R-ZZTEZZFMA—H 4,550
Interest expenses AMERX 203
Lease payments MERK (2,994)
As at 31 March 2023 WZEZ=F=A=+—~H 1,759
Additions nE 5,008
Interest expenses FEFMX 147
Lease payments MERK (2,575)
As at 31 March 2024 WZZE-_MFE=A=+—~H 4,339

The present value of future lease payments of the Group’s
leases are analysed as:

AEEHENRRBESHORESFTOT -

Classified under: DER
Current portion MENE D 2,580 1,759
Non-current portion ERENE 1,759 -
4,339 1,759
1Bl Group Holdings Limited 177
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An a3 R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—F_F=A=+—HIFE

25. LEASES LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 25. HERE (&)

Future lease payments are due as follow: REKBENRZHNEAET -

Within one year —F LR 2,801 221 2,580
After one year but within two years —&F A F{ERRER 1,793 34 1,759
4,504 255 4,339

Within one year —FLAA 1,789 30 1,759

Short term lease expenses EHAEMX 230 258
Total cash outflows for leases HERS R LA 2,805 3,252
Aggregate undiscounted commitments for %8 BiFA & ok B IR A A 40 48

short-term leases 133 35

178 Bl Group Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFFZF

25. LEASES LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
Operating lease — the Group as lessor

The Group leases its investment property (Note 18) in Ireland
under various operating lease arrangements which will be
expired between 2024 to 2031 and some of operating lease
arrangements have a break option in 2026.

At the end of the reporting period, the undiscounted lease
payments receivable by the Group in future periods under
non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as

25. HE&SE (&)

REHE - AKEAERHEA

AEBERBRBALEHELHFHEENZBAMN
%xé%%(ﬂﬁ&w) ZEREHELTHBRN

THFECE=—FIH MoKLEBRERH
EA_E NERIE -

RERER  REBRARRARBEELESET
7Y AT B A8 & 1E B e W B R B IR A & o kan
T

follows:
2024 2023
—E-mF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHER T
Within one year R—FR 6,146 6,193
After one year but within two years —FREMEA 6,067 6,132
After two years but within three years MFEBE=ZFA 2,336 6,132
After three years but within four years —FBENFERN - 2,361
14,549 20,818

26. SHARE CAPITAL

The share capital as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 in the
consolidated statement of financial position represented the
issued share capital of the Company and as follows:

&N

%J?/D\Hﬁﬁ#ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂ'ﬁ\_?_ﬂiﬁ_?__i
ZAZ+—HOBRAEARRFNEHTERA
CLUNNE

Number of ordinary shares Share capital
ERREA [
2024 2023 2024 2023
—E-MEF —T=F —E-ME —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Ordinary shares of BREEC.O BITH
HK$0.01 each Rl
Authorised: EIE 10,000,000,000 10,000,000,000 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRAE 800,000,000 800,000,000 8,000 8,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—T_MFE=FA=+—HIFFEF

26.

180

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Note:

On 20 September 2016, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “Share Option Scheme”). The Board of the Company may, at its
discretion, invite any eligible persons who have made contributions to the
Group to take up share options. The terms of the Share Option Scheme
are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed
10% of all the shares in issue as at the date of the Listing (i.e. a total of
80,000,000 shares).

Options granted shall be taken up upon payment of HK$1 as
consideration for the grant of option. Options may be exercised at any
time not exceeding a period of 10 years from the date which the share
option is deemed to be granted and accepted. The subscription price is
determined by the board of directors of the Company, and shall not be
less than whichever is the highest of (i) the official closing price of the
Company’s shares as stated in daily quotations sheet of the Stock
Exchange on the offer date; (i) the average of the closing price of the
shares as stated in daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the
nominal value of a share.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, no share options had been granted since
the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and there were no outstanding
share options.

IBI Group Holdings Limited
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26. K& (&)

Wi

RZZ—REFNAZ+H  ARFRNBERAE S (THER
BETE]) - ARREZG A RNIBSRBEMEEAEEEH
BRIMA BB AL RBEARE - BB ENEGERTA L
MARBEN7TZNRE

BRRERTEIE T A e N BRERT SRR EE LR -
AFTERER LT RPN BITRMHAE10% (B4 £
80,000,000 %) °

EXLBREARMEAREBREREN1EITNA
FARE - BREA R TEEERA/RE REMNE BB
THEHEBEETE RBEAARARESEEE  BTE
DPRATEEESE ()RR ABHNES B BN
BHBEBRAREALTE: (\BROXNEEFEBHND
B % BN B R PTE B MERARTIGRTE R Gi)BH
[ERE

ROTZ-MER-_Z-=F=A=+—8  HEERERL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFFZF

27. RESERVES

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances
of each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

27. #E

Details of the changes in the Company’s individual
components of reserves between the beginning and the end

of the year are set out below:

AEBEFRAERIRR O BERERRERN
HRFN G ARG ZER - AR rERREEEHEE
RENEFRNEHFITRHINWT

Share Retained
premium profits Total
KEE REEF st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHETT FHET
(Note (i)
(B EE ()
At 1 April 2022 RZE-__FMA—H 73,613 69,267 142,880
Profit and total comprehensive income FARFREEBALRE
for the year - 16,153 16,153
Dividend declared and paid (Note 13) EEIR KRS (HFE13) - (8,000) (8,000)
At 31 March 2023 N_E-_=ZF#=A=+—H 73,613 77,420 151,033
Profit and total comprehensive income FARFREEBALRE
for the year - 19,291 19,291
At 31 March 2024 RZEZWMF=A=+—H 73,613 96,711 170,324
Note: MIeE -
(i) Share premium (i) BHEE

Share premium represents the excess of the proceeds received
over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued.

K&

Bt ¥4 (B 46 P UCER IR B R A R B BT ) T (B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE_—_ T _pF=HA=1+—HIFE

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 28. XA A M BEAMR T
THE COMPANY
2024 2023
—E-F —EZ=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FET T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary RWBRRRKE 1 1
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables E 4th jE 5B 175 253
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU K B A R FIAE 165,370 141,429
Cash and cash equivalents BeMRSEEY 13,458 18,033
Total current assets mEEERE 179,003 159,715
Current liabilities RBEE
Other payables and accruals H b FIERERE A 680 633
Total current liabilities mENBEETE 680 6383
Net current assets REBEEZFE 178,323 159,032
NET ASSETS EEZFE 178,324 159,033
Capital and reserves BAXARFEE
Share capital % A 26 8,000 8,000
Reserves ] 27 170,324 151,033
TOTAL EQUITY HEEER 178,324 159,033
On behalf of directors REEE

Neil David HOWARD

Director
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Steven Paul SMITHERS

Director
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE MR EWAR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFFZF

29.

30.

BANKING FACILITIES

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group’s bank facilities
(including bank borrowings and performance bonds) were in
the total of HK$169.6 million and HK$176.5 million

respectively.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the bank facilities were
guaranteed and secured by the following:

(@  investment property (Note 18);

(b)  a personal guarantee by a director;

(c) guarantee as provided by the HKMC Insurance Limited;
(d) acharge on securities listed in Hong Kong (Note 17);

(e) afixed and floating charge on the trade receivables of a
group company;

(M) guarantees provided by group companies;

(@9 pledged bank deposits; and

(h)  corporate guarantees issued by the Company.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had unutilised

banking facilities of HK$61.5 million and HK$82.1 million
respectively.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(@) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of key management personnel, who
are the directors of the Company, for the years ended

29, RITELE
R-ZE-MER-_E-_=F=A=+—H K&

BMRTHE (BRETEREBELHRE) B8
PDRAE169.6 AEBILK17T65BBET -

RZZT_NFR-ZFT_=F=A=+—H0" i
BARTTRLE LA T 515 T8 VK 3

@ ®EWE(ME18)

b)) —HBEFNMEALR

© MBEBREREARARRMNOER

(o BBELTEHFOEZME17):

e ~—HEBAREZFERRIENEENTE
HEE

EEQFIREMER
(@ EBEMRRBRITEI K
(h ARRIHEMDTELER-
R-E-NMER-_E-_=F=A=+—H  &&E
BrARSHRITHRED A A61.58 88T K821
BEBTe

30. BB AR5

(a) TEEEASLHM

HE-_ZT-_WNER-_ZE-_=F#=/F=+—
BIEFE xZERAE (WARAES)

31 March 2024 and 2023 were as follows: BEMIT -
2024 2023
—E-WE ZEZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FET

Compensation of key management ~ T EEB A 8%

personnel 7,524 6,223
IBI Group Holdings Limited 183
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—T_MFE=FA=+—HIFFEF

31. NOTES SUPPORTING CONSOLIDATED 3. RERERMERZHTME
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Recondiliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: BMEFTFELECBEHRER
Interest Bank Lease
Dividend payables borrowings liabilities
payables (Note 23) (Note 24) (Note 25) Total
A FI 2 BITER HEEE
EfKRE (FEE23) (FfizE24) (Fff=t25) @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT FET THT THL
At 1 April 2022 R-E--_FNA—H - - - 4,550 4,550
Changes from cash flows: Renes:
Dividend paid ERRE (8,000) - - - (8,000)
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITHE ?Kﬁﬁ SR - - 80,510 - 80,510
Repayment of bank borrowings BERTER - - (510) - (510)
Interests paid on bank borrowings ~ R{TERERF S - (1,249) - - (1,249
Repayment of principal element of ~ EEBREN TN AL B
lease payments - - - 2,791) 2,791)
Payment of interest element of THRENTHMMNEHS
lease payments - - - (203) (203)
Total changes from financing BRERSRMETESR
cash flows (8,000) (1,249) 80,000 (2,994) 67,757
Other changes: A2 -
Dividend recognised as distrioution A D TRAIL S 8,000 - - - 8,000
Interest expenses on bank borrowings #1718 Z Il 8B 5 - 2,042 - - 2,042
Interest expenses on lease liabiites  HE & EF B % - - - 203 203
Exchange realignment BN R - 34 849 - 883
Total other changes Hingees 8,000 2,076 849 203 11,128
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=%#=ZA=+—H - 827 80,849 1,759 83,435
Changes from cash flows: Ren#s:
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITERBHRE - - 20,000 - 20,000
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITER - - (22,217) - (22,217)
Interests paid on bank borrowings ~ SR{T{E R FIE - (4,997) - - (4,997)
Repayment of principal element of ~ EBREN AL LD
lease payments - - - (2,428) (2,428)
Payment of interest element of IHEERNFTHFSEHD
lease payments - - - (147) (147)
Total changes from financing BERSRMEEEHE
cash flows - (4,997) (2,217) (2,575) (9,789)
Other changes: H&g:
Additions of lease liabilities EmMEEaE - - - 5,008 5,008
HMMﬁamm%mmmKMWMmsﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂgﬁﬁ - 4,221 - - 4,221
Interest expenses on lease liabilties A E & EF S % - - - 147 147
Exchange realignment ERAE - (5) (635) - (640)
Total other changes Hn2ees - 4,216 (635) 5,155 8,736
At 31 March 2024 RZE-_NE=A=+—H - 46 77,997 4,339 82,382
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE MR EWAR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFFZF
32. GUARANTEES 32. ER
The Group provided guarantees in respect of the REBGR—BRTR —HREARAETEES
performance bonds issued by a bank and an insurer in favour A BEPENNEAORBIREER - ZFERE
of the customers of certain construction contracts. Details of EWMERRVFBOT -
these guarantees as of the end of reporting periods were as
follows:
2024 2023
—E-_MEF —F-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Aggregate value of the performance bonds  [A] & F 3 H B B £V 1R B BB
issued in favour of customers 41,631 19,534
The directors are of the opinion that it is not probable that the EE2RA RITTURERE LA T epgEREE
bank or insurer will claim against the Group for losses under MASREZRE  REARAS l TK—I@EH/XJ@TT
the guarantees as it is unlikely that the Group will be unable HEEHMNBELNRTE - BEBAREAREEH
to fulfil the performance requirements of the relevant ETEEWT/TM”HEQW e TRARBIUE T&
contracts. The performance bonds are secured by the RNAMDEERERT - Bt RZTZWOF
pledged deposits of the Group and certain performance &_ E_=F=A=1+—H HEXRNEBNE
bonds are also secured by corporate guarantees of certain RETEEEREAEE -
group companies. Accordingly, no provision for the Group’s
obligations under the guarantees has been made as at 31
March 2024 and 2023.
33. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 33. EREKIE
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have any RIZZBZNMERZZFZ=F=A=+—0 &%
capital commitments. 2] A 488 (o] B AN o
34. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 34. EXRERE

The Group’s objective of managing capital is to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce cost of capital. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

The Group monitors capital using gearing ratio, which is total
debts to equity. Total debts include bank borrowings and
lease liabilities. Equity represents total equity of the Group.

AEBEXRERBRDREASENFELZE
B PATRBER B (B 3R N 4 E At ) 25 4R B 2 R A
et WRBHREELNGERE UHIESRA -
AEBENEBME F—FRFIE -

AEBERAEERGEL R (FRAEHERAED)
ﬁb% BER - BEGEERRITERAREERE - #
SEARENEDRERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—T_MFE=FA=+—HIFFEF

34. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 34. EXxEHE (&)
The directors of the Company actively and regularly review RAREEEHREHRBRT REERRNEENEARE
and manage the Group’s capital structure, taking into - WEEREENRRERT KARREESN
consideration the future capital requirements of the Group, to AR B [B1 3R o N5 B B 1R & AN 2R AR IR A4S B AR,
ensure optimal shareholders’ returns. The Group manages WEBRAEREENRRSEEEREBELR
the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of Bo B R ENGERE  ASELFARIK
changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics NTRENKRESE MRFREER  BITH
of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the &0 sk H & & ERIE °
capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debts.
The gearing ratios as at the end of reporting period were as RERRNEEBBLENT -
follows:
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET
Bank borrowings HRITEN 77,997 80,849
Lease liabilities HEalE 4,339 1,759
Total debts BB 82,336 82,608
Total equity - Fant ot 162,842 162,764
Gearing ratio EEABLE 51% 51%
35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. BB ERE
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments EAREENAEERBET  AEEREESHT
in the normal course of the Group’s business are credit risk, BEMEZZRBRAEERR FIERERK - RAER
interest rate risk, equity price risk, liquidity risk and currency Rk REBESREREEERERE RNEBEEE
risk. The Group’s overall risk management focuses on the R E R HEHABRAN ERTS - WS KEE
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise PRESAEEMBERBERNELTTNZE - &
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial B ERRTEERERBEES S AENEEEETT -
performance. Risk management is carried out by the key REBYEEMBERBTIBBE - AT - EFEH
management under the policies approved by the board of S DAk B K 5 R R I 1 T SR B DA B IR B TS R
directors. The Group does not have written risk management % o
policies. However, the directors meet regularly to identify and
evaluate risks and to formulate strategies to manage financial
risks.
Generally, the Group introduces conservative strategies on its —RME - A E R HE R T ERER TR o
risk management. The Group has not used any derivatives AEEWEGFERETMAOITAETEREM T BVEL
and other instruments for hedging purposes nor does it hold A MEBBAETITESMITIAEISAS -
or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE MR EWAR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE—F—

WE=H=—+—HIFFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primary attributable to bank
balances, pledged deposits and trade and other
receivables. The Group’s bank balances and pledged
deposits are placed with reputable banks and financial
institutions. Given high credit standing of the relevant
banks, the directors do not expect any credit risk
exposure for the Group’s bank balances and pledged
deposits.

For trade and other receivables. The amounts included
in trade and other receivables in the consolidated
statements of financial position are net of provisions for
doubtful receivables if any. The quantitative disclosures
in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising
from trade and other receivables are set out in Note 20.

In respect of trade and other receivables and contract
assets, it is the Group’s policy to deal only with
creditworthy counterparties. In order to minimise credit
risk, management has formulated a credit policy and
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from the counterparties.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each debtor. As at
31 March 2024, the Group has certain concentration of
credit risk as 35% and 93% (20283: 34% and 87%) of
the Group’s trade receivables were due from the
Group’s largest trade debtors and the five largest trade
debtors respectively.

mEEkRER (&)

(a)

EHRAR
AEEREEEREEHERRTES

E%ﬁﬁ%‘m%&%ﬁ%&ﬁ@ﬁﬂ&%ﬁﬁ N
SENRTERIERTFERIFRNE
BRNV|ITRSREE - AR HEBERTT
EEMRRR L é%i‘ﬁiﬁ;ﬁﬂi%@mfﬁﬂ
HLRCEREFER T EAZEMEER

WEZREMEBKAEMS @ FE BN
ARFNE S REMERKAD MR RE
FEM R IR (E) - ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬂﬁ
HREMERRBRELEERROE
RN M FE20

HESHNEMEBEVRBUAREHEEMNS -
TEBNBRAEREERINIZSH#E
IR -RBEERRBAERE EEE
EHE—EFERXTZABEKBEET
EEEE FEHEREMERRER U
WRGERERDGHEE AKERBREIL
BRI SIS ETR -

AEBEBMEYNEER ‘Igﬁi%%i&
AREREEAEZE - R ZME=A
_+ =] ZK%@TE%FET B & R
ERc THRASEEMNE HEWKIED
35% % 93% (Z T = =4 : 34% K 87%) 7
FIREAEBENGZAESEHARAKNE
A e

IBI Group Holdings Limited 187
2023/2024 FF &
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)
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(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance based
on past due status is not further distinguished between
the Group’s different customer bases.

ECLs rates are based on actual loss experience over
the past 3 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the
year over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.
Time value of money is considered in arriving at the
amount of ECLs, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the customers and economic environment.
No impairment for trade receivables and contract
assets is provided as the loss allowance measured
under the ECLs model is insignificant.

The deposits and other receivables are measured at
amortised costs and are considered to have low credit
risk because they are in good credit quality and no
historical default noted. They are also subject to the
ECLs model and the loss allowances limited to 12
months ECLs. After applying the expected credit loss
model, the Group concluded that impact of ECLs for
these financial instruments are insignificant.

IBI Group Holdings Limited
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk means the risk on the fluctuation of fair
value on future cash flows of financial instruments
which arise from changes in interest rates. Floating
interest rate instruments will result in the Group facing
the cash flow interest rate risk, and fixed interest rate
instruments will result in the Group facing the fair value
interest rate risk.

The Group has not used any financial instruments to
hedge potential fluctuations in interest rates.

Other than pledged bank deposits (Note 22), cash and
cash equivalents and bank borrowings (Note 24), the
Group does not have any other significant interest-
bearing financial assets and liabilities. Any change in the
interest rate on bank balances promulgated by banks
from time to time is not considered to have significant
impact of the Group.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the
floating rate and fixed rate bank borrowings. Bank
borrowings expose the Group to both cash flow interest
rate risk and fair value interest rate risk. The interest
rates and terms of repayment of the Group’s bank
borrowings are disclosed in Note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements. Accordingly, the sensitivity analysis
below only includes analysis on bank borrowings.

If interest rates of borrowings had been 100 basis
points higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s profit after tax for the year ended
31 March 2024 would (decrease)/increase by
approximately HK$192,000 (2023: HK$203,000).

The sensitivity analysis as presented above has been
determined assuming that the change in interest rates
had occurred at each of reporting date and had been
applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for the
above financial instruments in existence at that date.
The 100 basis point higher/lower represents the
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible
change in interest rates over the period until the next
annual reporting date.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

190

(c)

(d)

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
listed securities investments. The management
manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investment with different risk profiles. The Group’s
equity price risk is concentrated on listed securities in
Hong Kong.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to the equity price risk at the
end of each reporting date. If the prices of the listed
securities investments classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss had been 10% (2023:
5%) higher/lower, the profit before income tax expense
for the year would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$666,000 (2023: HK$500,000) as a result of the
changes in fair value of the listed securities.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual for
its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings
with a repayment on demand clause can be exercised
at the bank’s sole discretion. The analysis shows the
cash outflow based on the earliest period in which the
entity can be required to pay, that is if the lenders were
to invoke their unconditional rights to call the loans with
immediate effect. The maturity dates for other financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE T _ME=HA="+—HIFZF

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. B ERER (&)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) REBESRB (&)
Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 year 2 years
Carrying undiscounted 1yearor butlessthan but less than
amount cash flow on demand 2 years 5 years
BHRER 15K BB1EF HBiB2F
REE BRLRELH RERER BhR25 BHR5E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FAET T THAT FAET
At 31 March 2024 R-ZB-ME=ZA=+-H
Trade payables 2 S ERZE 18,675 18,675 18,675 o =
Accruals for costs of BHIRRAENER
contract works 128,969 128,969 128,969 - -
Retention payables R IREB IR 22,138 22,138 17,970 4,168 -
Other payables and accruals L ft fiE {5 5018 % & 51 & 3,729 3,729 3,729 - -
Bank borrowings RITHER 77,997 81,905 26,902 55,003 =
Lease liabilities HERRE 4,339 4,594 2,801 1,793 -
255,847 260,010 199,064 60,964 =
Financial quarantees issued 2% KB 512 1R
Maximum amount guaranteed  FTIERE B &8 - 41,631 41,631 - -
At 31 March 2023 R-E-=5=HA=+-H
Trade payables B S EMNFIA 6,658 6,658 6,658 - -
Accruals for costs of BNTRRAETER
contract works 44,564 44,564 44,564 - -
Retention payables FERRE 20A 19,552 19,552 18,645 907 -
Other payables and accruals .t i {+ 708 % & 5+ & 3,648 3,648 3,648 - -
Bank borrowings RITIER 80,849 89,495 23,799 5,826 59,870
Lease liabilities HEaE 1,759 1,789 1,789 - -
157,030 165,706 99,103 6,733 59,870

Financial guarantees issued B & KBTS £ (R
Maximum amount guaranteed  FTHEIRK) &2 & 5 - 19,534 19,534 - -
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

192

35. M EREE (F)

(CONTINUED)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) REBESRB (&)
The table that follows summarises the maturity analysis TR AR IR E KI5 5 P 5 0 B R
of bank borrowings with a repayment on demand KERZEREENRITERNINBAR DN -
clause based on agreed scheduled repayments set out FHCHEBRERGOFNERFTENFEN
in the loan agreements. The amounts include interest R KA RAEBENMBRRE EFR
payments computed using contractual rates. Taking BIRTT A ARAIREI TR BB HE B SR BNIF 8N o
into account the Group’s financial position, the directors EERAEBRTERESREER HE
do not consider that it is probable that the bank will Frai @ M RES -
exercise its discretion to demand immediate repayment.
The directors believe that such bank borrowings will be
repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements.
Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 year 2 years
Carrying undiscounted 1yearor butlessthan but less than Beyond
amount cashflow  on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
CLER: ) —-ER BB-F RBmE
REE BRENELE FERER  EBOREE  BIREE RENE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THAL BT THT THL T
At 31 March 2024 RZB-ME=F=+-AH
Bank borrowings RITER 17,856 20,926 2,346 2,348 7,040 9,192
At 31 March 2023 R-E-=%=A=1+-AH
Bank borrowings RITER 18,000 21,452 754 2,324 6,974 11,400
(e) Currency risk (e) E¥EB

The Group has minimal transactional currency exposure
to foreign currency risk as most of the financial assets
and liabilities held by the Group’s subsidiaries are
denominated in the respective functional currency of
such subsidiaries.

The Group has not entered into any derivative
instruments to hedge the foreign currency risk
exposures. However, the management monitors the
foreign currency risk exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency risk exposure
should the need arise.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFFZF

36. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 36. ZEHEITHNEREERERHEBHME

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The following table shows the carrying amounts of financial TRITEMEERABRNEKEE :

assets and liabilities:

2024 2023
—E-ME —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHExT T T
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at fair value through B AFEGTABZ L BEE
profit or loss 6,663 9,999
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 15 #4551 B 2 @ & &=
Trade and other receivables B 5 Kk HE At FEYRIE 37,916 18,641
Pledged deposits BEEFFH 13,407 6,486
Cash and cash equivalents BehIReEEY 21,105 58,870
Financial liabilities EaA =N
Financial liabilities at amortised costs g Fiz )o@k o =
Trade and other payables B 5 K E b e FOE 173,510 74,422
Bank borrowings HRITE R 77,997 80,849
The following table provides an analysis of financial TREHNARFEIEZEMTAERAFEER
instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value hierarchy: 2T
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for F—H: HREEXRBERNERMIST ZHRE R

identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level B4
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices); and

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on F=Ak:
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

AR

BRE-—RABERREINEEXLARE
AEE (BNER) HE ANREER)
BEMEBIEE &

REEFBBEZTABEERMSEE (T
AIBEIER) <8R -
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36. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
(CONTINUED)

194

3&3%%%%%@@§E&$ﬂﬁﬁﬁg
]

As at 31 March 2024
R-ZE-_WNE=A=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B B E=& #st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TFHET THET FET FET
Financial assets at fair value RO FETAEBHEN
through profit or loss SREE
— Listed securities — tmFEH 6,663 - - 6,663
6,663 - - 6,663
As at 31 March 2023
R-ZE—_=F=A=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F— ER E=H FEEy
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
AT TFATT FBT FBT
Financial assets at fair value ERAFEAEEHN
through profit or loss SREE
— Listed securities — LWES 9,999 - - 9,999
9,999 - - 9,999

There were no transfers between levels during the year ended
31 March 2024 and 2023.

(a)

(b)

Financial instruments not measured at fair
value

Financial instruments not measured at fair value include
trade and other receivables, pledged deposits, cash
and cash equivalents, trade and other payables,
borrowings and lease liabilities.

Due to their short term nature, the carrying values of
trade and other receivables, pledged deposits, cash
and cash equivalents, trade and other payables, bank
borrowings and lease liabilities approximate to their fair
values.

Financial instruments measured at fair value

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities with
standard terms and conditions and traded on active
liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted
market prices.
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A E_NFE=F=1+—HIFFE

37. SUBSIDIARIES 37. B F

R-ZZE-WMF=A=+—HB AQATEHREAQ
A (E2NHAEERAT) MEBWT

As at 31 March 2024, the particulars of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries, all of which are companies with limited
liability, are as follows:

Place and date of Attributable equity
incorporation and type of  Place of Issued and fully interest held
Name of subsidiary  legal entity operations paid-up capital Directly Indirectly Principal activities
EMALHER A AR B R
WEARER EERERER BEHY BERTRARKRE =84 BE FEXHR
IBI Corporate Holdings ~ BVI BVI US$100 100% - Investment holding
Limited 14 April 2016
Limited liability company
IBl Corporate Holdings ~ 2BERELEHE EBRZHS 100% 7T BREER
Limited “Z-REFNATER
ARAT
IBI Group Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 - 100%  Investment holding
9 May 2011
Limited liability company
IBI Group Limited B 30 10087 REER
—E-—5RANHA
BRAT
Bl Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100%  Provision of renovation
14 April 1997 contracting services for
Limited liability company property projects
IBI Limited B B 1,000,000/ 70 RENDFEAN
—ANEERA+EE B BRB
BRAT
Bl Projects Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 - 100%  Provision of renovation
1 April 2005 contracting services for
Limited liability company property projects
IBI Projects Limited B 0 28T REMEIEE
“ZTRFMA-H BErR e k%
BRAF
|BI Macau Limited Macau Special Administrative Macau Special MOP25,000 - 100%  Provision of renovation
Region Administrative contracting services for
11 April 2005 Region property projects
Limited liability company
IBI Macau Limited BFIBRITTRE BPIRITTERE 25,0002 REDEERN
“ZTRhEMA+—H B AR RS
BRAT
IBI Holdings Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 - 100%  Provision of management
9 May 2011 services within the
Limited liability company Group
IBI Holdings Limited B B 10075 7T REAZEABERRS
—E-—£RANHA
BBRAT

IBI Group Holdings Limited
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37. SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

37. @27 (&)

Place and date of Attributable equity
incorporation and type of  Place of Issued and fully interest held
Name of subsidiary  legal entity operations paid-up capital Directly Indirectly Principal activities
EMAL SR ABAR Lt
) NCEE EEERER e E BERTRAZRE B BE TEXER
IBI Company Storage BVI BVI US$100 - 100%  Investment holding
Limited 14 April 2016
Limited liability company
IBl Company Storage ~ RBRELZHE EBETHE 100% 7T REER
Limited “Z-RENATEA
BARAT
Building Solutions Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 80%  Provision of products and
9 April 2020 services with a focus on
Limited liability company air quality and modern
sustainable building
materials
Building Solutions Limited 2 & ENE 10,0007 ¢ REZINEIEER
ZECEENAAR BRI EERENR
E1 NG MEmRRE
[BI Investment Holdings  Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 - 100%  Strategic investments
Limited 28 July 2020
Limited liability company
IBl Investment Holdings ~ &/& ENE 100787T HERE
Limited —ZZEFLAZ+N\R
BRAA
Bl International Ireland Ireland EUR2,700,000 - 100%  Property investments
Investments Limited 11 January 2022
Limited liability company
Bl International ERE R 2,700,000 B4 7T NERE

Investments Limited

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the

end of the year.

—T--F—-fA+—H
BRAR

38. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 June

2024.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBHE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and equity of HAEEBETREAFM B EENEEANNEE  BELE
the Group for the last five financial years is as follows: w2

Revenue and other W g K Eo i

gains/(losses) Wz, (Es518) 527,246 308,517 405,878 556,702 591,129
Gross profits EF 46,813 36,304 67,952 79,434 51,871
Profit before income tax expense Bk FT{S 4 53 2 A& 7l 2,621 3,859 33,692 55,798 25,294
Profit attributable to the PAN/NSIEZFEDN

owners of the Company FEAG G A T

for the year 350 2,800 27,010 54,390 21,627

Assets BE

Non-current assets ERBEE 126,896 136,839 21,288 66,011 18,065
Current assets mEEE 294,038 185,850 296,411 330,206 381,241
Total assets BEMRE 420,934 322,689 317,699 396,217 399,306
Liabilities aE

Current liabilities mEaE 201,856 98,409 148,269 213,808 261,060
Non-current liabilities EmBalE 56,236 61,516 1,759 1,195 3,112
Total liabilities B(EEE 258,092 159,925 150,028 215,003 264,172
Total equity R 162,842 162,764 167,671 181,214 135,134
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DEFINITIONS
Bx

“2024 AGM”
[T FEERBFAE]

ARA”
[ARA]

“Articles”
[HEE = F24A]

“Audit Committee”

EE3 0

“Board”

[EFg]

“BVI”
[REELHS]

“China” or “PRC”
[

“CG Code”
& srall

“Code Provision(s)”
[<PRIE

“Company” or “our Company”

NG

“Companies Ordinance”
IPNCIEESHN

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[ 2R R

“Covid-19” or “Covid”
[ Covid-19] 3k [ Covid |
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the 2024 annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Friday, 6
September 2024
ARNFERZEZMFANAANB(EHR) BTN S -_MFRFTAEFAE

alteration and addition

B K pnsE

the memorandum and articles of association of our Company as amended from
time to time

RRBH BB ER A S AR (BTREET)

the audit committee of the Company

RRABELEZES

the board of Directors

Exe

the British Virgin Islands
REBRZEE

the People’s Republic of China, excluding, for the purpose of this report, Hong
Kong, Macau and Taiwan
FEARLNE  RAREDHES - TREDS  RMRAE

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules,
as amended from time to time

LR AN ER 14 FECREER TR (B TREHERT)

the code provisions set out in the CG Code
1B <7 AP <F AR X

IBI Group Holdings Limited
IBI Group Holdings Limited

Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) which took
effect from 3 March 2014, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time
RZZE-—MF=A=ZBERNEBEONE62F (R THED) (B TRHEET -
MAHSTEN)

Mr. Neil David Howard and Brilliant Blue Sky Limited, being the controlling
shareholders of our Company, and shall have the meanings in the Listing Rules
7K N A) A9 22 A% B% B8 Neil David Howard 5€ 4 & Brilliant Blue Sky Limited + & #% &
B EHARRERE

the coronavirus outbreak
BRESEE



DEFINITIONS
eSS

“Deed”
[224%]
“Directors”
(%]

“ESG Report”
[ESG# &

“ESG Reporting Guide”
[ESG#R & 465! ]

» o« LT

“Group”, “our Group”, “we”,
or “us”

»

our

[ SR e[ 3

“Hong Kong”
(&8

“Listing Date”
[ £ B H
“Listing Rules”
[ ErR Al

“Macau”
[BFT ]

“Main Board”

[ER]

“Model Code”

[R5 Al

the deed of non-competition undertaking dated 20 September 2016 entered into
by the Controlling Shareholders in favour of the Company

ERBRRARNR B RZH A LABR S —RNREALAZTBOTHEF &
wRIE

the director(s) of our Company

RRABESF

the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company
AARMESE - LB REARE

the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as contained in
Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules, as amended from time to time
FHRBIM SR 27 FRECIR IR - (8 RERIRE S (B TRERT)

our Company and its subsidiaries (or our Company and any one or more of its
subsidiaries, as the content may require) or, where the context so requires, in
respect of the period before our Company became the holding company of its
present subsidiaries, the present subsidiaries of our Company and the
businesses carried on by such subsidiaries or (as the case may be) their
respective predecessors

AR REMBAR (AR REEM—KKEZRKMBELRR  BIAEH
EME) - KANEF - RAR G AERAEWNE R BIRER AR ZATERE -
BEARRINEREWE AR RZENB AR ENEHL (RFERME)
KESBHAF A

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
BB RITTH R

14 October 2016, the date on which dealings in the Shares on the Main Board
first commence

“E-RETATHA RO ERFEEETREENHH

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board, as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

ERCEZF ETARD (EAERHER] ~ R s A B 75 & 20

the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC
 BDR PIHr RI 1T R &

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operating in parallel with GEM of the
Stock Exchange

HEBERXPTEENERR S (T RIEHETS) - BIUNB R GEMI 8 2
WrTEME

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, as amended from time to time
LR BRI 8 COPTEC LM BT AEFETESF X ZHMIEESPAD (KT RS
D)
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DEFINITIONS
Bx

“Nomination Committee”

[fRBZBg]

“Prospectus”

[BRERE]

“Remuneration Committee”
[#MEEE]

“Senior Management”

SREEE]

“SFC”

[ed |

Az m 8/

“SFO”
[7& 7 M g 5]

“Share Option Scheme”
[ B8 A =t 2

“Share(s)”
[ ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 22 P

“Takeovers Code”

[ s fE <7 1

“HK$”, “HKD”, “Hong Kong dollar(s)”
or “cent(s)”

[T ) gk [ A1)
“Euro” or “EUR”
[T ]

“MOP”
R

“US$” or “USD” or “US dollars”
=V

H%ll
[%)]
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7o hltE

the nomination committee of the Company

ARBIREZEZEE

the prospectus of the Company dated 29 September 2016
ARARIBMA_ZE-—RFAAZTHLBENBRKRER

the remuneration committee of the Company

ARBFMEES

the senior management of the Company
KRGS RERE

the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong

EEESFMHRERERZB S

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
as amended and supplemented from time to time

FREPIEST1 EC(EF R BB R ETEHER Rt)

the share option scheme adopted by our Company on 20 September 2016
ARNRRZZE—ARNFNAZ+ BERANERET S

ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of our Company

ARRRIAHFEEO0.01 B TTH & AR

the holder(s) of the Shares
SGESZEDN

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEEBMERHMERRAA]

the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs issued by the SFC,
as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEGHEMOCRAWE a0t RikmEETRD (B IARFER] - s AR
i 75 AAE 280

Hong Kong dollar(s) and cent(s), respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BEBEAEEE BT REN

Euro, the lawful currency of the European Union
BB EE BT

Macau pataca, the lawful currency of Macau
BPNEE BB RFE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

XBEDREE®ET

per cent

B
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